

## **RULE 1. THE APPROACH**

**(a) A person intending to make an offer shall disclose that intention to the offeree board or its advisers before making any announcement concerning the offer. Any such adviser to whom such an intention is disclosed shall notify the offeree board immediately.**

**(b) If an intention to make an offer, or an approach with a view to an offer being made, is disclosed or made to the offeree board or its advisers, whether by the offeror or by another person on its behalf, the person who makes such disclosure or approach shall at the outset disclose to the offeree board or (as the case may be) its advisers the identity of the offeror and, if applicable, of the persons having control of the offeror.**

**RULE 2. CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION; THE TIMING  
AND CONTENTS OF ANNOUNCEMENTS**

**2.1 CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION**

(a) Prior to an announcement under Rule 2 concerning an offer, the offeror, the offeree, the respective persons acting in concert with them and their respective advisers shall maintain strict confidentiality in respect of the offer or contemplated offer.

(b) Every person who is privy to confidential information, and particularly price-sensitive information, concerning an offer or contemplated offer shall treat that information as confidential and may pass it to another person only if it is necessary in connection with the offer or contemplated offer to do so, if such disclosure is not in breach of any applicable law and if that person accepts the need for confidentiality under Rule 2.1. All such persons shall conduct themselves so as to minimise the possibility of an accidental leak of information.

**2.2 WHEN AN ANNOUNCEMENT IS REQUIRED**

An appropriate announcement concerning an offer or a possible offer shall be made if the Panel so directs, and specifically, unless the Panel consents otherwise:

(a) immediately after a firm intention to make an offer ~~(the making of which is not, or has ceased to be, subject to any pre-condition other than a pre-condition relating to the receipt of irrevocable commitments)~~ has been notified to the offeree board, irrespective of the attitude of that board to the offer;

(b) immediately after a transaction which gives rise, or which subject only to the issue in the State of a governmental or regulatory authorisation, consent, approval or clearance will give rise, to an obligation to make an offer under Rule 9 or Rule 37. The announcement that such an obligation has been, or subject only as above-mentioned will be, incurred shall not be delayed while full information is being obtained; additional information which is not included in such announcement shall be the subject of a later supplementary announcement. Immediately after the issue of any such governmental or regulatory authorisation, consent, approval or clearance, an announcement of that fact shall be made;

(c) when, following an approach by an offeror to the offeree, the offeree is the subject of rumour and speculation or there is an anomalous movement in its share price;

(d) when, before an approach has been made by an offeror to the offeree, the offeree is the subject of rumour and speculation or there is an anomalous movement in its share price, and in either case, there are reasonable grounds for concluding that the cause of the rumour, speculation or price movement is the offeror's own actions or intentions;

(e) when negotiations or discussions concerning a possible offer are about to be extended to include more than a very restricted number of people. An offeror which proposes to approach a wider group of people (including, inter alia, where a group is being organised to make or to finance an offer or where irrevocable commitments are to be sought) shall consult the Panel in advance;

(f) when a purchaser is being sought for a holding, or aggregate holdings, of securities conferring 30% or more of the voting rights in a relevant company, or when the board of a relevant company is seeking potential offerors, and:

(i) the company is the subject of rumour and speculation or there is an anomalous movement in its share price; or

(ii) the number of potential purchasers or potential offerors approached is about to be increased to include more than a very restricted number of people.

The potential vendor or (as the case may be) the board of the relevant company shall in any case consult the Panel in advance where it is proposed to hold discussions with more than one potential purchaser or offeror; or

(g) when, after an announcement has been made to the effect that offer discussions are taking place or that an approach or offer is contemplated, the discussions are terminated or the offeror decides not to proceed with an offer.

If the offeree is the subject of rumour and speculation or there is an anomalous movement in its share price, the person with responsibility for making an announcement shall consult the Panel immediately if that person considers that the circumstances do not require an immediate announcement.

### 2.3 RESPONSIBILITIES OF OFFERORS AND THE OFFEREE

(a) Unless the Panel directs otherwise, before the offeree board is approached, the responsibility for making an announcement shall lie with the offeror. Accordingly, the offeror shall monitor the market for any anomalous movement in the offeree's share price and for any rumour or speculation concerning the offeree. The offeror shall also be responsible for making an announcement pursuant to Rule ~~2.5~~2.7.

(b) Following an approach by an offeror to the offeree board which may or may not lead to an offer, the primary responsibility for making an announcement (including an announcement under Rule 2.2(g)) shall normally rest with the offeree board which shall monitor the market for any anomalous movement in the offeree's share price and for rumour and speculation. However, following an unequivocal rejection of an approach, the responsibility for making an announcement under Rule 2.2(c) shall revert to the offeror.

(c) An offeror shall not attempt to prevent the offeree board from making an announcement relating to a possible offer, or publicly identifying the potential offeror, at any time that the offeree board deems appropriate.

(d) The responsibility for making an announcement under Rule 2.2(f) shall lie with the potential vendors or (as the case may be) the board of the relevant company.

### 2.4 THE ANNOUNCEMENT OF A POSSIBLE OFFER

(a) ~~Until~~ Save as provided in paragraphs (b) and (d), until a firm intention to make an offer has been announced a brief announcement by the offeree that talks are taking place which may or may not lead to an offer (~~there is no requirement to name the offeror in such an announcement~~), or by an offeror that it is considering making an offer, shall satisfy the requirements of Rule 2 unless there are special circumstances requiring a more detailed announcement.

~~The announcement shall state that a person interested in 1% or more of any class of relevant securities of the offeree or, if the offeror is named, of the offeror may have disclosure obligations under Rule 8.3, effective from the date of the announcement or, if earlier, the commencement of the offer period.~~(b) ~~At any time during an offer period following the announcement of a possible offer and before any announcement by the offeror of a firm intention to make an offer in respect of the offeree, the Panel may, if the identity of the offeror has been announced by the offeror or the offeree and the offeree so requests, impose a time limit within which the offeror shall clarify its intentions with regard to the offeree. If such a time limit is imposed, the offeror shall, before the expiry of the time limit, announce either a firm intention to make an offer in respect of the offeree pursuant to Rule 2.5 or that it does not intend to make an offer in respect of the offeree, in which latter case the announcement shall be deemed, for all purposes of Rule 2.8, to be a statement to which Rule 2.8 applies made by the offeror in relation to the offeree.~~

(b) An announcement by the offeree which commences an offer period must identify any potential offeror with which the offeree is in talks or from which an approach has been received (and not unequivocally rejected).

(c) Any subsequent announcement by the offeree which refers to the existence of a new potential offeror must identify that potential offeror, except where the announcement is made after an offeror has announced a firm intention to make an offer for the offeree.

(d) Any announcement which commences an offer period and any subsequent announcement which first identifies a potential offeror must:

(i) specify the date on which any deadline thereby set in accordance with Rule 2.6(a) will expire; and

(ii) include a summary of the opening position disclosure and dealing disclosure provisions of Rule 8.

## 2.5 TERMS AND PRE-CONDITIONS IN POSSIBLE OFFER ANNOUNCEMENTS

~~(e)(i)(a)~~ Until he or she has notified a relevant company of his or her firm intention to make an offer in respect of that company, a person shall not without the consent of the Panel make a public statement (in this Rule ~~2.4(c) 2.5.a~~ “Rule ~~2.4(c)(2.5(a))~~ statement”) in relation to the terms on which an offer might be made by that person in respect of that company.

~~(ii)(b)~~ If any Rule ~~2.4(c)(2.5(a))~~ statement is published by an offeror or on its behalf by any of its directors, officers or advisers prior to any such notification having been made by the offeror and, if incorrect, is not immediately withdrawn, the offeror shall be bound by the statement if it subsequently makes an offer in respect of the offeree, unless the Panel consents otherwise or unless the offeror has reserved (in ~~this Rule 2.4(c) 2.5.a~~ “reservation”) in that statement the right to set aside the statement on terms specified therein if circumstances specified therein occur, those circumstances have occurred and the offeror has exercised that right.

~~(2)(c)~~ Where an offeror becomes ~~so~~ bound by a Rule ~~2.4(c)(2.5(a))~~ statement, then, without prejudice to the generality of the powers of the Panel to enforce this rule, the following provisions shall have effect:

~~(i)~~ ~~(A)~~ where the statement concerned relates to the value of the consideration to be paid in a possible offer, any offer subsequently made by the offeror in respect of the offeree shall be made for a consideration having the same or a higher value;

~~(B)(ii)~~ where the statement concerned relates to the price of a possible offer or a particular exchange ratio in the case of a proposed securities exchange offer, any offer subsequently made by the offeror in respect of the offeree shall be made on the same or better terms. Where all or part of the consideration is expressed in the statement in terms of a monetary value, the offer or that element of the offer shall be made at the same or a higher monetary value. Where all or part of the consideration has been expressed in the statement in terms of a securities exchange ratio, the offer or that element of the offer shall be made on the same or an improved securities exchange ratio; and

~~(C)(iii)~~ where the statement concerned states that the terms of the possible offer “will not be increased” or are “final” or uses a similar expression, the offeror shall not be permitted subsequently to make an offer in respect of the offeree on better terms.

~~(iii)(d)~~ Where a Rule ~~2.4(c)(2.5(a))~~ statement includes a reservation, that reservation shall be clear and unambiguous and shall not be dependent upon the subjective judgements of the directors of the offeror.

~~(iv)(e)~~ The first announcement in which a Rule ~~2.4(c)(i)2.5(a)~~ statement is made shall contain prominent reference to any reservation contained in the statement and shall set out precise details of the reservation. Each subsequent reference by the offeror to that statement shall be accompanied by a reference to the reservation.

~~(v)(f)~~ Except with the consent of the Panel, the restrictions and obligations imposed by Rule ~~2.4(c)(ii)2.5(b)~~ to ~~(iv)(e)~~:

~~(4)(i)~~ shall (subject to subparagraph ~~(2)(ii)~~ below) continue to apply until the expiry of the period of three months following the date on which the offeree ceases to be the subject of an offer period; and

~~(2)(ii)~~ where an offeror has made a statement to which Rule 2.8 applies but the offeree remains thereafter the subject of an offer period, shall continue to apply until the expiry of the period of three months following the date on which that statement was made.

~~(g)~~ Where an offeror makes a statement to which Rule 2.5(c)(i) or (ii) applies, the offeror must state that it will have the right to reduce the offer consideration by the amount of any dividend (or other distribution) which is paid or becomes payable by the offeree to offeree shareholders, unless, and to the extent that, the statement provides that offeree shareholders will be entitled to receive and retain all or part of a specified dividend (or other distribution) in addition to the offer consideration.

~~(d)(h)~~ Except with the consent of the Panel, where a Rule ~~2.4(c)(i)2.5(a)~~ statement is made by or on behalf of an offeror, the consequential restrictions imposed on the offeror by ~~Rule 2.4(c)Rules 2.5(c) to (g)~~ shall apply equally to any other person acting in concert with the offeror and to any person who is subsequently acting in concert with the offeror or with any such other person.

~~(e)(i)~~ Except as permitted by the Rules or with the consent of the Panel or where the only pre-condition to the making of the offer is the receipt of irrevocable commitments, a person shall not include in any announcement of a possible offer under Rule 2.4 any pre-condition to the making of the offer.

~~(j)~~ Every statement made by the offeree in relation to the terms on which an offer might be made should also make clear whether that statement is being made with the agreement or approval of the offeror. Where the statement is made with the agreement or approval of the potential offeror, the statement will be treated as one to which Rule 2.5(a) applies in the same way as if it had been made by the potential offeror itself. Where it is not being made with such agreement or approval, the statement should also include a prominent warning to the effect that there can be no certainty either that an offer will be made or as to the terms on which any offer might be made.

#### ~~2.5~~THE 2.6 TIMING FOLLOWING A POSSIBLE OFFER ANNOUNCEMENT

~~(a)~~ Subject to Rule 2.6(b), by not later than 5.00 pm on the 28th day following the date of the announcement in which it is first identified, or by not later than any extended deadline consented to by the Panel in accordance with Rule 2.6 (c), a potential offeror must either:

(i) announce a firm intention to make an offer in accordance with Rule 2.7; or

(ii) announce that it does not intend to make an offer, in which case the announcement will be treated as a statement to which Rule 2.8 applies.

unless the Panel has consented to an extension of that deadline.

(b) Rule 2.6(a) will not apply, or will cease to apply, to a potential offeror if another offeror has already announced, or subsequently announces prior to the relevant deadline, a firm intention to make an offer for the offeree. In such circumstances, the potential offeror will be required to clarify its intentions in accordance with Rule 2.6(d) below.

(c) The Panel may consent to an extension of a deadline set in accordance with Rule 2.6(a), or any previously extended deadline consented to by the Panel in accordance with this Rule 2.6(c), at the request of the board of the offeree and after taking into account all relevant factors, including:

(i) the status of negotiations between the offeree and the potential offeror; and

(ii) the anticipated timetable for their completion.

Where the Panel consents to an extension of a deadline, the offeree must promptly make an announcement setting out the new deadline and commenting on the matters referred to in paragraphs (i) and (ii) above.

(d) When an offeror has announced a firm intention to make an offer and it has been announced that a publicly identified potential offeror might make a competing offer (whether that announcement was made prior to or following the announcement of the first offer), the potential offeror must, by 5.00 pm on the 53rd day following the publication of the first offeror's initial offer document, either:

(i) announce a firm intention to make an offer in accordance with Rule 2.7; or

(ii) announce that it does not intend to make an offer, in which case the announcement will be treated as a statement to which Rule 2.8 applies.

(e) When an offeror has announced a firm intention to make an offer and the offeree subsequently refers to the existence of a potential competing offeror which has not been identified, the potential competing offeror so referred to must, by 5.00 pm on the 53rd day following the publication of the first offeror's initial offer document, either:

(i) announce a firm intention to make an offer in accordance with Rule 2.7; or

(ii) confirm to the offeree that it does not intend to make an offer, in which case the offeree must promptly announce that fact and the potential competing offeror will be treated as if it had then made a statement to which Rule 2.8 applies.

## 2.7 THE ANNOUNCEMENT OF A FIRM INTENTION TO MAKE AN OFFER

(a) An offeror may announce a firm intention to make an offer only when the offeror and its financial adviser are satisfied, after careful and responsible consideration, that the offeror is able and will continue at all relevant times to be able to implement the offer. Subject thereto, an offeror shall announce without delay its firm intention to make an offer.

(b) When a firm intention to make an offer is announced, the announcement shall contain:

(i) the terms of the offer;

(ii) the identity of the offeror and, if applicable, of the ultimate controlling interests in the offeror;

(iii) details of all relevant securities of the offeree in which the offeror or any person acting in concert with the offeror is interested, in each case specifying the nature of the interests in accordance with the applicable provisions of Rule 8.6(a); and

details of all short positions of each such interested person in any class of relevant securities of the offeree in accordance with the applicable provisions of that rule;

(iv) details, as set out in Rule 2.9(a), of all relevant securities of the offeree in respect of which the offeror or any person acting in concert with it has received an irrevocable commitment or a letter of intent, ~~including, in the case of an irrevocable commitment, the circumstances, if any, in which it will cease to be binding;~~

(v) all conditions (including normal conditions relating to acceptances, quotation and increase of capital) to which the offer or the making of it is subject and any preconditions to which, with the Panel's consent, the making of the offer is subject;

(vi) details of every agreement or arrangement to which the offeror is party and which relates to the circumstances in which the offeror may or may not invoke or seek to invoke a pre-condition or a condition to its offer and to the consequences of its doing so, including details of any break fees payable as a result;

(vii) if the Panel has given consent to the offeree board to enter into a contract or arrangement of the kind described in Rule 21.2, details of that contract or arrangement;

(viii) details of any arrangement to which Rule 8.7 applies;

~~(ix) a statement that a person interested in 1% or more of any class of relevant securities of the offeror or the offeree may have disclosure obligations under Rule 8.3, effective from the date of the announcement or, if earlier, the commencement of the offer period;~~

(ix) a summary of the opening position disclosure and dealing disclosure provisions of Rule 8;

(x) a responsibility statement as specified in Rule 19.2;

(xi) a statement that the announcement is being made pursuant to Rule 2.5-2.7 of the Rules; ~~and~~

(xii) such information as may be required under Rule 4.1(d);

(xiii) details of the matters referred to in Rule 24.2 and, if the offeror has no intention to make any changes in relation to these matters or if it considers that its strategic plans for the offeree will have no repercussions on employment or the location of the offeree's places of business, it must make a statement to that effect;

(xiv) a list of the documents published on a website in accordance with Rule 26.2 and the address of the website on which the documents are published; and

(xv) a statement that the offeror will have the right to reduce the offer consideration by the amount of any dividend (or other distribution) which is paid or becomes payable by the offeree to offeree shareholders, unless, and to the extent that, the announcement provides that offeree shareholders will be entitled to receive and retain all or part of a specified dividend (or other distribution) in addition to the offer consideration;

provided that if, for reasons of secrecy, it would not be considered prudent for an offeror to make enquiries for the purpose of including in such an announcement details of any relevant securities of the offeree in which persons controlling, controlled by or under the same control as one of its advisers are interested or have short positions, the offeror shall obtain the relevant details and report them to the Panel promptly following the announcement. If the Panel considers the interests or short positions

concerned to be significant, it may require the offeror to make a further announcement.

Where the offeror is a company, and insofar as it is affected by the offer, the offeror must also state in the announcement the information set out in paragraphs (i), (ii) and (v) of Rule 24.2(a) with regard to itself.

(c) For the purposes of the Rules, an announcement by or on behalf of an offeror or by the Panel that the offeror has become obliged to make an offer pursuant to Rule 9 or Rule 37 shall (where that obligation is not subject to any pre-condition of the kind referred to in Rule 2.2(b)) be deemed to be an announcement by the offeror of a firm intention to make that offer.

(d) Where the offer is for cash or includes an element of cash, the announcement of a firm intention to make an offer shall include confirmation by the offeror's financial adviser or by another appropriate person that resources are available to the offeror sufficient to satisfy full acceptance of the offer. If such confirmation proves to be inaccurate, the Panel may direct the person that gave such confirmation to provide the necessary resources unless the Panel is satisfied that, in giving the confirmation, that person acted responsibly and took all reasonable steps to assure itself that the cash was available and would continue to be available at all relevant times.

## 2.6 OBLIGATION TO DESPATCH ANNOUNCEMENTS

~~Except with the consent of the Panel:~~

~~(a) promptly after the commencement of an offer period, the offeree shall despatch a copy of the announcement initiating the offer period or, where appropriate, a circular summarising the terms and conditions of the offer, to each of its shareholders and to the Panel;~~

~~(b) if the announcement initiating the offer period is not an announcement pursuant to Rule 2.5, the offeror shall, after the announcement is made, promptly despatch a copy of the announcement, if any, pursuant to Rule 2.5 to each shareholder of the offeree;~~

~~(c) after the publication of an announcement made pursuant to Rule 2.5, both the offeror and the offeree shall make that announcement or a circular summarising the terms and conditions of the offer readily and promptly available to the representatives of their respective employees or, where there are no such representatives, to the employees themselves; and~~

~~(d) where, following an announcement made pursuant to Rule 2.5, a circular summarising the terms and conditions of the offer is sent to shareholders or employee representatives or employees, the offeree shall make the full text of the Rule 2.5 announcement readily and promptly available to them.~~

## 2.7 CONSEQUENCES OF A "FIRM ANNOUNCEMENT"

~~Except with the consent of the Panel, when there has been an announcement of a firm intention to make an offer, the offeror shall proceed with the offer unless:~~

~~(a) the despatch of the offer is subject to the prior satisfaction of a pre-condition and, in accordance with Rule 13.3, the offeror is permitted to invoke the pre-condition; or~~

~~(b) another offeror has already despatched a higher offer in respect of the same offeree and the Panel has confirmed that the offeror need not proceed with its offer.~~

## 2.8 STATEMENTS OF INTENTION NOT TO MAKE AN OFFER

(a) (i) A person who makes a statement that, or to the effect that, he or she does not intend to make an offer in respect of a

relevant company (“a statement to which Rule 2.8 applies”) shall make the statement as clear and unambiguous as possible.

(ii) Where a person makes a statement that in the opinion of the Panel suggests, or raises the possibility, that he or she will not or may not make an offer in respect of a relevant company, the Panel may, if it considers it to be appropriate in the circumstances to do so (including after communicating with such person where in the opinion of the Panel that would be useful and practicable):

- (1) determine that such statement shall be deemed, for all purposes of Rule 2.8, to be a statement to which Rule 2.8 applies made by such person in relation to the relevant company on the date on which the Panel notifies him or her of that determination; or
- (2) require such person to make an announcement withdrawing the statement or otherwise clarifying his or her intentions in respect of the relevant company concerned in a manner approved by the Panel.

(b) Except with the consent of the Panel, a statement to which Rule 2.8 applies shall not specify any circumstances as circumstances the occurrence of which would purportedly entitle the person making the statement to set aside the statement.

(c) (i) Where a person makes a statement to which Rule 2.8 applies, then, except in the circumstances specified in subparagraph (ii) or with the consent of the Panel, neither the person who made the statement, nor any other person who acted in concert with him or her at that time, nor any person who is subsequently acting in concert with the person who made the statement or with any such other person (all such persons being collectively referred to in this rule as the “persons affected”), may within the period of 12 months from the date of the statement:

- (1) announce an offer or possible offer or make an offer in respect of the relevant company concerned;
- (2) acquire any securities of the relevant company if any of the persons affected would thereby become obliged under Rule 9 to make an offer in respect of the relevant company;
- (3) acquire any securities of the relevant company if the persons affected or any of them hold securities conferring in the aggregate more than 49.95% but not more than 50% of the voting rights in the relevant company;
- (4) acquire any securities of the relevant company, or rights over securities of the relevant company, if, following that acquisition, the securities of the relevant company which the persons affected or any of them would hold and the securities of the relevant company over which the persons affected or any of them would hold rights would in aggregate confer 30% or more of the voting rights in the relevant company;
- (5) make any statement that raises or confirms the possibility that an offer might be made in respect of the relevant company; or
- (6) take any steps in connection with a possible offer in respect of the relevant company where knowledge of the possible offer might be extended beyond a very restricted number of people in the offeror and its immediate legal, financial, tax and accounting advisers; or

~~(7) purchase, agree to purchase, or make any statement which raises or confirms the possibility that it is interested in purchasing assets which are significant in relation to the relevant company.~~

(ii) The circumstances referred to in subparagraph (i) in which a person who has made a statement to which Rule 2.8 applies may set aside the statement are as follows (but, in the case of subparagraphs (1), (2) and (3) below, the existence of the circumstances concerned in any instance shall be subject to prior confirmation by the Panel):

(1) where the board of the relevant company concerned agrees to the statement being set aside, provided that, where the statement was made at any time after the announcement by a third party of a firm intention to make an offer in respect of the relevant company, the statement may not be set aside with the agreement of the board of the relevant company unless that offer has been withdrawn or ~~has lapsed~~ lapsed, save that, if the person who made the statement, or any person acting in concert with it, acquires an interest in any shares in the offeree in the period following the making of the statement but before the offer has been withdrawn or lapsed, the statement may not in any circumstances be set aside with the agreement of the board of the relevant company;

(2) where an offer is announced by a third party in respect of the relevant company;

(3) where an announcement is made by the relevant company of (A) a proposal for a "whitewash" dispensation from the obligation under Rule 9 to make a general offer in respect of the relevant company or (B) the proposed entry by the relevant company into a reverse takeover transaction;

(4) where, in the opinion of the Panel, a material change of circumstances has occurred that justifies the person who made the statement changing his or her intention; or

(5) where circumstances have occurred that were, in accordance with paragraph (b), specified in the statement as circumstances the occurrence of which would entitle the person who made the statement to set it aside.

(ii) Where the statement to which Rule 2.8 applies is made by a possible offeror which has made a statement to which Rule 2.5(c)(i),(ii) or (iii) applies and which did not reserve the right not to be bound by that statement with the agreement of the board of the offeree, the board of the offeree may not, except with the consent of the Panel, agree to the restrictions in Rule 2.8(c)(i)(7) being set aside for three months following the date on which the statement to which Rule 2.8 applies is made.

## ~~2.9~~ MODE OF ANNOUNCEMENT

~~(a) Except as otherwise provided by the Rules, every announcement made pursuant to the Rules shall be made to a Regulatory Information Service and the Panel by means of a written notification delivered by facsimile, by hand or by electronic mail, and, except with the consent of the Panel, the time at which an announcement shall for the purposes of the Rules be deemed to be made shall be the time of publication of such announcement by the Regulatory Information Service concerned.~~

~~(b) If the announcement is published outside normal business hours, it shall be submitted, as required by the Rules, to a Regulatory Information Service for release as soon as that service next reopens; it shall also be~~

~~distributed to not less than two national newspapers and two newswire services.~~

## 2.9 IRREVOCABLE COMMITMENTS AND LETTERS OF INTENT

(a) Save as provided in paragraph (c), during an offer period, if any party to the takeover or any person acting in concert with it procures an irrevocable commitment or a letter of intent, the relevant party to the offer must announce by no later than 12 noon on the following business day full details of the nature of the commitment or letter including:

(i) the number of relevant securities of each class to which the irrevocable commitment or letter of intent relates;

(ii) the identity of the person from whom the irrevocable commitment or letter of intent has been procured;

(iii) in respect of an irrevocable commitment, any outstanding conditions to which it is subject and the circumstances (if any) in which it will cease to be binding; and

in the case of an irrevocable commitment or a letter of intent procured prior to the announcement of a firm intention to make an offer, the price (and any other material terms) of the possible offer in respect of which the commitment or letter has been procured.

(b) Save as provided in paragraph (c), if any party to a takeover or any person acting in concert with it has procured an irrevocable commitment or a letter of intent prior to the commencement of the offer period, it must announce the details referred to in (a) above by no later than 12 noon on the business day following either the commencement of the offer period or (in the case of an offeror) the date of the announcement that first identifies the offeror as such (as appropriate).

(c) No separate announcement will be required under Rule 2.9(a) or (b) where the details referred to in (a) above are included in an announcement of a firm intention to make an offer pursuant to Rule 2.7(b)(iv) which is published no later than 12 noon on the business day following the date on which the irrevocable commitment or letter of intent is procured or, as appropriate. No separate announcement will be required under Rule 2.9(b) where the details referred to in (a) above are included in an announcement of a possible offer which is published no later than 12 noon on the business day following the date on which the irrevocable commitment or letter of intent is procured.

(d) If a person who has given an irrevocable commitment or a letter of intent either becomes aware that he will not be able to comply with the terms of that commitment or letter or no longer intends to do so, that person must:

(i) promptly announce an update of the position together with all relevant details; or

(ii) promptly notify the relevant party to the takeover and the Panel of the up-to-date position. Upon receipt of such a notification, the relevant party to the takeover shall promptly make an appropriate announcement of the information notified to it together with all relevant details.

(e) Where a party to the takeover or any person acting in concert with it has procured a letter of intent prior to the commencement of the offer period, the shareholder or other person concerned shall confirm in writing to the relevant party to the takeover or its adviser that the letter of intent continues to represent the intentions of the shareholder or other person concerned at the time that the relevant details are announced by the party to the takeover or any person acting in concert with it.

## 2.10 OBLIGATION TO DISTRIBUTE ANNOUNCEMENTS

Except with the consent of the Panel:

(a) promptly after the commencement of an offer period (except where an offer period begins with an announcement under Rule 2.7), a copy of the relevant announcement shall be:

(i) sent by, the offeree to each of its shareholders and to the Panel; and

(ii) made readily and promptly available by the offeree to the representatives of its employees or, where there are no such representatives, to the employees themselves;

(b) promptly after the publication of an announcement made under Rule 2.7:

(i) the offeree shall send a copy of that announcement to the Panel and to its shareholders and the holders of securities convertible into, rights to subscribe for and options over, shares of the same class as those to which the offer relates;

(ii) the offeree shall inform its shareholders and the holders of securities convertible into, rights to subscribe for and options over, shares of the same class as those to which the offer relates that addresses, electronic addresses and certain other information provided by them for the receipt of communications from the offeree may be provided to an offeror during the offer period (as required under Appendix 1);

(iii) both the offeror and offeree shall make that announcement readily and promptly available to the representatives of their respective employees or, where there are no such representatives, to the employees themselves; and

(c) when, under (a) or (b) above, the offeree makes a copy of an announcement available to employee representatives or employees, it shall at the same time inform them of the right of employee representatives under Rule 25.1(b) to have a separate opinion appended to the offeree board circular.

2.11 CONSEQUENCES OF A "FIRM ANNOUNCEMENT"

(a) Except with the consent of the Panel, when there has been an announcement of a firm intention to make an offer, the offeror shall proceed with the offer on the basis set out in that announcement unless:

(i) the making of the offer is subject to the prior satisfaction of a pre-condition and, in accordance with Rule 13.3, the offeror is permitted to invoke the pre-condition; or

(ii) the offeror would be permitted to invoke a condition to the offer in accordance with Rule 13.3 if the offer were made; or

(iii) another offeror has already made a higher offer in respect of the same offeree and the Panel has confirmed that the offeror need not proceed with its offer.

(b) Except in the circumstances provided in Rule 2.7(b) (xv), once it has announced a firm intention to make an offer, an offeror will not be permitted to exercise any right it had previously reserved either to reduce the level of consideration that it might offer or to vary the form and/or mix of the consideration.

2.102.12 ANNOUNCEMENT OF NUMBERS OF RELEVANT SECURITIES IN ISSUE

(a) When an offer period commences, the offeree shall announce ~~in accordance with Rule 2.9~~, as soon as practicable and, in any event, by no later than ~~9.00-7.15~~ a.m. on the next following business day, details of all classes of relevant securities issued by the offeree, together with the

number of such securities in issue. An offeror or potential named offeror shall also announce ~~in accordance with Rule 2.9~~ the same details relating to its relevant securities as soon as practicable and, in any event, by no later than ~~9.00–7.15~~ a.m. on the business day next following any announcement identifying it as an offeror or potential offeror, unless it has stated that its offer is or is likely to be solely in cash.

(b) If the information included in any announcement made under paragraph (a) changes during the offer period concerned, the offeree or the offeror, as appropriate, shall make a revised announcement as soon as practicable and, in any event, by no later than ~~9.00–7.15~~ a.m. on the business day next following such change.

(c) Every announcement referred to in this Rule shall include, where applicable, the International Securities Identification Number for each relevant security of the company making that announcement.

#### 2.112.13 ADDRESS FOR SERVICE

Each of the offeror, its directors, the persons (if any) acting in concert with it and its advisers and each of the offeree, its directors and its advisers shall, as soon as practicable after the commencement of an offer period, or, in the case of an adviser, as soon as practicable after his, her or its appointment as adviser, if later, furnish the Panel in writing with ~~an a postal~~ address within the State (which shall be an “address for service” within the meaning of section 24 of the Act) at which notices, directions and other documents may be served on or given to him, her or it and with ~~the number of a facsimile machine located at that~~ ~~an email~~ address. The Panel may require any person to furnish it in writing as soon as practicable with such an address for service and ~~facsimile machine number~~ email address. For the purposes of the Rules, the furnishing by any person to the Panel under Rule ~~2.11 2.13~~ of an address for service or ~~a facsimile machine number~~ an email address shall be irrevocable until a replacement postal or email address ~~or number~~, as the case may be, has been furnished in writing to the Panel in accordance with Rule ~~2.11 2.13~~.

### RULE 3. INDEPENDENT ADVICE; VIEWS OF THE BOARD

#### 3.1 BOARD OF THE OFFEREE

(a) (i) The offeree board shall obtain competent independent advice ~~on every offer and revised~~ as to whether the financial terms of any offer in respect of the offeree (including any alternative offers) are fair and reasonable and shall ~~despatch~~ send to its shareholders a circular setting out the substance and source of such advice together with the considered views of the offeree board. Any director with a conflict of interest shall be excluded from the formulation and communication of advice to shareholders.

(ii) A director of the offeree with a conflict of interest shall not make any announcement or statement in respect of the offer or contemplated offer or be quoted in any statement issued by or on behalf of an offeror, unless the full nature of the conflict of interest is disclosed clearly and prominently in the announcement or statement, together with the fact (if such is the case) that the director is acting in concert with the offeror.

(b) If the offeree board considers it impossible to express a view on the merits of an offer or to give a firm recommendation for acceptance to shareholders, or if there is a divergence of views amongst members of the offeree board or between the offeree board and the independent adviser as to either the merits of an offer or the recommendation to be made, the offeree board shall, in its circular to shareholders, draw this to their attention and set out fully the arguments for acceptance and for rejection, emphasising the important factors.

(c) If the independent adviser is unable to advise the board of the offeree whether the financial terms of an offer (or any alternative offers) are, or are not, fair and reasonable, this must be made known to offeree shareholders and an explanation given in the offeree board circular. The Panel shall be consulted in advance about the explanation which is to be given.

~~(c)~~(d) If there is a significant area of uncertainty in the most recently published accounts or interim figures of the offeree (including, inter alia, a qualified audit report, a material provision or contingent liability or a material doubt over the real value of a substantial asset, including a subsidiary), the offeree board and the independent adviser shall highlight particularly the factors within the area of uncertainty which they consider important in relation to shareholders' interests and their decision to accept or reject the offer.

#### 3.2 BOARD OF AN OFFEROR<sup>1</sup>

(a) (i) The board of an offeror shall obtain competent independent advice as set out in Rule 3.1 if its directors are faced with a conflict of interest in respect of the offer concerned.

(ii) The board of a relevant company shall obtain competent independent advice as set out in Rule 3.1 if it proposes to enter into a reverse takeover transaction.

(iii) In each such case, the board of the relevant company or (as the case may be) of the offeror shall ~~despatch~~ send to its shareholders a circular setting out the substance and source of such advice.

(b) If the board of an offeror or of a relevant company is required by paragraph (a) to obtain competent independent advice, it shall do so before announcing the offer concerned or any revision of that offer or (as the case

<sup>1</sup> Rule 3.2 is not applicable to Shared Jurisdiction Companies.

may be) the reverse takeover transaction; such advice shall be as to whether or not the making of the offer or the entry into the reverse takeover transaction is in the interests of its shareholders. The board of the offeror or (as the case may be) of the relevant company shall allow its shareholders sufficient time to consider advice given to them prior to any general meeting held to implement the offer or (as the case may be) the reverse takeover transaction. Every document or advertisement issued by the board of the offeror or (as the case may be) of the relevant company in such circumstances shall include a responsibility statement by the directors as set out in Rule 19.2.

### **3.3 DISQUALIFIED ADVISERS**

Except with the consent of the Panel, a person shall be deemed not to be an appropriate person to give independent advice under Rule 3:

- (a) to the offeree board, if such person controls or is controlled by or is under the same control as the financial or other professional adviser (including a stockbroker) to an offeror; or
- (b) to the offeree board, if there is an agreement or understanding between such person and the offeree board that the whole or any part of the remuneration of such person is contingent upon an offer lapsing, or upon a possible or proposed offer not being made; or
- (c) to the board of an offeror or of a relevant company as described in Rule 3.2(a) (i) or (ii), if such person controls or is controlled by or is under the same control as the financial or other professional adviser (including a stockbroker) to the board of the offeree or (as the case may be) the other party to the reverse takeover transaction concerned; or
- (d) to the offeree board, or to the board of an offeror or of a relevant company as described in Rule 3.2 (a) (i) or (ii), if such person has a significant interest in or financial connection with an offeror, the offeree or any other party to the transaction concerned of such a kind as to create a conflict of interest.

PART B - SECTION 2.

DEALINGS AND RESTRICTIONS ON THE ACQUISITION OF SECURITIES  
AND RIGHTS OVER SECURITIES

RULE 4. RESTRICTIONS ON DEALINGS IN SECURITIES

4.1 PROHIBITED DEALINGS BY PERSONS OTHER THAN THE OFFEROR

(a) No person, other than the offeror, who is privy to confidential price-sensitive information concerning an offer or contemplated offer, shall deal in relevant securities of the offeree during the period (in Rule 4.1 referred to as the "relevant period") from the time at which such person first has reason to suppose that an offer, or an approach with a view to an offer being made, is contemplated to the time of (i) the announcement of the offer or approach or (ii) the termination of the discussions, whichever is the earlier.

(b) Except as contemplated by these Rules, no person who is privy to such information shall make any recommendation during the relevant period to any other person as to dealings of any kind in relevant securities of the offeree.

(c) No person, other than the offeror, who is privy to confidential price-sensitive information concerning an offer or contemplated offer, shall deal in any way during the relevant period in relevant securities of the offeror except where such information is not price-sensitive in relation to such securities.

(d) Arrangements made by an offeror with a person acting in concert with it whereby interests in relevant securities of the offeree are acquired during the relevant period by the person acting in concert, on the basis that the offeror will bear all the risks and receive all the benefits, are not prohibited by Rule 4. The announcement of a firm intention to make an offer shall include details of any arrangement of the kind referred to in this paragraph, the identities of the parties to such arrangement and all dealings, and acquisitions of interests, in relevant securities resulting therefrom. Arrangements of that kind which contain a benefit or potential benefit to the person acting in concert (beyond normal expenses and carrying costs) are prohibited. Any person who is in any doubt as to his or her obligations under Rule 4 shall consult the Panel.

(e) The prohibitions in paragraphs (a) and (c) shall not apply to persons who deal in securities of the offeree or offeror during the relevant period in their capacity as trustees of an established employee share scheme under which the trustees are required from time to time to give effect to written instructions by the employees concerned to deal in securities where:

(i) the trustees have no discretion as to whether or not to deal in the securities or as to the timing of such dealings; and

(ii) persons in possession of price-sensitive information do not deal in relevant securities under the relevant scheme for their own account.

~~(f) Except with the consent of the Panel or with the specific approval of the shareholders of the offeree in general meeting, during the course of an offer or at any earlier time at which the offeree board has reason to believe that an offer is or may be imminent the offeree shall not redeem or purchase any of its own securities, unless in pursuance of a contract entered into prior to the announcement of the offer or (as the case may be) to such earlier time. The notice convening any such general meeting shall include appropriate information about the offer or possible offer.~~

4.2 RESTRICTION ON DEALINGS BY THE OFFEROR AND CONCERT PARTIES

(a) Subject to paragraph (f), during an offer period neither the offeror nor any person acting in concert with it may sell any interest in relevant securities of the offeree except with the consent of the Panel and following an announcement, made not less than 24 hours previously, that such sales may be made. Following such an announcement, neither the offeror nor any person acting in concert with it may acquire any interest in relevant securities of the offeree during the remainder of the offer period nor may the offer be revised, except in either case with the consent of the Panel.

(b) During an offer period, neither the offeror nor any person acting in concert with it may acquire any interest in relevant securities of the offeree (i) through any anonymous order book system, or (ii) through any other means, unless, in either case, it can be established that the seller, or other party to the transaction in question, is not an exempt principal trader connected with the offeror.

In the case of dealings through an inter-dealer broker or other similar intermediary, "seller" includes the person who has transferred the securities to the intermediary as well as the intermediary itself.

(c) Subject to paragraph (f), neither an offeror nor any person acting in concert with it may deal in relevant securities of the offeree before an announcement of an offer if the offeree has supplied confidential information to the offeror or its advisers.

(d) If, after an announcement has been made that offer discussions are taking place or that an approach or offer is contemplated, the discussions are terminated or the offeror decides not to proceed with an offer, neither the offeror nor any person privy to such information may deal in relevant securities of the offeree or (where the information is price-sensitive in relation to securities of the offeror) the offeror prior to an announcement of the position.

(e) Directors of and financial advisers to an offeror or the offeree who are interested in relevant securities of that company shall not during the offer period deal in such securities in a manner inconsistent with any advice which they have given to shareholders of that company, or with any advice with which it can reasonably be assumed that they were associated, without the consent of the Panel, which, if it grants such consent, may require them to make an announcement giving advance notice of their intentions together with an appropriate explanation.

(f) The provisions of paragraphs (a) and (c) shall not apply to an exempt fund manager or an exempt principal trader which is connected with the offeror if the sole reason for that connection is that the fund manager or the principal trader is controlled by, controls or is under the same control as a financial or other professional adviser (including a stockbroker) acting for the offeror in relation to the offer.

#### **4.3 GATHERING OF IRREVOCABLE COMMITMENTS**

(a) Any person who proposes to contact a holder of securities (not being a professional investor) with a view to seeking an irrevocable commitment shall consult the Panel in advance.

(b) If irrevocable commitments are to be sought from any holders of securities of the offeree, the offeror shall ensure that arrangements have been made to provide each such holder so contacted with adequate information as to the details of the proposal and the nature of the commitment sought, and to afford each such holder a realistic opportunity to consider whether or not that commitment should be given and to obtain independent advice if required.

#### **4.4 DEALINGS IN OFFEREE SECURITIES BY CERTAIN PERSONS RELATED TO THE OFFEREE**

During the offer period, except for exempt principal traders and exempt fund managers, no financial adviser or stockbroker (nor any person controlling, controlled by or under the same control as any such adviser or stockbroker) to an offeree (or to any of its holding companies, subsidiaries

or fellow subsidiaries, or to any of its or their associated companies or companies of which such companies are associated companies) shall, except with the consent of the Panel:

- (a) either for its own account or on behalf of discretionary clients, acquire any interest in relevant securities of the offeree; or
- (b) (except for transactions in the ordinary course of business and on normal commercial terms with persons with whom it has an established customer relationship) assist any person by way of loan or otherwise in making any such acquisition or carrying out any such dealing; or
- (c) enter into any indemnity or option arrangement or any arrangement, agreement or understanding, formal or informal, of whatever nature, which may be an inducement to a person to deal or refrain from dealing in relevant securities of the offeree.

4.5 RESTRICTION ON THE OFFEREE ACCEPTING AN OFFER IN RESPECT OF TREASURY SHARES

An offeree shall not accept an offer in respect of treasury shares until after the offer is unconditional as to acceptances.

4.6 SALE OF ALL OR SUBSTANTIALLY ALL OF THE OFFEREE'S ASSETS

(a) Where during an offer period an offeree announces that it has agreed terms on which it intends to sell all or substantially all of its assets (excluding cash and cash equivalents) and that it intends to return to shareholders all or substantially all of its cash balances (including the proceeds of any asset sale), a purchaser or potential purchaser of some or all of those assets must not acquire interests in shares in the offeree during the offer period unless the board of the offeree has made a statement quantifying the amount per share that is expected to be paid to shareholders and then only to the extent that the price paid does not exceed the amount stated. If a range is stated, the price paid must not exceed the bottom of the range.

(b) This restriction shall also apply to any person whose relationship with any asset purchaser is such that, if the asset purchaser were an offeror, that person would be treated as acting in concert with the asset purchaser.

## RULE 5. RESTRICTIONS ON ACQUISITIONS<sup>2</sup>

### 5.1 RESTRICTIONS

(a) Except as permitted by Rule 5.2:

(i) if the voting rights conferred by:

- (1) any securities of a relevant company held by a person or any persons acting in concert with that person; and
- (2) any securities of that company over which rights are held by that person or any persons acting in concert with that person,

(collectively the “initial voting rights” for the purposes of Rule 5) constitute in aggregate less than 30% of the voting rights in the company, neither that person nor any person acting in concert with that person shall acquire any securities (“additional securities”) or any rights (“additional rights”) over securities of that company if, following that acquisition, the aggregate of the initial voting rights and the voting rights conferred by the additional securities and by the securities the subject of the additional rights would constitute 30% or more of the voting rights of the company;

(ii) if the initial voting rights constitute 30% or more of the voting rights in the relevant company concerned, neither the person concerned nor any person acting in concert with that person shall acquire in any 12 month period any securities (“additional securities”) or any rights (“additional rights”) if the additional securities and the securities the subject of the additional rights would confer in aggregate more than 0.05% of the voting rights in that company, provided that a single holder of securities (including persons regarded as such according to Rule 5.5) who holds securities which confer more than 50% of the voting rights in a relevant company shall not be restricted by this subparagraph (ii) from acquiring further securities of that company.

(b) Subject to the exceptions specified in Rule 5.2, all acquisitions of voting securities of a relevant company and of rights over voting securities of that company shall be counted in aggregation for the purposes of paragraph (a), including acquisitions of rights over voting securities where such rights do not entitle their holder to exercise or control the exercise of the voting rights conferred by the underlying securities, provided that no voting right shall be counted more than once in any such aggregation.

(c) Acquisitions of voting securities or of rights over such securities for discretionary clients by fund managers or principal traders connected with an offeror shall, except where they are exempt, be included in the aggregation of acquisitions, unless the Panel consents otherwise. It shall be the duty of the offeror, the financial adviser to the offeror, the fund manager and the principal trader concerned to ensure that such obligation is observed.

(d) Unless the Panel consents otherwise, for the purposes of Rule 5.1 all securities that have been allotted (including securities allotted provisionally) but not yet issued and will upon issue confer voting rights shall be deemed to have been issued.

### 5.2 EXCEPTIONS TO RESTRICTIONS

(a) Without prejudice to the application of Rule 9, the restrictions in Rule 5.1(a) shall not apply to an acquisition of voting securities of a

---

<sup>2</sup> [Rule 5 is not applicable to Shared Jurisdiction Companies.](#)

relevant company, or ~~(except in the case of subparagraph (i))~~ of rights over such securities, by a person:

(i) at any time from a single holder of securities (including persons regarded as such according to Rule 5.5) if it is the only acquisition of such voting securities or of rights over such securities by such person within any period of 7 days. This exception shall not apply if that person has announced a firm intention to make an offer in respect of the company and such offer has not lapsed; or

(ii) immediately before the person announces a firm intention to make an offer in respect of the company ~~(whether or not the making of the offer is to be subject to a pre-condition)~~, provided that the offer will be publicly recommended for acceptance by, or the acquisition is made with the agreement of, the offeree board and the acquisition is conditional upon the announcement of the offer; or

(iii) ~~immediately~~ after the person ~~announces~~ has announced a firm intention to make an offer in respect of the company, provided that ~~such acquisition satisfies a pre-condition to the making of the offer and that the offer has been publicly recommended for acceptance by, or the acquisition is made with the agreement of, the offeree board; or~~

~~(iv) after the person has announced a firm intention to make an offer in respect of the company, provided that the making of the offer is not, at the time of the acquisition, subject to a pre-condition and:~~

(1) the acquisition is made with the agreement of the offeree board; or

(2) that offer or any competing offer<sup>3</sup> has been publicly recommended for acceptance by the offeree board, even if such recommendation is subsequently withdrawn; or

(3) the first closing date of that offer or of any competing offer<sup>4</sup> has passed; or

(4) that offer is unconditional in all respects; or

~~(v)~~ if the acquisition is by way of acceptance of an offer made in accordance with the Rules.

(b) Without prejudice to the application of Rule 9:

(i) Rule 5.1(a) shall not restrict the acquisition of new voting securities, of securities convertible into new voting securities or of rights to subscribe for new voting securities (other than the purchase of rights arising pursuant to a rights issue) nor the acquisition of new or existing voting securities, or of rights over such securities, under an established executive or employee share option scheme nor the acquisition of existing voting securities by the exercise of an option; provided that the foregoing provisions of this subparagraph (i) shall be without prejudice to the subsequent aggregability, for the purposes of Rule 5, of such securities as securities held by the person who so acquired them; and provided further that the acquisition of new voting securities as a result of the exercise of conversion or subscription rights or options shall be treated for the purposes of Rule 5.2(a)(i) as if it were an acquisition from a single holder of securities, and the effective date of such an acquisition shall be deemed to be the date of exercise of the conversion or subscription rights or the options;

<sup>3</sup> See Rule 2.1(c) of Part A.

<sup>4</sup> See Rule 2.1(c) of Part A.

(ii) the restrictions imposed by Rule 5.1 shall not apply to the receipt of bona fide gifts or inheritances. If a person receives a gift or an inheritance of securities as a result of which the voting securities of a relevant company held by that person and the voting securities of the company over which that person holds rights, when aggregated with any voting securities of the company held by any persons acting in concert with that person and any voting securities of the company over which any persons acting in concert with that person hold rights, confer 30% or more of the voting rights in the company, that person shall consult the Panel immediately.

(c) Except with the consent of the Panel, a principal trader shall not be considered to be a single holder of securities for the purposes of Rule 5.2(a)(i).

(d) Except with the consent of the Panel, an acquisition of voting securities or of rights over such securities by a person from a single holder of securities will only be permitted by Rule 5.2(a)(i) if the acquisition is of voting securities or of rights over such securities which securities or rights are held by the single shareholder concerned at the time that the acquisition is agreed.

~~(d)~~(e) If an offeror revises its offer, the exceptions allowed by Rule 5.2 shall apply on the basis of the time periods applicable to the original offer.

#### 5.3 ACQUISITIONS FROM A SINGLE HOLDER OF SECURITIES - CONSEQUENCES

(a) Subject to paragraphs (b) and (c), a person who makes an acquisition of voting securities of a relevant company or of rights over such securities from a single holder of securities permitted by Rule 5.2(a)(i) may not make any further acquisitions of voting securities of that company or of rights over voting securities of that company, except in the circumstances set out in Rule 5.2(a)(ii), (iii), ~~(iv)~~ and (v). If, following such an acquisition from a single holder of securities, that person makes an offer in respect of the company which subsequently lapses, such restriction shall cease to apply.

(b) A person who is restricted by paragraph (a) from making further acquisitions shall cease to be so restricted if the aggregate percentage of the voting rights in the relevant company concerned conferred by any voting securities held by that person or any persons acting in concert with that person and any voting securities over which rights are held by that person or any persons acting in concert with that person is reduced to below 30% of the voting rights in the company (in which case that person shall become subject to Rule 5.1(a)(i)).

(c) The restriction imposed by paragraph (a) shall not prevent a person from receiving that person's entitlement to securities through a rights issue or capitalisation issue provided that the aggregate percentage of the voting rights in the company concerned conferred by the voting securities held by that person and the voting securities over which that person holds rights, when aggregated with any voting securities held by any persons acting in concert with that person and any voting securities over which any persons acting in concert with that person hold rights, is not thereby increased; nor shall such restriction prevent a person from acquiring further securities with the consent of the Panel under Rule 9.1.

#### 5.4 ACQUISITIONS FROM A SINGLE HOLDER OF SECURITIES - DISCLOSURE

A person who makes an acquisition of voting securities of a relevant company or of rights over such securities from a single holder of securities permitted by Rule 5.2(a)(i) shall notify that acquisition and that person's consequent total holding of voting securities, ~~and of rights over voting securities,~~ and interests in relevant securities of the company (including securities held by persons acting in concert with that person) to the company, a Regulatory Information Service and the Panel not later than

12.00 noon on the business day following the date of the acquisition. The notification shall distinguish between the acquisition and existing holdings of voting securities and rights over voting securities and shall specify the following: (i) the nature of any such rights or interests concerned and (ii) the identity of the person dealing and, if different, the owner or controller; and (iii) the number and type of voting securities in each case. Similar details of any short position (whether conditional or absolute and whether in the money or otherwise), including any short position under a derivative, any agreement to sell or any delivery obligation or right to require another person to purchase or take delivery, must also be disclosed. Notification under this Rule 5.4 shall be delivered by ~~facsimile, by hand or, if available, by~~ electronic mail.

#### 5.5 MEANING OF SINGLE HOLDER OF SECURITIES

For the purposes of Rule 5.1 (a)(ii), two or more persons each of whom holds voting securities of a relevant company shall be regarded as a single holder of securities and, for the purposes of Rule 5.2 (a)(i), acquisitions of voting securities of a relevant company ~~or of rights over such securities,~~ from two or more persons shall be regarded as an acquisition from a single holder of securities if but only if in either case:

- (a) one of such persons is a spouse, civil partner, cohabitant, parent, brother, sister or child of the other such person or, as the case may be, of each of the other such persons; or
- (b) one of such persons is (1) a subsidiary, (2) the holding company or (3) a subsidiary of a body corporate which is the holding company, of the other such person or, as the case may be, of each of the other such persons.

**RULE 6. ACQUISITIONS RESULTING IN AN OBLIGATION TO OFFER A  
MINIMUM LEVEL OF CONSIDERATION - VOLUNTARY OFFERS**

**6.1 ACQUISITIONS BEFORE A RULE ~~2.5~~2.7 ANNOUNCEMENT**

Without prejudice to the application of Rule 11 and except with the consent of the Panel, if in the case of a voluntary offer the offeror or any person acting in concert with it has acquired securities of the offeree of a class which is the subject of the offer:

(a) within the period beginning three months prior to the commencement of the offer period and ending at the time of the announcement of the offeror's firm intention to make the offer; or

(b) within the period beginning 12 months prior to the commencement of the offer period and ending at the time of the announcement of the offeror's firm intention to make the offer, if the Panel is of opinion that, having regard to the General Principles, such period is more appropriate in the circumstances of the case and accordingly so directs,

the value of the consideration per security under the offer to be made by the offeror to the holders of securities of the offeree of that class shall not, at the date of the announcement of its firm intention to make the offer, be less than the highest value of the consideration per security paid for any such acquisition.

**6.2 ESTABLISHING THE MINIMUM LEVEL OF CONSIDERATION**

(a) (i) Where the consideration under an offer includes securities which are, or as a condition of the offer are to be, quoted on a recognised market and where the value of those securities is relevant for the purposes of Rule 6, the offeror shall consult the Panel which will require to be satisfied that a value acceptable to the Panel is attributed to those securities.

(ii) Except with the consent of the Panel, securities offered as consideration under an offer shall not be regarded as having a value for the purpose of satisfying any obligation under Rule 6 if the immediate grant of a quotation for those securities on a recognised market is not anticipated under the offer.

(b) For the purposes of Rule 6, the price at which securities of the offeree are acquired shall be the price at which the bargain between the acquirer (or, where applicable, his or her broker acting in an agency capacity) and the vendor is struck. Stamp duty and broker's commission payable by the acquirer shall not be regarded as part of the acquisition price for the purposes of Rule 6. If the bargain is linked to any other transaction, contract or arrangement, the acquirer shall notify the Panel of that fact and of the relevant details and the applicable acquisition price to be adopted for the purposes of Rule 6 shall be subject to the approval of the Panel.

(c) ~~If~~ When acceptors of an offer are ~~to be~~ entitled under ~~the~~ an offer to receive and retain a dividend ~~declared or forecast by the offeree but not yet paid, the offeror or any person acting in concert with it may acquire, in the market or otherwise, securities of the offeree of the class the subject of the offer at prices up to the cum dividend equivalent of the value of the offer without incurring an obligation under Rule 6.1 which has been announced by the offeree but the "ex dividend" date has not yet occurred.~~

(i) the offeror, in establishing the minimum value of the consideration, may deduct from the highest price paid by it (or any person acting in concert with it) during the period to which the Rule applies the amount of the dividend to which offeree shareholders are entitled; and

(ii) once an offer value has been announced, purchases in the market or otherwise during the “cum dividend” period by the offeror (or any person acting in concert with it) may be made at prices up to the aggregate of the offer value and the amount of the dividend without necessitating any revision of the offer.

(d) When acceptors of an offer are not entitled under the offer to receive and retain a dividend which has been announced by the offeree:

(i) the offeror, in establishing the minimum level of the offer, may not deduct from the highest price paid by it (or any person acting in concert with it) during the period to which the Rule applies the amount of the dividend; and

(ii) once an offer value has been announced, purchases in the market or otherwise during the “cum dividend” period by the offeror (or any person acting in concert with it) may be made at prices up to the offer value without necessitating any revision of the offer.

~~(d)(e)~~ If, during the applicable period under Rule 6.1, the offeror or any person acting in concert with it has acquired any convertible securities, warrants, options or other subscription rights ~~relating to over new or existing~~ securities (in this paragraph (d) referred to as the “underlying securities”) of ~~the a~~ class the subject of the offer and such convertible securities, warrants, options or other subscription rights are converted or exercised (as applicable), such acquisition shall be treated for the purposes of Rule 6.1 as if it were an acquisition of the underlying securities at a price calculated by reference to the acquisition price of such convertible securities, warrants, options or other subscription rights and the consideration (if any) paid on their conversion or exercise. Any person in doubt as to his or her obligations under this paragraph (~~de~~) shall consult the Panel.

No obligation under Rule 6.1 will be incurred in respect of the acquisitions of securities convertible into, warrants in respect of, or options or other rights to subscribe for or acquire, new or existing securities before exercise or conversion as applicable. No obligation will be incurred under Rule 6.1 by the offeror or any person acting in concert with it if during the applicable period under Rule 6.1 the offeror or any person acting in concert with it exercises or converts (as applicable) such convertible securities, warrants, options or other subscription rights that were acquired before the commencement of the Rule applicable period under Rule 6.1.

~~(e)(f)~~ An offeror or any person acting in concert with it who has at any relevant time acquired securities of the offeree of a class the subject of the offer for a consideration other than cash shall be deemed, for the purposes of Rule 6.1, to have acquired those securities at a price per security equal to the value of that consideration at the time of the acquisition, which value shall be established by an independent valuation, a copy of which shall be submitted by the offeror to the Panel in advance of the determination or revision of the offer price.

## RULE 7. CONSEQUENCES OF CERTAIN DEALINGS

### 7.1 IMMEDIATE ANNOUNCEMENT REQUIRED IF THE OFFER HAS TO BE AMENDED

(a) If, by reason of an offeror or any person acting in concert with it having acquired securities of the offeree, the offeror becomes obliged under Rule 6, 9, 11 or 37 to revise the offer, the offeror shall immediately make an appropriate announcement to that effect. Such announcement shall also state the number of securities acquired and the price paid and shall include the details prescribed by Rule ~~2.5(b)~~2.7(b).

(b) An immediate announcement shall also be made by an offeror (whether previously named or not) in the case of an announced possible offer where:

(i) there has been a public indication of the probable amount of its offer price and the offeror or any person acting in concert with it acquires securities of the offeree at a price per security above that amount; or

(ii) an offer in respect of the same offeree has been made or announced under Rule ~~2.5-2.7~~ by a third party and has not lapsed or been withdrawn and the first mentioned offeror or any person acting in concert with it acquires securities of the offeree at a price above the value of the consideration per security under that offer.

The announcement shall include the number of securities acquired and the price paid.

### 7.2 DEALINGS BY CONNECTED DISCRETIONARY FUND MANAGERS AND CONNECTED PRINCIPAL TRADERS<sup>5</sup>

(a) (i) A discretionary fund manager or a principal trader which is connected with the offeror shall, subject to paragraph (b), be presumed for the purposes of the Act (until the contrary is established to the satisfaction of the Panel) to be acting in concert with the offeror once the identity of that offeror is publicly known or, if earlier, from the time at which the connected party has reason to believe that the person with whom it is connected may make an offer.

(ii) Similarly, a discretionary fund manager or a principal trader which is connected with the offeree shall during the offer period or, if earlier, from the time at which the connected party has reason to believe that an offer may be made in respect of the offeree and that it is connected with the offeree, subject to paragraph (b), be presumed for the purposes of the Act (until the contrary is established to the satisfaction of the Panel) to be acting in concert with the offeree.

(iii) Fund managers and principal traders shall consult the Panel before dealing in securities of the offeree if an obligation under, or an infringement of, Rule 5, 6, 9 or 11.1(a)(iii) would or might be incurred or caused in consequence of such dealing.

(b) The presumptions in paragraph (a) and in Rule 3.3(b)(v) of Part A shall not apply to an exempt fund manager or an exempt principal trader which is connected with an offeror or offeree if the sole reason for that connection is that the fund manager or principal trader is controlled by, controls or is under the same control as a financial or other professional adviser (including a stockbroker) acting in relation to the offer for the offeror or (as the case may be) the offeree.

(c) Whilst paragraph (a)(i) may not, depending on the circumstances, apply to dealings by discretionary fund managers or principal traders

<sup>5</sup> Rule 7.2 is not applicable to Shared Jurisdiction Companies.

connected with an offeror before its identity is publicly known, if, once that identity is publicly known, it becomes apparent that the securities of the offeree held by the offeror and persons acting in concert with it, including securities held by discretionary fund managers or principal traders to which the presumption in paragraph (a)(i) applies, confer 30% or more of the voting rights in the offeree, the offeror shall consult the Panel immediately.

RULE 8. DISCLOSURE OF DEALINGS AND POSITIONS DURING THE OFFER PERIOD; ALSO INDEMNITY AND OTHER ARRANGEMENTS

8.1 DEALINGS BY AND POSITIONS OF PARTIES AND ~~BY~~ PERSONS ACTING IN CONCERT WITH THEM FOR THEMSELVES OR FOR DISCRETIONARY CLIENTS

(a) An offeror shall make an opening position disclosure:

(i) after the announcement that first identifies it as an offeror; and

(ii) after the announcement that first identifies a competing securities exchange offeror.

(b) An offeree shall make an opening position disclosure:

(i) after the commencement of the offer period; and

(ii) if later, after the announcement that first identifies any securities exchange offeror.

~~(a)(c)~~ Subject to Rule 8.9 and except as provided in paragraph ~~(e)~~, all dealings in relevant securities by an offeror or the offeree, or by any party acting in concert with either of them, for its own account during an offer period shall be publicly disclosed in accordance with Rules 8.4 to 8.6.

~~(b)(d)~~ (i) Subject to Rule 8.9, all dealings in relevant securities by an offeror or the offeree, or by any party acting in concert with either of them, for the account of discretionary investment clients during the offer period (excluding dealings to which subparagraph (ii) applies) shall be publicly disclosed in accordance with Rules 8.4 to 8.6.

(ii) Subject to Rule 8.9, all dealings in relevant securities for the account of discretionary clients during an offer period by an exempt fund manager connected with the offeror or the offeree shall be privately disclosed in accordance with Rules 8.4 to 8.6 except where Rule 8.3 applies.

~~(e)~~ Dealings and positions in relevant securities by an exempt principal trader connected with an offeror or the offeree shall be disclosed publicly in accordance with ~~Rule~~ Rules 38.5 and 38.6.

8.2 DEALINGS BY PARTIES AND BY PERSONS ACTING IN CONCERT WITH THEM FOR NON-DISCRETIONARY CLIENTS

Subject to Rule 8.9 and except with the consent of the Panel, all dealings in relevant securities during an offer period by an offeror or the offeree, or by any party acting in concert with either of them, for the account of non-discretionary investment clients (other than an offeror, the offeree and any party acting in concert with either of them) shall be privately disclosed in accordance with Rules 8.4 to 8.6.

8.3 DEALINGS BY AND POSITIONS OF PERSONS WITH INTERESTS IN RELEVANT SECURITIES REPRESENTING 1% OR MORE

(a) Any person who is interested in 1% or more of any class of relevant securities of an offeror or of the offeree shall make an opening position disclosure after the commencement of an offer period and, if later, after the announcement that first identifies the offeror.

~~(a)(b)~~ Subject to paragraphs ~~(b)(c)~~ to ~~(f)(g)~~ and Rule 8.9, if a person (whether or not acting in concert with the offeree or the offeror) is interested in 1% or more of any class of relevant securities of ~~the an~~ offeror or of the offeree, or as a result of a transaction will be interested in 1% or more of any such class, all dealings during an offer period in any relevant securities of ~~that company the offeree and any offeror~~ by such person (or any other person through whom the interest is derived) shall be publicly disclosed in accordance with Rules 8.4 to 8.6.

~~(b)(c)~~ A disclosure of a dealing shall not be required under this Rule 8.3 unless the person dealing is interested in 1% or more of any class of relevant securities of an offeror or the company concerned-offeree at midnight on the day of the dealing or was so interested at midnight on the previous business day.

~~(e)(d)~~ If two or more persons co-operate on the basis of an agreement, either express or tacit, either oral or written, to acquire for one or more of them an interest in relevant securities, they shall be deemed to be a single person for the purposes of ~~paragraph~~ paragraphs (a) and (b).

~~(d)(e)~~ If a person manages investment accounts on a discretionary basis, he or she, and not the person on whose behalf the relevant securities concerned (or interests in such securities) are managed, shall be deemed for the purposes of ~~paragraph~~ paragraphs (a) and (b) to be interested in those relevant securities. Except where the Panel consents otherwise, where more than one discretionary investment management operation is conducted within a group consisting of a company, any companies controlled by it and any companies under the same control as it, the interests in relevant securities of all such operations shall be deemed for the purposes of this Rule as those of a single person and shall be aggregated.

~~(e)(f)~~ (i) Paragraphs (a) to ~~(de)~~ shall not apply to a recognised intermediary acting in a client-serving capacity, but if such a recognised intermediary:

- (1) is, or forms part of, a person acting in concert with the offeree; or
- (2) is, or forms part of, a person acting in concert with the offeror and the identity of that offeror has been publicly announced,

the recognised intermediary shall disclose in accordance with Rule 8.1 unless it is, or forms part of, an exempt principal trader connected with an offeror or the offeree, in which case it shall disclose in accordance with ~~Rule Rules~~ 38.5 and 38.6.

(ii) If a recognised intermediary holds or deals in relevant securities other than in a client-serving capacity, it shall disclose all such holdings and dealings in accordance with Rule 8.3(a) to ~~(de)~~, provided that in making such disclosure the relevant intermediary need not aggregate or disclose details of any interests in relevant securities or of short positions which in either case it holds in a client-serving capacity.

~~(fg)~~ A person who, but for this paragraph, would be obliged to disclose a dealing under either Rule ~~8.1(a)(8.1(c))~~ or ~~8.1(b)(i8.1(d)(i))~~ and also Rule 8.3 shall cease to be obliged to disclose it under Rule 8.3 if he or she duly discloses it under Rule ~~8.1(a)(8.1(c))~~ or (as applicable) ~~8.1(b)(i8.1(d)(i))~~.

#### 8.4 TIMING OF DISCLOSURE

~~(a)~~ An opening position disclosure shall be made no later than 12 noon, in the case of Rules 8.1(a) and 8.1(b) and Rules 38.6(a) and (b), and 3.30pm in the case of Rule 8.3(a), on the day falling 10 business days after the commencement of the offer period or the announcement that first identifies an offeror, as applicable.

~~(a)(b)~~ Both public and private ~~disclosure-dealing disclosures~~ required by Rules 8.1-~~(c)~~, ~~8.1(d)~~ and ~~8.1(e)~~, ~~Rule 8.2~~ and Rule 38.5 shall be made no later than 12.00 noon on the business day following the date of the transaction.

~~(b)(c)~~ Public ~~disclosure-dealing disclosures~~ required by Rule 8.3 shall be made no later than 3.30 p.m. on the business day following the date of the transaction.

## 8.5 METHOD OF DISCLOSURE (PUBLIC AND PRIVATE)

(a) ~~Public disclosure under Rules 8.1(a), 8.1(b)(i), 8.1(c) and 8.3 shall be made, 8.1(c), 8.1(d)(i) and 8.1(e), Rules 8.3(a) and (b), Rule 38.5 and Rules 38.6 (a) and (b) shall be made to a Regulatory Information Service in typed format by electronic delivery and, except with the consent of the Panel, the time at which an announcement shall be deemed to be made shall be the time of publication of such announcement by the Regulatory Information Service concerned. Dealings shall be disclosed by written notification in accordance with Rule 2.9, sent by facsimile, by hand or by electronic mail.~~

If parties to an offer or persons acting in concert with them make press announcements regarding dealings in addition to making formal disclosures, they shall ensure that no confusion results.

Public disclosure shall be made by the person who deals or by an agent acting on its behalf. If there is more than one agent (including, inter alia, a financial adviser and a stockbroker), the person who deals and its agents shall take particular care to ensure that the responsibility for disclosure is agreed between them and that it is neither overlooked nor duplicated.

(b) Private disclosure under Rules ~~8.1(b)~~8.1(d) (ii) and 8.2 shall be made to the Panel only. Dealings shall be disclosed by ~~written notification sent by facsimile, by hand or by~~ electronic mail.

## 8.6 DETAILS TO BE INCLUDED IN DISCLOSURES (PUBLIC AND PRIVATE)

(a) ~~(i) Public disclosures. An opening position disclosure under Rules 8.1(a), 8.1(b) or 8.3(a) and 8.1(b)(i) Rules 38.6(a) and (b) shall follow the format of the specimen disclosure form forms (Form 8.1(a)&(b)(i), Form 8.3 or (as appropriate) (Form 38.5(b) & 38.6) as set out in Appendix 3. Public disclosures under Rule 8.3 shall follow the format of the specimen disclosure form (Form 8.3) as set out in Appendix 3. (ii) A public disclosure of dealings shall and shall, subject to Rule 8.9, include the following information:~~

~~(1) the total of the relevant securities concerned of an offeror or of the offeree in which the dealing took place;~~

~~(2) the prices paid or received (in the case of an average price bargain, each underlying trade shall be disclosed);~~

~~(3) the identity of the person dealing (1) the identity of the person disclosing and, if different, the person owning or controlling the interest;~~

~~(2) details of all relevant securities of the offeree or any offeror in which the person disclosing has an interest, in each case specifying the nature of the interests concerned. Similar details of all short positions (whether conditional or absolute and whether in the money or otherwise) of the person so disclosing in any class of relevant securities of the offeree or an offeror, as the case may be, including any short position under a derivative, any agreement to sell or any delivery obligation or right to require another person to purchase or take delivery, shall also be disclosed;~~

~~(3) the percentage or percentages of the class or classes of relevant securities concerned which each of the interests disclosed pursuant to subparagraph (2) above represents;~~

~~(4) if relevant, details in accordance with Rule 8.7 of any arrangements to which that Rule applies; and~~

~~(5) where the disclosure is being made by an offeror or the offeree, the details in (2) and (3) above~~

shall include the interests, short positions and Rule 8.7 arrangements of any party acting in concert with either of them and an explanation of how that status arises (stating all the reasons, if there are more than one).

(b) (i) A public dealing disclosure under Rules 8.1(c) and 8.1(d)(i) shall follow the format of the specimen disclosure form (Form 8.1(c)&(d)(i)) as set out in Appendix 3 and a public disclosure under Rule 8.3 shall follow the format of the specimen disclosure form (Form 8.3) as set out in Appendix 3.

(ii) A public disclosure of dealings shall, subject to Rule 8.9, include the following information:

(1) the total of the relevant securities concerned of any offeror or of the offeree in which the dealing took place;

(2) the prices paid or received (in the case of an average price bargain, each underlying trade shall be disclosed);

(3) the identity of the person dealing and, if different, the person owning or controlling the interest;

(4) if the dealing is by a person acting in concert, an explanation of how that status arises (stating all of the reasons, if there are more than one);

~~(5) details of all relevant securities of the offeree or an~~ (5) details of all relevant securities of the offeree or any offeror, as the case may be, in which the person disclosing has an interest, in each case specifying the nature of the interests concerned. Similar details of all short positions (whether conditional or absolute and whether in the money or otherwise) of the person so disclosing in any class of relevant securities of the offeree or an offeror, as the case may be, including any short position under a derivative, any agreement to sell or any delivery obligation or right to require another person to purchase or take delivery, shall also be disclosed;

(6) the percentage or percentages of the class or classes of relevant securities concerned which each of the interests disclosed pursuant to subparagraph (5) above represents;

(7) if relevant, details in accordance with Rule 8.7 of any arrangements to which that Rule applies; and

(8) if the disclosure is made under Rule 8.3, a statement to that effect.

~~(iii) Where an offeror or any person acting in concert with it acquires any interest in relevant securities of the offeree on a specially cum or specially ex dividend basis, details of that fact shall also be disclosed.~~

(c) For the purposes of Rule 8.6:

(i) in determining whether an obligation arises to make an opening position disclosure under Rule 8.3(a), the interests and short positions required to be assessed are those existing or outstanding at the time of the announcement that commences the

offer period or the time of the announcement that first identifies the offeror, as the case may be;

(ii) in respect of an opening position disclosure, the interests and short positions required to be disclosed are those existing or outstanding at midnight on the date immediately preceding the date on which the disclosure is made;

(iii) in respect of a dealing disclosure, the interests and short positions required to be disclosed are those existing or outstanding at midnight on the date of the dealing concerned;

(iv) Percentages in respect of an opening position disclosure or a dealing disclosure, percentages shall be calculated by reference to the numbers of relevant securities disclosed by the offeree concerned or (where applicable) by the offeror concerned, as appropriate, in its latest announcement pursuant to Rule 2.40.2.12;

(v) in respect of an opening position disclosure or a dealing disclosure, the disclosure shall include confirmation whether the person making the disclosure is on the same day disclosing, or has previously disclosed, details in respect of the relevant securities of any other party or parties to the offer under Rule 8;

(vi) in respect of a dealing disclosure, where an offeror or any person acting in concert with it acquires any interest in relevant securities of the offeree on a specially cum or specially ex dividend basis, details of that fact shall also be disclosed;

(vii) in respect of an opening position disclosure or a dealing disclosure, and in the case of agreements to purchase or sell, options or derivatives, full details shall be given so that the nature of the interest, position or dealing can be fully understood. For options, this shall include a description of the options concerned, the number of securities under option, the exercise period (or, in the case of exercise, the exercise date), the exercise price and any money paid or received. For derivatives, this shall include, at least, a description of the derivatives concerned, the number of reference securities to which they relate (when relevant), the maturity date (or, if applicable, the closing out date) and the reference price (and any fee payable on entering into the derivative);

(viii) In addition, in respect of an opening position disclosure or a dealing disclosure, if there exists any agreement, arrangement or understanding, formal or informal, between the person dealing and any other person relating to the voting rights conferred by any relevant securities under option or relating to the voting rights conferred by, or future acquisition or disposal of, any relevant securities to which a derivative is referenced, as the case may be, full details of such agreement, arrangement or understanding, identifying the relevant securities concerned, shall be included in the disclosure. If there is no such agreement, arrangement or understanding, that fact shall be stated. Where such an agreement, arrangement or understanding is entered into at a later date than the derivative or option to which it relates, it shall be deemed to be a dealing in relevant securities;

(ix) For the purposes of the in respect of a dealing disclosure of dealings, a futures contract or covered warrant for which exercise includes the possibility of delivery of the underlying securities shall be treated as an option. A futures contract or covered warrant that does not include the possibility of delivery of the underlying securities shall be treated as a derivative;

(x) If, following a public disclosure made under Rule 8, interests in relevant securities are transferred into or out of a person's management in a manner that does not constitute a

dealing, a reference to the transfer shall be included in the next public disclosure made by that person under Rule 8.3; and

~~(ix)~~ A a disclosure by an exempt fund manager or an exempt principal trader shall specify the name of the offeror or the offeree with which it is connected and the nature of the connection.

(d) Where a party that is required to make, but has not yet made, an opening position disclosure deals in any relevant securities of the offeree or of the offeror before the relevant deadline under Rule 8.4(a), in the case of:

(1) an offeree or an offeror, it shall make a dealing disclosure in accordance with Rule 8.1(c) no later than 12.00 noon on the business day following the date of the transaction, and an opening position disclosure by the relevant deadline under Rule 8.4(a), in respect of the interests and short positions of itself and any parties acting in concert with it;

(2) a person with an interest in relevant securities representing 1% or more, they will not be required to make an opening position disclosure but shall make a dealing disclosure under Rule 8.3(b); and

(3) an exempt principal trader, they will not be required to make an opening position disclosure but shall make a dealing disclosure under Rule 8.5.

~~(b)~~ (e) (i) Private disclosure under Rule ~~8.1(b)(ii)~~ 8.1(d)(ii) by exempt fund managers connected with an offeror or the offeree shall follow the format of the specimen disclosure form (Form ~~8.1(b)(ii)~~ 8.1(d)(ii)), as set out in Appendix 3.

(ii) A private disclosure under Rule 8.2 shall include the identity of the person dealing, the total of relevant securities in which the dealing took place and the prices paid or received (in the case of an average price bargain, each underlying trade shall be disclosed). Disclosures under Rule 8.2 shall follow the format of the specimen disclosure form (Form 8.2), as set out in Appendix 3. In the case of dealings in options or derivatives, the same information as specified in paragraph ~~(a)~~ (b) shall be required.

~~(c) For the purposes of Rule 8.6, the interests and short positions required to be disclosed are those existing or outstanding at midnight on the date of the dealing concerned.~~

## 8.7 INDEMNITY AND OTHER ARRANGEMENTS

(a) In these Rules, the expression “arrangement to which Rule 8.7 applies” means any indemnity or option arrangement, and any agreement or understanding, formal or informal, of whatever nature between two or more persons, relating to relevant securities which is or may be an inducement to one or more of such persons to deal or refrain from dealing in such securities.

(b) Without prejudice to the application of Rule 4.4(c), ~~and subject to Rule 8.7(c),~~ if an arrangement to which Rule 8.7 applies exists with any offeror, with the offeree or with any person acting in concert with any offeror or with the offeree in relation to relevant securities, the offeror, the offeree or (as the case may be) the person so acting in concert shall disclose publicly, in accordance with Rules 8.4 to 8.6, the details of such arrangement and the parties thereto as if it were a dealing in relevant securities, whether or not any dealing takes place.

(c) Where an offeree has entered into an arrangement to which Rule 8.7 applies before the commencement of the offer period or an offeror has

entered into such an arrangement before the announcement that first identifies it as an offeror, details of such arrangement must be disclosed in the announcement that commences the offer period or the announcement that first identifies the offeror (as the case may be).

**8.8 RESPONSIBILITIES OF STOCKBROKERS, BANKS AND OTHER INTERMEDIARIES**

Stockbrokers, banks and others who deal in relevant securities on behalf of clients during an offer period shall ensure, so far as is practicable, that those clients are aware of the disclosure obligations attaching to persons acting in concert and other persons under Rule 8 and that those clients are willing to comply with them; and principal traders and dealers who deal directly with investors during an offer period shall, where appropriate, likewise draw the attention of such investors to the relevant Rules; provided however that this obligation shall not apply to an intermediary in the case of any client where the total value of the dealings (excluding stamp duty and commission) in any relevant security undertaken by that intermediary for that client (including persons known to be acting in concert with the client) during any period of 7 days is less than €70,000. This dispensation shall not affect the obligation of principals, of persons acting in concert with them or of other persons themselves to initiate disclosure of their own dealings, whatever total value is involved.

**8.9 POSITIONS AND DEALINGS NOT REQUIRED TO BE DISCLOSED**

Where an offeror has announced that an offer or possible offer is, or is likely to be, wholly in cash, Rules 8.1, 8.2 and 8.3 shall not require the disclosure of positions or dealings in relevant securities of the offeror.

## RULE 9. THE MANDATORY OFFER AND ITS TERMS

### 9.1 WHEN A MANDATORY OFFER IS REQUIRED AND WHO IS RESPONSIBLE FOR MAKING IT

Except with the consent of the Panel, if:

- (a) any person, or any persons acting in concert, acquire control of a relevant company (otherwise than in the circumstances referred to in Rule 37(a)(i)); or
- (b) any person, or any persons acting in concert, who control a relevant company acquire within any period of 12 months additional securities of such an amount as will increase by more than 0.05% the aggregate percentage of the voting rights in that company conferred by the securities held by him, her or ~~them,~~<sup>6</sup> ~~them.~~<sup>6</sup>

such person or, in the case of persons acting in concert, such one or more of those persons as the Panel shall direct shall extend an offer, in accordance with the requirements of Rules 9.2, 9.3 and 9.4, to the holders of each class of equity share capital of the relevant company, whether or not such class confers voting rights, and also to the holders of each other class of transferable voting securities of the company, provided that a single holder of securities (including persons regarded as such for the purposes of Rule 5.1(a)(ii)) who holds securities which confer more than 50% of the voting rights in a relevant company may acquire additional securities of that company without incurring an obligation under Rule 9.1. The person who is, or in the case of persons acting in concert the persons who are or may become, obliged to make an offer under Rule 9 shall consult the Panel in all cases in which offers are to be made for more than one class of share capital of the offeree. Offers made by the offeror for different classes of share capital of the offeree shall be comparable.

An offer shall not be required under this Rule where control of a relevant company is acquired as a result of a voluntary offer made in accordance with the Rules (including, where applicable, Rules 14 and 15) to all the holders of equity share capital conferring voting rights and other transferable voting securities of that company in respect of their entire holdings.

### 9.2 RESOURCES, CONDITIONS AND CONSENTS

- (a) No acquisition of securities which would give rise to an obligation to make an offer under Rule 9 shall be made by any person unless such person and his or her financial advisers are satisfied that such person is able and will continue at all relevant times to be able to implement the offer.
- (b) Except with the consent of the Panel:
  - (i) an offer made under Rule 9 shall, subject to Rule 12, be conditional only upon the offeror having received acceptances in respect of shares which, together with securities acquired or agreed to be acquired before or during the offer period, will result in the offeror and any persons acting in concert with it holding in the aggregate securities conferring more than 50% of the voting rights in the offeree; and
  - (ii) no acquisition of securities which would give rise to an obligation to make an offer under Rule 9 may be made by any person if the making or implementation of such offer would or might be dependent upon the passing of a resolution at any meeting of shareholders of the offeror or upon any other condition, consent or arrangement (other than the acceptance condition and the condition required by Rule 12(a)(i)(1)).
- (c) If an offer under Rule 9 lapses because a purchase of securities of the offeree may not be counted by reason of Rule 10.4 and subsequently

---

<sup>6</sup> Paragraph (b) in Rule 9.1 is not applicable to Shared Jurisdiction Companies.

the purchase is completed, the offeror shall consult the Panel. In such circumstances the Panel may direct the offeror to make a new offer in respect of the offeree, to reduce its holding of securities of the offeree or to take such other action as the Panel may consider appropriate.

### **9.3 THE COMPETITION ACT AND THE EUROPEAN COMMISSION**

(a) Where applicable, every offer under Rule 9 shall be made subject to the conditions required by Rule 12(a) and (b).

(b) If an offer under Rule 9 is made subject to the condition specified in Rule 12(a)(i)(1) and the offer lapses as a result of that condition not being satisfied, the Panel may direct the offeror and any persons acting in concert with it or any of them to reduce their holdings of securities of the offeree so that the aggregate percentage of the voting rights in the offeree conferred by their holdings is reduced to below 30%, or to its original percentage level before the obligation to make an offer was incurred if that was 30% or more.

(c) If an offer under Rule 9 lapses pursuant to Rule 12(b), the obligation under Rule 9.1 to make an offer shall nonetheless continue and, accordingly, if thereafter the proposed transaction is allowed by the European Commission or (as the case may be) the competent authority of a Member State to which the European Commission referred the proposed transaction, the offeror shall make a new offer in respect of the same offeree on the same terms and at not less than the same price as soon as practicable. If the proposed transaction is prohibited by the European Commission or such competent authority and the offer therefore cannot be made, the Panel may, if there is no decision to such effect by the European Commission or such competent authority, direct the offeror and any persons acting in concert with it or any of them to reduce their holdings of securities of the offeree so that the aggregate percentage of the voting rights in the offeree conferred by their holdings is reduced to below 30%, or to its original percentage level before the obligation to make an offer was incurred if that was 30% or more. Whilst the Panel may require an offeror whose offer has lapsed pursuant to Rule 12(b) to proceed with all due diligence before the European Commission or (as the case may be) a competent authority of a Member State, if, with the consent of the Panel, the offeror and any persons acting in concert with it sell to unconnected parties within a limited period sufficient securities of the offeree to reduce the aggregate percentage of the voting rights in the offeree conferred by their holdings to below 30%, or to its original percentage level before the obligation under Rule 9.1 to make an offer was incurred if that was 30% or more, that obligation shall cease and the relevant offer period shall end.

(d) While the European Commission or (as the case may be) a competent authority of a Member State is considering the case following such an initiation of proceedings or referral as is referred to in Rule 12(b), neither the offeror nor any person acting in concert with it may acquire any further securities of the offeree without the consent of the Panel.

### **9.4 CONSIDERATION TO BE OFFERED**

(a) Except with the consent of the Panel and subject as otherwise provided by this Rule 9.4, an offer made under Rule 9 shall in respect of each class of shares the subject of the offer be in cash, or be accompanied by a cash alternative offer, at a price per share which shall not be less than the highest value of the consideration per share paid by the offeror or any person acting in concert with it for shares of the offeree of that class during the period (in Rule 9.4 referred to as the "relevant period") beginning 12 months prior to the announcement by the offeror of a firm intention to make that offer and ending on the date on which the offer closes for acceptance. Accordingly, if after the time of the announcement of the offeror's firm intention to make the offer but before the offer closes for acceptance, the offeror or any person acting in concert with it acquires shares in the offeree of a class the subject of the offer at a price per share higher than the offer price, the offeror shall increase the offer price in respect of that class of shares to not less than the highest price per share paid for any of the shares so acquired. Immediately after any such acquisition, the offeror shall announce that a revised offer will be made in

accordance with Rule 9.4. Such announcement shall also state the number of shares so acquired and the price paid for them and shall include the details prescribed by Rule 2.5(b)2.7(b). After an offer made under Rule 9 has become unconditional as to acceptances, the cash offer or (as the case may be) the cash alternative offer shall remain open for not less than 14 days after the date on which it would otherwise have expired. The offeror shall consult the Panel if it is making offers in respect of more than one class of shares of the offeree.

(b) Subject as otherwise provided by Rule 9.4, if during the relevant period the offeror or any person acting in concert with it acquires shares in the offeree of a class the subject of the offer for a consideration other than cash, such acquisition shall be deemed for the purposes of paragraph (a) to be an acquisition of the shares concerned at a price equal to the value of that consideration at the time of the acquisition. The value of any such consideration shall be established by an independent valuation, a copy of which shall be submitted by the offeror to the Panel in advance of the determination or revision of the offer price.

(c) If in the case of an offer under Rule 9 the offeror or any person acting in concert with it makes during the relevant period an acquisition of shares in the offeree of a class the subject of the offer in exchange for securities, the Panel may require the offeror, in addition to making a cash offer, to offer such securities to all shareholders of the offeree on such terms as the Panel shall determine to be appropriate. The offeror shall consult the Panel in any case in which it or any person acting in concert with it acquires during the relevant period any shares in the offeree of a class the subject of the offer in exchange for securities.

(d) (i) For the purposes of paragraph (a), the price at which shares in the offeree are acquired by the offeror or any person acting in concert with it shall be the price at which the bargain between the acquirer (or, where applicable, his or her broker acting in an agency capacity) and the vendor (or principal trader) is struck. Stamp duty and broker's commission payable by the acquirer shall not be regarded as part of the acquisition price for the purposes of paragraph (a). If the bargain is linked to any other transaction, contract or arrangement, the acquirer shall notify the Panel of that fact and of the relevant details and the Panel will determine the applicable acquisition price for the purposes of paragraph (a).

(ii) If during the relevant period the offeror or any person acting in concert with it acquires shares in the offeree (in this subparagraph (ii) referred to as the "underlying shares") of a class the subject of the offer by the conversion or exercise (as applicable) of convertible securities, warrants, options or other subscription rights over new or existing shares, for the purposes of paragraph (a) the price paid for the underlying shares shall (where the counterparty is the offeree) be established by reference to the market price of the shares so acquired at the close of business on the day on which the relevant conversion or exercise notice was submitted to the offeree and otherwise shall be the consideration (if any) paid to the counterparty on their conversion or exercise, provided however that if the convertible securities, warrants, options or subscription rights were themselves acquired during the relevant period, such acquisition shall be treated for the purposes of paragraph (a) as if it were an acquisition of the underlying shares at a price calculated by reference to the acquisition price of such convertible securities, warrants, options or subscription rights and the consideration (if any) paid on their conversion or exercise.

In the circumstances described in subparagraph (ii) above, the offeror shall consult the Panel in advance of the determination or revision of the offer price.

~~(c) In establishing the minimum value of the cash offer for the purposes of paragraph (a), Rule 6.2(c) shall apply.~~

(e) Rule 6.2 (c) and (d) shall apply for the purposes of Rule 9.4(a) as if the references in that Rule to an offer were a reference to an offer under Rule 9.

(f) In certain circumstances, the Panel may, having regard to the General Principles, determine that the highest price calculated under paragraph (a) shall be adjusted. Circumstances which the Panel may take into account when considering such an adjustment are:

- (i) the size and timing of the relevant purchases;
- (ii) the attitude of the offeree board;
- (iii) where securities had been purchased from directors or other persons closely connected with the offeror or the offeree, the price at which such securities were purchased;
- (iv) the number of securities purchased in the preceding 12 months, and the pattern of such purchases, by number of securities and prices paid, over that period;
- (v) if an offer is required in order to enable a company in serious financial difficulty to be rescued;
- (vi) if an offer is required as a result of a person acquiring securities by way of bona fide gift or inheritance; and
- (vii) if the market prices of the securities have been manipulated or affected by exceptional occurrences.

In any case in which the highest price is adjusted under this Rule, the Panel will publish its decision.

(g) The consent of the Panel under paragraph (a) to an offer consideration which does not consist of cash or include a cash alternative will not be granted where:

- (i) the consideration does not consist of liquid securities admitted to trading on a recognised market; or
- (ii) the offeror or persons acting in concert with the offeror have purchased for cash during the relevant period securities carrying 5% or more of the voting rights in the offeree.

#### 9.5 OBLIGATIONS OF DIRECTORS DISPOSING OF SECURITIES

If any director of a relevant company proposes to dispose or procure the disposal of securities of that company owned or controlled by that director (or their spouse, civil partner, cohabitant, parents, brothers, sisters, ~~and~~ children or a trust of which such director or any such member of their family is a beneficiary or potential beneficiary-) to a person (in this Rule 9.5 referred to as the "acquirer") and he or she knows that as a result of such disposal the acquirer will or may be required to make an offer under Rule 9 in respect of that company, such director shall ensure that as a condition of the disposal the acquirer undertakes to fulfil his or her obligations under that Rule; and except with the consent of the Panel, such director may not resign from the board of the offeree until the first closing date of the offer or, if later, the date on which the offer becomes unconditional in all respects or lapses.

#### 9.6 RESTRICTIONS ON EXERCISE OF CONTROL BY AN OFFEROR

Except with the consent of the Panel, if an obligation to make an offer in respect of a relevant company arises under Rule 9, neither any person who is, or being one of a number of parties acting in concert who is or may become, obliged to make such offer nor any person acting in concert with any such person may exercise the voting rights conferred by any securities held in that company, until the offer document has been ~~despatched~~sent.

#### 9.7 TRIGGERING RULE 9 DURING AN OFFER PERIOD

The offeror in a voluntary offer shall consult the Panel in advance if it proposes during the offer period to incur an obligation to make an offer under Rule 9 in respect of the same offeree. If the offeror incurs such an obligation, it shall immediately announce its obligation to make an offer under Rule 9. Neither an offeror in a voluntary offer nor any person acting in concert with it shall make an acquisition of securities which gives rise to an obligation to make an offer under Rule 9 unless the offer can remain open for acceptance for a further 14 days following the date on which the amended offer document is to be ~~despatched~~sent. If no change in the consideration is involved, it shall be sufficient for the offeror, following its announcement of the offer under Rule 9, to notify in writing the shareholders of the offeree of the revised total holding of relevant securities in the offeree held by the offeror and persons acting in concert with it, of the fact that, subject to Rules 9.2 and 12, the acceptance condition (in the form required by Rule 9.2) is the only remaining condition of the offer, and of the period for which the offer will remain open following posting of the notification.

## RULE 10. THE ACCEPTANCE CONDITION

### 10.1 FORM OF THE ACCEPTANCE CONDITION - VOLUNTARY OFFERS

Except with the consent of the Panel, it shall be a condition of any voluntary offer for equity share capital conferring voting rights or for other transferable voting securities which, if accepted in full, could result in the offeror holding securities conferring more than 50% of the voting rights in the offeree that the offer shall not become unconditional as to acceptances unless the offeror has acquired or agreed to acquire (either pursuant to the offer or otherwise) securities conferring more than 50% of the voting rights in the offeree.

For the purposes of the acceptance condition, the offeror shall take account of all shares conferring voting rights (or which, in the case of shares allotted but not yet issued, will upon issue confer voting rights) that are unconditionally allotted or issued before the offer becomes unconditional as to acceptances, whether pursuant to the exercise of conversion or subscription rights or otherwise. If in any case (including, inter alia, as a result of a rights issue) shares have been allotted in renounceable form (including shares allotted provisionally), the offeree shall consult the Panel promptly.

### 10.2 INFORMATION TO OFFEROR AND EXTENSION OF OFFER TO NEW SHARES

Following the announcement of a firm intention to make an offer, the offeree shall, on request, provide the offeror as soon as possible with all material details of the issued shares in the offeree (including a copy of the register of members), of the other securities of the offeree in issue and, to the extent not issued, of the allotted shares in the offeree, and all material details of any conversion or subscription rights or any other rights pursuant to the exercise of which shares in the offeree may be allotted or issued during the offer period. In the case of conditionally allotted shares, the details shall include the conditions concerned and the dates on which such conditions may be satisfied. In the case of any conversion, subscription or other rights as described above, the details shall include the number of shares which may be unconditionally allotted or issued during the offer period as a result of the exercise of such rights (identifying separately those shares attributable to rights the exercise periods of which commence or expire on different dates) and the prices at which those rights may be exercised.

The offeree shall immediately notify the offeror of any allotment or issue by it of shares and of the exercise of any such rights made or effected during the offer period and shall provide the offeror as soon as possible with all material details.

The offeror shall make appropriate arrangements to ensure that any person to whom shares of a class the subject of the offer are unconditionally allotted or issued during the offer period will have an opportunity of accepting the offer in respect of such shares. If the offeror has any doubt as to its obligations under Rule 10.2, it shall consult the Panel.

### 10.3 ACCEPTANCES

(a) Without prejudice to Rule 10.5, an acceptance of an offer shall not be counted towards ~~fulfilling~~ fulfilling an acceptance condition of that offer unless:

~~(a) it is received~~ if it is to be accepted by means of an acceptance form, an acceptance form is received that complies with the requirements of paragraph (b); and (ii) if it is to be accepted without an acceptance form, an electronic message is received that complies with the requirements of paragraph (c), by the offeror's receiving agent on or before the last time for acceptance set out in the offeror's relevant document or announcement and the offeror's receiving agent has recorded that the acceptance form (and any relevant documents required by paragraph (b)) ~~have~~

) or electronic message has been so received ~~or relevant escrow transfers identified; and~~

(b) ~~the~~ For the purposes of paragraph (a), the requirements for an acceptance form are that it is completed to a suitable standard (as specified below in paragraph (d)) and is:

(i) accompanied by share certificates in respect of the relevant shares ~~and, if those certificates are not in the name of the acceptor, such other documents (including, inter alia, a duly stamped transfer of the relevant shares in favour of the acceptor executed by the registered holder and otherwise completed to a suitable standard) as are required by the practice set out in the then current edition of Company Secretarial Practice—The Manual of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators (the “ICSA Manual”)~~, where the shares are held in certificated form, or such other documents (if any) as are specified in the offer document in order to establish the right of the acceptor to become the registered holder of the relevant shares; and ~~if an acceptance is accompanied by share certificates~~ or such other documents in respect of some but not all of the relevant shares, then, subject to the other requirements of this subparagraph (i) being satisfied in respect of the shares which are covered by share certificates or such other documents, the acceptance may be treated as satisfying the requirements of this subparagraph (i) insofar as it relates to the shares so covered; or

(ii) in the case of a holding in CREST a book entry transfer facility (other than the Euroclear System), covered by a transfer to the ~~relevant member’s escrow-receiving agent’s account at the book entry transfer facility~~, details of which shall be provided on the acceptance form, or a blocking of the relevant holding to the instruction of the receiving agent; if the acceptance is covered by a transfer ~~to escrow~~ in respect of some but not all of the relevant holding, it may be treated as ~~fulfilling~~ fulfilling the requirement of this subparagraph (ii) in respect of that part of the holding transferred ~~to escrow~~; or

(iii) from a registered holder or his or her personal representatives (but only up to the amount of the registered holding as at the final time for acceptance and only to the extent that the acceptance relates to shares which are not taken into account under another subparagraph of this paragraph (b)); or

(iv) certified by the offeree’s registrar.

(c) For the purposes of paragraph (a), the requirements for an electronic message are that:

(i) in the case of a holding in the Euroclear System, the offeror’s receiving agent has received an electronic message from the operator of the Euroclear System (or its nominee) the effect of which is to confirm that the acceptance is covered by an electronic acceptance instruction, meeting the requirements of the Euroclear System, from the participant in the Euroclear System that is tendering the shares confirming that such participant accepts, and agrees to be bound by the terms of, the offer; and

(ii) in the case of a holding in any other book entry transfer facility, the offeror’s receiving agent has received an electronic message from the operator of the facility (or its nominee) as part of a book-entry transfer confirmation that states that the facility has received an acknowledgement, meeting the requirements of the relevant facility, from the participant in the facility that is tendering the shares that such participant accepts, and agrees to be bound by the terms of, the offer.

~~this~~ (d) For the purposes of paragraph (b), an acceptance form shall be regarded as completed to a suitable standard:

- (1) where the form constitutes a transfer, if it meets the criteria (other than being duly stamped) for the registration of transfers set out in the ICSA Manual, Stock Transfer Act 1963 and the offeree's constitution; or
  - (2) where the form does not constitute a transfer, if it constitutes a valid and irrevocable appointment of the offeror or some person on its behalf as an agent or attorney for the purpose of executing a transfer of the type referred to in sub-paragraph (1) shares the subject of the acceptance on behalf of the acceptor, and, where the form constitutes a letter of transmittal, otherwise meets generally applicable practice and such other requirements as may have been specified by the offeror in the terms of the offer; and
- if (3) if the acceptance form is executed by a person other than the registered holder, where appropriate evidence of authority (including, inter alia, grant of probate, court order or certified copy of a power of attorney) shall be has been produced as required by the practice set out in the ICSA Manual.

#### 10.4 PURCHASES AND OTHER ACQUISITIONS

(a) A purchase or other acquisition of shares otherwise than pursuant to the offer (whether before or during the relative offer period) by an offeror or its nominee (or, in the case of an offer under Rule 9 or Rule 37, a person acting in concert with the offeror, or that person's nominee) may be counted towards satisfying an acceptance condition of the offer only if:

(a)(1) the shares are registered in the offeree's register of members in the name of the offeror or its nominee (or, in the case of an offer under Rule 9 or Rule 37, a person acting in concert with the offeror, or that person's nominee); or

(b)(2) a transfer of the shares in favour of the offeror or its nominee (or, in the case of an offer under Rule 9 or Rule 37, a person acting in concert with the offeror, or that person's nominee) executed by or on behalf of the registered holder and otherwise completed to a suitable standard (as specified in Rule ~~40.3(b)~~410.3(d)) and accompanied by the relevant share certificates or certified by the offeree's registrar is delivered by or on behalf of the offeror to the offeror's receiving agent on or before the last time for acceptance set out in the offeror's relevant document or announcement and the offeror's receiving agent has recorded that the transfer and accompanying documents have been so received.

(b) A person who has agreed to sell shares to the offeror or a person acting in concert with it is not, by virtue only of such agreement, a "nominee" for the purposes of Rule 10.4.

(c) Shares which have been borrowed by the offeror may not be counted towards fulfilling an acceptance condition.

(d) The offeror shall advise its receiving agent in writing of any persons whose registered holdings or purchases or other acquisitions are relevant for the purposes of the acceptance condition. The offeror's receiving agent shall then certify the holding of each such person on the basis of the register.

#### 10.5 EARLY SATISFACTION OF THE ACCEPTANCE CONDITION

In determining whether an acceptance condition of an offer has been satisfied before the final closing date, only the following acceptances and other acquisitions may be counted:

(a) acceptances which meet the requirements of Rule 10.3(a) (except as to the time of receipt of such acceptances by the receiving agent) and the requirements of Rule 10.3(b)(i), (ii) or (iv) or Rule 10.3(c); and

(b) other acquisitions which meet the requirements of ~~paragraph (a) or (b) of~~ Rule 10.4 (a)(1) or (2).

#### 10.6 UNCONDITIONALITY AS TO ACCEPTANCES

(a) Except as otherwise directed by the Panel, for the purposes of the Rules an offer shall be deemed to become unconditional as to acceptances and the acceptance condition of the offer shall be deemed to be satisfied when and only when:

(i) the offeror's receiving agent issues a certificate (a "receiving agent's certificate") to the offeror or its financial adviser which certifies the number of shares comprised in acceptances of the offer received which comply with Rule 10.3 or, if appropriate, Rule 10.5(a) and the number of shares otherwise acquired, whether before or during the offer period, the documentation relative to which complies with Rule 10.4; and

(ii) the numbers so certified are sufficient to meet the requirements of the acceptance condition.

(b) The receiving agent shall issue a receiving agent's certificate to the offeror or its financial adviser promptly after:

(i) the time at which the offer is due to expire or is revised or extended;

(ii) the receiving agent is satisfied that the number of shares comprised in acceptances of the offer received and the number of shares otherwise acquired before or during the offer (in each case satisfying the compliance criteria set out in paragraph (a)(i)) are sufficient to meet the requirements of the acceptance condition of the offer; and

(iii) receipt by the receiving agent of a request from the offeror for such a certificate.

(c) An offeror shall promptly request the receiving agent to issue a receiving agent's certificate whenever the offeror has reason to believe that the number of shares comprised in acceptances of the offer received and the number of shares otherwise acquired before or during the offer (in each case satisfying the compliance criteria set out in paragraph (a)(i)) are sufficient to meet the requirements of the acceptance condition of the offer.

(d) The offeror or its financial adviser shall send copies of each receiving agent's certificate to the Panel and the offeree's financial adviser as soon as possible after it is issued.

#### 10.7 RECEIVING AGENTS' PROCEDURES

The offeror and its receiving agent shall comply with the procedures set out in Appendix 1.

**RULE 11. NATURE OF CONSIDERATION TO BE OFFERED - VOLUNTARY OFFERS**

**11.1 WHEN A CASH OFFER IS REQUIRED**

(a) Except with the consent of the Panel in cases falling under subparagraphs (i) and (iii), if in the case of any voluntary offer:

(i) the offeror or any person acting in concert with it has acquired, during the period (in Rule 11.1 referred to as the "Rule 11.1 relevant period") of 12 months prior to the commencement of the offer period, securities of the offeree of any class the subject of the offer which represent in the aggregate 10% or more in nominal value of the issued securities of that class, excluding treasury shares; or

(ii) the offeror or any person acting in concert with it acquires during the Rule 11.1 relevant period securities of the offeree of any class the subject of the offer which represent in the aggregate less than 10% in nominal value of the issued securities of that class, excluding treasury shares, and the Panel, having regard to the General Principles, considers that it is just and proper so to direct and accordingly so directs; or

(iii) the offeror or any person acting in concert with it has acquired during the offer period securities of the offeree of any class the subject of the offer,

the offer made or to be made by the offeror to the holders of securities of the offeree of that class shall, without prejudice and in addition to any obligation of the offeror arising under Rule 11.2, be in cash, or accompanied by a cash alternative offer. The price per security under such offer or cash alternative offer shall not be less than the highest value of the consideration per security paid by the offeror or any person acting in concert with it for securities of that class during:

- (1) the Rule 11.1 relevant period, if subparagraph (i) or (ii) alone is applicable;
- (2) the offer period, if subparagraph (iii) alone is applicable; or
- (3) the Rule 11.1 relevant period or the offer period, if sub-paragraph (i) or (ii) and subparagraph (iii) are applicable.

(b) Without prejudice to the provisions of paragraph (i), for the purposes of paragraph (a), the price at which securities of the offeree are acquired shall be the price at which the bargain between the acquirer (or, where applicable, his or her broker acting in an agency capacity) and the vendor is struck. Stamp duty and broker's commission payable by the acquirer shall not be regarded as part of the acquisition price for the purposes of paragraph (a). If the bargain is linked to any other transaction, contract or arrangement, the acquirer shall notify the Panel of that fact and of the relevant details and the applicable acquisition price to be adopted for the purposes of paragraph (a) shall be subject to the approval of the Panel.

~~(c) If acceptors of an offer are entitled under the offer to retain a dividend declared or forecast by the offeree but not yet paid, the offeror, in establishing the minimum price of the cash offer for the purposes of paragraph (a), may where appropriate deduct from the highest price paid by it or any person acting in concert with it for securities of the offeree of the class the subject of the offer the amount of the dividend to which acceptors of the offer are entitled.~~

(c) Rules 6.2(c) and (d) shall apply for the purposes of Rule 11.1 as if the reference in those Rules to Rule 6.1 were a reference to Rule 11.1.

(d) Except with the consent of the Panel, paragraph (a) shall be applied by aggregating gross acquisitions of securities made during the

Rule 11.1 relevant period and not deducting any securities sold over that period.

(e) The obligation to make cash available under paragraph (a) shall be satisfied if, at the time at which the acquisition giving rise to such obligation was made, a cash offer or a cash alternative offer made or arranged by the offeror at a price per security not less than that required by paragraph (a) was open for acceptance (even if that offer or cash alternative offer ceases to be open for acceptance immediately thereafter or if further acquisitions, at no higher price per security than the offer price required by paragraph (a), are made), provided that, in the case of a cash alternative offer, such offer has been made on the basis that it will be open for acceptance for not less than 14 days after the date on which the document containing the cash alternative offer is ~~despatched~~ sent to shareholders of the offeree.

(f) If an obligation under paragraph (a) arises during an offer period and the offeror is thereby required to revise the offer, the offeror shall make an immediate announcement to that effect, which shall include details of all acquisitions of securities during the Rule 11.1 relevant period and the offer period by the offeror and any person acting in concert with it, together with the details prescribed by Rule ~~2.5(b)~~ 2.7(b).

(g) Unless the Panel rules otherwise, for the purposes of paragraph (a) all securities of the offeree that have been allotted (even if provisionally) but not yet issued and will upon issue confer voting rights shall be deemed to have been issued. The offeree shall inform the Panel of all allotments of securities that may be relevant for this purpose.

(h) If during the Rule 11.1 relevant period or the offer period the offeror or any person acting in concert with it acquires any convertible securities, warrants, options or other subscription rights relating to new or existing securities (in this paragraph (h) referred to as the “underlying securities”) of a class the subject of the offer and such convertible securities, warrants, options or other subscription rights are converted or exercised (as applicable), such acquisition shall be treated for the purposes of paragraph (a) as if it were an acquisition of the underlying securities at a price calculated by reference to the acquisition price of such convertible securities, warrants, options or other subscription rights and the consideration (if any) paid on their conversion or exercise. No obligation will be incurred under Rule 11.1 by the offeror or any person acting in concert with it if during the Rule 11.1 relevant period or the offer period the offeror or any person acting in concert with it exercises or converts (as applicable) such convertible securities, warrants, options or other subscription rights that were acquired before the commencement of the Rule 11.1 relevant period. Any person in doubt as to his or her obligations under this paragraph (h) shall consult the Panel.

(i) Rule 6.2-~~(e)~~(f) shall apply for the purposes of Rule 11.1 as if the reference in that Rule to Rule 6.1 were a reference to Rule 11.1.

(j) No acquisition of securities which would give rise to an obligation to make a cash offer or provide a cash alternative offer under Rule 11.1 shall be made by any person unless such person is satisfied that the offeror is able and will continue at all relevant times to be able to implement that cash offer or cash alternative offer.

## 11.2 WHEN A SECURITIES EXCHANGE OFFER IS REQUIRED

(a) Except with the consent of the Panel in cases falling under subparagraph (i) or (iii), if in the case of a voluntary offer:

(i) the offeror or any person acting in concert with it has acquired, during the period (in Rule 11.2 referred to as the “Rule 11.2 relevant period”) of three months prior to the commencement of the offer period and in exchange for securities, securities of the offeree of any class the subject of the offer which represent in the aggregate 10% or more in nominal value of the issued securities of that class, excluding treasury shares; or

(ii) the offeror or any person acting in concert with it has acquired:

- (1) during the Rule 11.2 relevant period and in exchange for securities, securities of the offeree of any class the subject of the offer which represent in the aggregate less than 10% in nominal value of the issued securities of that class, excluding treasury shares, and the Panel, having regard in such case to the General Principles, considers that it is just and proper so to direct and accordingly so directs; or
- (2) during a period (the “extended Rule 11.2 relevant period”) of more than three but not more than 12 months prior to the commencement of the offer period and in exchange for securities, securities of the offeree of any class the subject of the offer which represent in the aggregate 10% or more in nominal value of the issued securities of that class, excluding treasury shares, and the Panel, having regard in such case to the General Principles, considers that it is just and proper so to direct and accordingly so directs; or

(iii) the offeror or any person acting in concert with it has acquired, during the offer period and in exchange for securities, securities of the offeree of any class the subject of the offer,

the offer, or an alternative offer, made or to be made by the offeror to holders of securities of the offeree of that class shall, without prejudice and in addition to any obligation of the offeror arising under Rule 11.1, be made in exchange for securities (“exchange securities”) of the same issuer and of the same class as the securities (the “consideration securities”) delivered by the offeror or (as applicable) the person acting in concert with it in exchange for the securities of the offeree acquired by the offeror or that person as described in subparagraph (i), (ii)(1) or (2) or (as applicable) (iii) above. All such exchange securities shall be offered on the basis of a ratio of exchange securities to securities of the offeree that is equal to the highest ratio of the consideration securities delivered by the offeror or any person acting in concert with it in exchange for securities of the offeree in any acquisition made by the offeror or any person acting in concert with it during:

- (1) the Rule 11.2 relevant period, if subparagraph (i) or (ii)(1) alone is applicable;
- (2) the extended Rule 11.2 relevant period if subparagraph (ii)(2) alone is applicable;
- (3) the offer period, if subparagraph (iii) alone is applicable;
- (4) the Rule 11.2 relevant period or the offer period, if subparagraph (i) or (ii)(1) and subparagraph (iii) are applicable; or
- (5) the extended Rule 11.2 relevant period or the offer period, if subparagraph (ii)(2) and subparagraph (iii) are applicable.

(b) Where any securities of the offeree the subject of the offer are or have been acquired by the offeror or any person acting in concert with it for a consideration consisting of a mixture of securities and other consideration, the Panel may, for the purposes of paragraph (a) deem a proportion of the securities so acquired to have been acquired for securities, which proportion shall (so far as practicable) equal the proportion of the value of the total consideration for the securities acquired that consisted of securities or shall be such other proportion as the Panel

|  
may deem to be appropriate in the circumstances; and Rule ~~6.2(e)~~6.2(f) shall apply for the purposes of this paragraph (b) as if the reference in that paragraph to Rule 6.1 were a reference to this paragraph.

(c) References in paragraph (a)(i) to (iii) to securities exchanged by an offeror or a person acting in concert with it for securities of the offeree include references to new or existing securities and to securities of the offeror, of a person acting in concert with it or of any other person.

(d) Paragraphs (d), (f), (g) and (h) of Rule 11.1 shall apply mutatis mutandis for the purposes of Rule 11.2.

## RULE 12. THE COMPETITION ACT AND THE EUROPEAN COMMISSION

- (a) (i) Every offer which, if it becomes unconditional in all respects, will constitute a merger or acquisition and of which the undertakings involved in such merger or acquisition are obliged to notify the ~~Authority~~ CCPC pursuant to section 18(1) (a “notifiable offer”) shall:
- (1) if it is an offer under Rule 9 or Rule 37, be made subject to a condition that shall be satisfied if any one of the following events occurs:
    - (A) (subject to paragraph (ii)) the ~~Authority~~ CCPC, in accordance with section 21(2)(a), informs the undertakings which so notified the merger or acquisition that the merger or acquisition may be put into effect; or
    - (B) the period specified in section 21(2) (including, if applicable, any period of extension pursuant to section 21(4)) elapses without the ~~Authority~~ CCPC having informed those undertakings of the determination (if any) which it has made under section 21(2); or
    - (C) (subject to paragraph (ii)) the ~~Authority~~ CCPC, in accordance with section 22(4), furnishes to those undertakings a copy of its determination (if any), in accordance with section 22(3)(a), that the merger or acquisition may be put into effect; or
    - (D) (subject to paragraph (ii)) the ~~Authority~~ CCPC, in accordance with section 22(4), furnishes to the undertakings which made the notification a copy of its determination (if any), in accordance with section 22(3)(c), that the merger or acquisition may be put into effect subject to conditions specified by the ~~Authority~~ CCPC being complied with (but the offeror may stipulate under the offer that such conditions be acceptable to the offeror); or
    - (E) the period of ~~four months~~ 120 working days after the appropriate date (as defined in section 19(6)) elapses without the Authority, or, where a requirement is made under section 20(2), the period of 120 working days and any period of suspension that applies pursuant to section 22(4A) after the appropriate date (as defined in section 19(6)) elapses, without the CCPC having made a determination under section 22(3) in relation to the merger or acquisition. For the purposes of this paragraph (E), where section 22(4B) applies, references to “120 working days” shall be substituted with “135 working days”;
  - (2) if it is a voluntary offer, be made subject to a condition that shall be satisfied if either of the

events specified in subparagraph (1)(A) and (B) occurs; the offeror may elect to include in the condition all or any of the events specified in subparagraphs (1)(C), (D) and (E) as an event or events the occurrence of which shall also satisfy the condition.

~~(ii) If a Every notifiable offer will, if it becomes unconditional in all respects, constitute a media merger, which constitutes a media merger and of which the undertakings involved in such media merger are obliged to notify to the Minister pursuant to section 28B(1) shall:~~

~~(1) it shall be an additional term of paragraph (a)(i)(1)(A) that the Minister shall not, in accordance with section 23(2), direct the Authority to carry out an investigation under section 22 in relation to the merger or acquisition concerned; and~~

~~(2) it shall be an additional term of each of paragraph (a)(i)(1)(C) and (D) that, if the Minister in accordance with section 23(4) makes an order in relation to the merger or acquisition, the order shall provide either that the merger or acquisition may be put into effect or that it may be put into effect subject to specified conditions being complied with (but the offeror may stipulate under the offer that such conditions be acceptable to the offeror).~~

~~(1) if it is an offer under Rule 9 or Rule 37, be made subject to a condition that shall be satisfied if:~~

~~(A) the Minister informs the undertakings which so notified the merger or acquisition pursuant to Section 28D(1)(a) that he has made a determination that the merger or acquisition will not be contrary to the public interest in protecting plurality of media in Ireland and may be put into effect; or~~

~~(B) the Minister informs those undertakings pursuant to Section 28D(1)(b) that, in light of proposed commitments offered by those undertakings, he has made a determination that the merger or acquisition will not be contrary to the public interest in protecting plurality of media in Ireland and may be put into effect subject to those commitments; or~~

~~(C) the Minister informs those undertakings pursuant to Section 28G(1)(a) that he has determined that the merger or acquisition will not be contrary to the public interest in protecting plurality of media in Ireland and may be put into effect; or~~

~~(D) the Minister informs those undertakings pursuant to Section 28G(1)(c) that, in light of proposed commitments offered by those undertakings, he has made a determination that the merger or acquisition will not be contrary to the public interest in protecting plurality of media in Ireland and may be put into effect subject to those commitments.~~

(2) if it is a voluntary offer, be made subject to a condition that shall be satisfied if either of the events specified in subparagraph (1)(A) and (B) occurs; the offeror may elect to include in the condition all or any of the events specified in subparagraphs (1)(C) and (D) as an event or events the occurrence of which shall also satisfy the condition.

(iii) It shall be a term of every offer which, if it becomes unconditional in all respects, will constitute a merger or acquisition to which section 18(1) does not apply that, if the offer is notified to the Authority ~~CCPC~~ pursuant to section 18(3), the offer shall be subject to a condition in accordance with the terms of subparagraphs (i) and (ii) as if it were a notifiable offer.

(b) (i) If an offer would give rise to a concentration with a Community dimension within the scope of the European Merger Regulation, it shall be a term of the offer that it will lapse if the European Commission either initiates proceedings in respect of the concentration under Article 6(1)(c) of that Regulation or refers the concentration to a competent authority of a Member State under Article 9(1) of that Regulation before the first closing date of the offer or the date when the offer becomes ~~or is declared~~ unconditional as to acceptances, whichever is the later.

(ii) Except in the case of an offer under Rule 9 or Rule 37, the offeror may, in addition, make the offer conditional on a decision being made by the European Commission that there will be no such initiation of proceedings or referral and, if it so wishes, the offeror may stipulate that any terms to which such decision may be subject shall be acceptable to it.

(iii) Where an offer lapses pursuant to Rule 12(b)(i), the offeror shall, no later than 12.00 noon on the business day following the day on which the offeror receives notification from the European Commission of its decision, make an announcement for the purpose of clarifying its intentions in respect of the offeree.

(iv) Where, following the lapse of an offer pursuant to Rule 12(b)(i):

(1) the concentration concerned is cleared (with or without conditions or obligations attached) by a decision of the European Commission under Article 8(1) or (2) of the European Merger Regulation or (as the case may be) by a decision of the competent authority of the Member State to which the European Commission referred the concentration under Article 9(1) of that Regulation, the offeror shall immediately consult the Panel and shall, within such time limit as the Panel shall impose, announce either a firm intention to make an offer in respect of the offeree pursuant to Rule ~~2.5-2.7~~ or that it does not intend to make such an offer, in which latter case the announcement shall be deemed, for all purposes of Rule 2.8, to be a statement to which Rule 2.8 applies made by the offeror in relation to the offeree; or

(2) the concentration concerned is prohibited by a decision of the European Commission under Article 8(3) of the European Merger Regulation or (as the case may be) by a decision of the competent authority of the Member State to which the European Commission referred the concentration under Article 9(1) of that Regulation, then, except with the consent of the Panel, the offeror, every other person who acted

in concert with the offeror and every person who is subsequently acting in concert with the offeror or with any such other person shall, in relation to the offeree, be subject to the restrictions set out in Rule 2.8(c)(i) during the period of 12 months from the date on which the decision concerned is notified to the offeror.

(c) If an offer document states that an offer shall lapse in specified circumstances (including circumstances in which such a condition as is referred to in paragraph (a) or (b) is not satisfied), the offer document shall make clear not only that on such a lapse the offer will cease to be capable of further acceptance but also that the offeror and shareholders of the offeree will thereupon cease to be bound by prior acceptances.

(d) In this Rule, the "AuthorityCCPC" means the Competition Authority referred to in section 29 of and Consumer Protection Commission established under the Competition and Consumer Protection Act 2014, the "Minister" means the Minister for Communications, Climate Action and Environment (or any successor to the Minister's functions under the Competition Act) and the expressions "merger or acquisition" and "media merger" have the meanings assigned to them in Part 3 and Part 3A, respectively of that Act and references to sections are references to sections of that Act.

## RULE 13. PRE-CONDITIONS IN FIRM OFFER ANNOUNCEMENTS AND OFFER CONDITIONS

### 13.1 SUBJECTIVE CONDITIONS

Except with the consent of the Panel or where permitted under Rule 12, an offer shall not be made subject to any condition the satisfaction of which depends solely on subjective judgements by the directors of the offeror or of the offeree (as the case may be) or is within their control.

### 13.2 ACCEPTABILITY OF PRE-CONDITIONS

Except with the consent of the Panel or where the only pre-condition to the making of the offer is the receipt of irrevocable commitments or as otherwise permitted by the Rules, a person shall not announce pursuant to Rule ~~2.5-2.7~~ a firm intention to make an offer the making of which would be subject to any pre-condition.

### 13.3 INVOKING CONDITIONS AND PRE-CONDITIONS

(a) An offeror shall not invoke:

- (i) any condition to the offer (except a condition permitted by Rule 12(a)(i)(2) or by Rule 12(b)(ii) or the acceptance condition); or
- (ii) any pre-condition to the making of the offer,

so as to cause the offer not to proceed, to lapse or to be withdrawn unless the circumstances that give rise to the right to invoke the condition or pre-condition are of material significance to the offeror in the context of the offer and the offeror has consulted the Panel and the Panel is satisfied that in the prevailing circumstances it would be reasonable for the offeror to do so.

(b) Following the announcement of a firm intention to make an offer, an offeror shall use all reasonable efforts to ensure the satisfaction of every condition and pre-condition to which the offer or the making of the offer is subject.

(c) An offeree shall not invoke, or cause or permit the offeror to invoke, any condition to an offer so as to cause the offer to lapse or to be withdrawn unless the circumstances that give rise to the right to invoke the condition are of material significance to the shareholders of the offeree in the context of the offer and the offeree has consulted the Panel and the Panel is satisfied that in the prevailing circumstances it would be reasonable for the offeree to do so.

(d) In the determination by the Panel under Rule 13.3(a) as to whether in the prevailing circumstances it would be reasonable for the offeror to invoke the condition or pre-condition concerned, the fact, if it be so, that the Panel had approved the inclusion of that condition or pre-condition shall not be taken into account.

### 13.4 FINANCING CONDITIONS

(a) Except where permitted under Rule 13.4(b), an offer shall not be made subject to a condition relating to financing.

(b) Where the offer is for cash, or includes an element of cash, and the offeror proposes to finance the cash consideration by an issue of new securities, the offer shall be made subject to any condition required, as a matter of law or regulatory requirement, in order validly to issue such securities or to have them listed or admitted to trading. Such conditions must not be waivable and the Panel must be consulted in advance.

**RULE 14. WHERE THERE IS MORE THAN ONE CLASS OF SHARE  
CAPITAL<sup>7</sup>**

**14.1 COMPARABLE OFFERS**

Where the offeree has more than one class of equity share capital, an offeror may not, except with the consent of the Panel, make an offer for any class of such equity share capital that confers voting rights unless it makes a comparable offer for every other class of such equity share capital, whether or not such other class confers voting rights; and the offeror shall consult the Panel in advance. Such a comparable offer for a class of equity share capital which does not confer voting rights may not be made conditional on receipt of any particular level of acceptances in respect of that class, or on the approval of that class, unless the offer for the class of equity share capital which confers voting rights is also conditional on receipt of that particular level of acceptances of that comparable offer. Except in the circumstances referred to in Rules 9.1, 15 and 37, an offeror that makes an offer for a class of equity share capital of the offeree shall not be obliged to make an offer for any securities or class of securities of the offeree which do not represent equity share capital.

**14.2 SEPARATE OFFERS FOR EACH CLASS**

Where an offer is made for more than one class of shares in the offeree, the offeror shall make a separate offer for each such class.

**14.3 OFFER FOR NON-VOTING SHARES ONLY**

Where an offer is made only for a class of shares which does not confer voting rights, the offeror shall not be obliged to make a comparable offer for any other class of shares in the offeree.

---

<sup>7</sup> Rule 14 is not applicable to Shared Jurisdiction Companies.

**RULE 15. APPROPRIATE OFFER FOR CONVERTIBLES,  
OPTIONS AND SUBSCRIPTION RIGHTS<sup>8</sup>**

(a) If an offer is made for equity share capital of a relevant company and the offeree has outstanding securities convertible into, or rights or options to subscribe for, shares of the class which is the subject of the offer (which securities, rights and options are together referred to in Rule 15 as “convertible securities”), the offeror shall, on the basis of equality of treatment, make an appropriate offer or proposal to the holders of the convertible securities.

(b) The offeree board shall obtain competent independent advice on the offer or proposal to be made to the holders of the convertible securities and shall make known to them the substance and source of such advice, together with the views of the board on the offer or proposal.

(c) If practicable, the offeror shall ~~despatch~~ send the offer or proposal to holders of convertible securities at the same time as the offer document is ~~despatched~~ sent to shareholders of the offeree, provided that if this is not practicable, the offeror shall consult the Panel and shall ~~despatch~~ send the offer or proposal as soon as possible thereafter. Immediately following ~~such despatch~~ sending the offer or proposal, the offeror shall (i) announce that the offer or proposal has been ~~despatched~~ sent to the holders of the convertible securities concerned and ~~will be available for inspection published on a website~~ in accordance with Rule 26 and (ii) lodge a copy of the offer or proposal with the Panel.

(d) The offer or proposal to holders of convertible securities required by paragraph (a) shall not be made conditional on any particular level of acceptances; provided however that it may be proposed by way of a scheme to be considered at a meeting of the holders of the convertible securities but only on the condition that, if the scheme is not approved at the meeting or is not sanctioned by the court, the offeror shall immediately make an appropriate offer or proposal to holders of convertible securities that is not conditional on any particular level of acceptances or approval.

(e) The offeror shall, where practicable, ~~despatch~~ send simultaneously to the holders of the convertible securities all relevant documents which it ~~despatches~~ sends to shareholders of the offeree in connection with the offer. If the holders of the convertible securities are entitled to exercise their conversion or subscription rights during the course of the offer and to accept the offer in respect of the shares issued by the offeree as a result of such conversion or subscription, that fact shall be stated prominently in the documents ~~despatched~~ sent to them.

---

<sup>8</sup> Rule 15 is not applicable to Shared Jurisdiction Companies.

## **RULE 16. SPECIAL ARRANGEMENTS AND MANAGEMENT INCENTIVISATION**

### **16.1 SPECIAL ARRANGEMENTS WITH FAVOURABLE TERMS**

Except with the consent of the Panel, neither an offeror nor any person acting in concert with it may, either during an offer period or when an offer is reasonably in contemplation, make any arrangement with any shareholder or intending shareholder of the offeree which involves a dealing in, or acceptance of an offer for, or otherwise relates to, shares in the offeree, if there would be attached to such arrangement a term favourable to such shareholder or intending shareholder or any other person which is not being extended under the offer to all shareholders of the offeree.

Nor may an offeror or any person acting in concert with it make any such arrangement with any person who, whilst not a shareholder or intending shareholder of the offeree, is interested in relevant securities of the offeree if there would be attached to such arrangement a term favourable to such person which is not being extended under the offer to all shareholders of the offeree.

If any requirement of Rule 16 is not observed, the Panel may, if it is of the opinion that, having regard to the General Principles, it is appropriate so to direct, direct the offeror or any person acting in concert with it to make available to acceptors of the offer such additional consideration as the Panel may determine to be fair.

For the avoidance of doubt, this rule does not require that the benefit of any such arrangement be extended to any person in respect of any relevant securities of the offeree in which that person is interested but of which he or she is not a holder.

### **16.2 MANAGEMENT INCENTIVISATION**

(a) Except with the consent of the Panel and subject to paragraphs (b) and (c), where an offeror has entered into, or reached an advanced stage of discussions on proposals to enter into, any form of incentivisation arrangements with any members of the management of the offeree who are interested in relevant securities of the offeree, no such arrangements or proposals ("management incentivisation arrangements or proposals") shall be implemented unless the offeror has disclosed relevant details of them in the offer document and the independent adviser to the offeree has stated publicly that in its opinion the arrangements or proposals are fair and reasonable. If it is intended to put management incentivisation arrangements in place following completion of the offer, but either no discussions or only limited discussions have taken place, that fact shall be stated, and relevant details of the discussions (if any) shall be disclosed, in the offer document. Where no such arrangements are proposed, that fact shall be disclosed in the offer document.

(b) (i) The Panel, having regard to the General Principles, may require that any management incentivisation arrangements or proposals be approved at a general meeting of the offeree shareholders.

(ii) Without prejudice to subparagraph (i), where any members of the management of the offeree are interested in relevant securities of the offeree and, as a result of implementation of any management incentivisation arrangements or proposals, they would, apart from this paragraph, become shareholders of the offeror on a basis that is not being made available to other offeree shareholders, the implementation of such arrangements or proposals shall be subject to their having been approved at a general meeting of the offeree shareholders.

(iii) Every shareholder approval required by this rule shall be by a separate vote of independent shareholders, taken on a poll.

~~(iv) The foregoing provisions of this paragraph (b) shall not apply to management incentivisation arrangements or proposals the rights under which will or would be no more substantial than any rights which the offeror has prior to the offer, in accordance with the terms of similar arrangements, awarded to members of its own management of similar grade.~~

(c) Where, following the publication of the offer document and before completion of the offer, there is a change in the terms of any agreed or proposed management incentivisation arrangements or proposals or the offeror enters into, or reaches an advanced stage of discussion on proposals to enter into, any form of such arrangements, the offeror shall consult the Panel. The Panel may require, as a condition of the implementation of the arrangements or proposals, that the offeror disclose relevant details of all such changes to the arrangements or (as the case may be) of newly agreed or proposed arrangements and the status of any discussions between the parties, that the independent adviser to the offeree state publicly that in its opinion the arrangements or proposals are fair and reasonable and, if the Panel considers it appropriate, that such arrangements or proposals be approved at a general meeting of the offeree shareholders.

(d) Where members of management of the offeree are to receive securities of the offeror pursuant to an appropriate offer or proposal made in accordance with Rule 15, paragraphs (a), (b) and (c) shall not apply to that offer or proposal, but the offer or proposal shall not be implemented unless the offeror has publicly disclosed details of it and the independent adviser to the offeree has stated publicly that in its opinion the offer or proposal is fair and reasonable.

(e) The offeror shall be obliged to consult the Panel in all cases referred to above, except in circumstances to which paragraph (b)(ii) or (d) above is applicable.

## RULE 17. ANNOUNCEMENTS OF ACCEPTANCE LEVELS ETC.

### 17.1 TIMING AND CONTENTS

~~17.1 TIMING AND CONTENTS~~ (a) By 8.00 a.m. on the business day (in Rule 17 referred to as the “relevant day”) following the day on which an offer is due to expire, or becomes unconditional as to acceptances, or is revised or extended, an offeror shall make an appropriate announcement in accordance with Rule ~~2.9~~30.1. The announcement shall state the total number (as nearly as practicable) of:

(i) securities of the offeree for which acceptances of the offer have been received by the applicable time;~~(ii) securities of the offeree held before the offer period; and~~

~~(ii) securities of the offeree held before the offer period;~~

(iii) securities of the offeree acquired or agreed to be acquired during the offer period;

~~(iv) securities of the offeree for which acceptances of the offer have been received and which were subject to an irrevocable commitment or a letter of intent procured by the offeror or any person acting in concert with the offeror;~~

~~(v) securities of the offeree in respect of which the offeror or any person acting in concert with it has an outstanding irrevocable commitment or a letter of intent, including those details of the nature of the commitment or letter as are prescribed by Rule 2.9(a); and~~

~~(vi) the total number of securities of the offeree which the offeror may count towards the satisfaction of the acceptance condition to the offer.~~

and shall specify the percentages of the relevant classes of securities represented by those figures.

(b) An announcement under paragraph (a) shall also state details of all relevant securities of the offeree in which the offeror or any person acting in concert with it is interested, in each case specifying the nature of the interests in accordance with the applicable provisions of Rule 8.6(a); and details of all short positions of each such person in any class of relevant securities of the offeree in accordance with the applicable provisions of that rule.

(c) An announcement under paragraph (a) shall make clear the extent to which acceptances of the offer have been received from persons acting in concert with the offeror and shall state the number of securities of the offeree (as nearly as practicable) held before the offer period or acquired or agreed to be acquired during the offer period by persons acting in concert with the offeror.

(d) An offeror shall also make an announcement under paragraph (a) in respect of an alternative offer on the business day following the day on which an alternative offer is due to expire, even if the offer itself is not due to expire at that time.

~~(e) An offeror shall not make any statement other than an announcement in conformity with paragraph (a) about the level of acceptances of the offer without the consent of the Panel.~~ If, during the course of an offer, any statements, either oral or in writing, are made by an offeror or its advisers about the level of acceptances of the offer or the number or percentage of shareholders who have accepted the offer, the offeror shall make an immediate announcement in conformity with paragraph (a).

(f) If the offeree proposes to draw attention to withdrawals of acceptances of the offer, it shall consult the Panel before any announcement is made.

(g) Acceptances of an offer which are not complete in all respects and acquisitions may be included in the totals in an announcement under paragraph (a) only if they could be counted towards satisfying an acceptance condition under Rules 10.3 and 10.4.

#### 17.2 CONSEQUENCES OF FAILURE TO ANNOUNCE

~~17.2 CONSEQUENCES OF FAILURE TO ANNOUNCE~~ If an offeror, having announced the offer to be unconditional as to acceptances, fails by 3.30 p.m. on the relevant day to make an announcement in accordance with the requirements of Rule 17.1, immediately thereafter each acceptor shall become entitled to withdraw his or her acceptance. Subject to Rule 31.6, the offeror may terminate this right of withdrawal, in respect of acceptances not already withdrawn, not less than 8 days after the relevant day by confirming, if such is the case, that the offer is still unconditional as to acceptances and by making an announcement in accordance with the requirements of Rule 17.1; for the purposes of Rule 31.2, the offer shall remain open for acceptance for not less than 14 days after the date of such confirmation and announcement.

#### 17.3 ANNOUNCEMENT FOLLOWING SATISFACTION OF ALL CONDITIONS

By 8:00 a.m. on the business day following the day on which an offer becomes unconditional in all respects, the offeror shall make an announcement to that effect in accordance with Rule ~~2.9~~30.1, and shall include in such announcement:

- (i) the details, as at the time of satisfaction of all conditions of the offer, required in an announcement made under Rule 17.1(a);
- (ii) the basis on which the offer is to continue to be open for acceptance, consistent with the provisions of Rule 31.2; and
- (iii) the arrangements for and timing of settlement of consideration under the offer.

**RULE 18. THE USE OF PROXIES AND OTHER AUTHORITIES IN RELATION TO ACCEPTANCES**

An offeror may not require a shareholder as a term of his or her acceptance of an offer to appoint a proxy to exercise the voting rights conferred by his or her shares in the offeree, or to exercise any other rights or take any other action in relation to those shares, unless the appointment is made on the following terms, which shall be set out in the offer document:

(a) the proxy may not exercise such voting or other rights or take such other action unless the offer has become ~~or been declared~~ unconditional in all respects or, in the case of the exercise of voting rights by the proxy, the resolution concerned is the subject of the last condition of the offer remaining to be satisfied (other than any condition referred to in Rule ~~24.9~~24.10) and the offer will become unconditional in all respects (except, where relevant, for the satisfaction of any condition referred to in Rule ~~24.9~~24.10) or lapse depending upon the result of the vote on that resolution;

(b) where relevant, such voting rights are to be exercised with a view to satisfying any outstanding condition of the offer;

(c) the appointment ceases to be valid if the acceptance is withdrawn; and

(d) the appointment applies only to shares assented to the offer.

## RULE 19. COMMUNICATIONS

### 19.1 STANDARDS OF CARE

(a) Every person who issues, during the course of an offer, a document, advertisement or statement in connection with the offer or contemplated offer, and the offeror or offeree on whose behalf it is issued, shall ensure that it satisfies the same standards of accuracy, completeness and fair presentation as would be required of a prospectus.

(b) Every such document, advertisement and statement shall clearly state the source for any fact which is material to any argument contained in it, including sufficient detail to enable the significance of the fact to be assessed; provided however that if the information has been included in a document previously sent to shareholders, an appropriate cross-reference shall be sufficient.

(c) A quotation (including, inter alia, a quotation from a newspaper or a stockbroker's circular) shall not be used out of context, and details of its source shall be included, in any such document, advertisement or statement. No such quotation shall be included in any such document, advertisement or statement unless the board of the company which issues it is prepared, where appropriate, to corroborate or substantiate the contents of the quotation and the ~~directors'~~directors' responsibility statement required by Rule 19.2 is included in the document, advertisement or statement.

(d) Every pictorial representation, chart, graph and diagram which is included in any such document or advertisement shall be presented without distortion and, when relevant, shall be to scale.

~~(e) An offeror or the offeree shall consult the Panel in advance if during the course of the offer it proposes to use televised material, videos, audio tapes or other electronic media in connection with the offer even if they do not constitute advertisements.~~

(e) Rules 19.1(a) to (d) do not apply to any separate opinion of the employee representatives of the offeree that is appended to an offeree board circular in accordance with Rule 25.1(b) or Rule 32.5(b).

### 19.2 RESPONSIBILITY

(a) Except with the consent of the Panel, all documents, including circulars to shareholders of the offeree, press releases and announcements (including announcements which initiate an offer period), and all advertisements published in connection with an offer or contemplated offer by or on behalf of an offeror or the offeree during the course of the offer shall state that the directors of the offeror or (as the case may be) of the offeree accept responsibility for the information contained in the document or advertisement and that, to the best of their knowledge and belief (having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case), the information contained in the document or advertisement is in accordance with the facts and, where appropriate, that it does not omit anything likely to affect the import of such information; provided that Rule 19.2 shall not apply to disclosures of dealings in securities, to advertisements falling within category (1), (2) or (8) of Rule 19.4(a)(iii) or to advertisements which contain only information already published in a circular which included the statement required by Rule 19.2. or to any separate opinion of the employee representatives of the offeree that is appended to an offeree board circular in accordance with Rule 25.1(b) or Rule 32.5(b)

(b) Except with the consent of the Panel, a director may not be excluded from a statement required by paragraph (a). If the Panel consents to such an exclusion in any case, the document or advertisement concerned shall disclose the exclusion and the reasons for it.

(c) Except with the consent of the Panel:

~~(c) Except with the consent of the Panel:~~ (i) if an offeror is a subsidiary, the directors of the ultimate parent company, and

(ii) in the case of a management buy-out or similar transaction, the managers of the offeree associated with the offeror and the directors of any company which holds or proposes to acquire a beneficial interest of 20% or more in the equity share capital of the offeror, and

(iii) such other person or persons as the Panel, having regard to the General Principles, considers should be so included,

shall be joined with the directors of the offeror in the responsibility statement required by paragraph (a).

### 19.3 AVOIDANCE OF MISLEADING STATEMENTS

~~(a) Neither an offeror, the offeree nor any person acting in concert with either of them shall during the course of the offer issue any statement which, even if not factually inaccurate, may mislead shareholders and the market or may create uncertainty. An offeror shall not make a statement to the effect that it may improve its offer, or that it may make a change to the structure, conditionality or the non-financial terms of its offer, unless it commits itself to doing so and specifies the improvement or change.~~

~~(b) If an offeror, the offeree or any person acting in concert with either of them to issue during the course of the offer a statement which includes an estimate of the anticipated financial effects of a takeover (including, without limitation, an estimate of a resulting change in profit, cash flow, operating costs or earnings per share), the person so proposing shall consult the Panel in advance and, unless the Panel consents otherwise, shall include in the statement:~~

~~(i) the bases of the belief (including sources of information and any assumptions made) supporting the estimate; (ii) reports by financial advisers and auditors or (as the case may be) consultant accountants that the estimate has been made with due care and consideration; (iii) an analysis and explanation of the constituent elements of the estimate sufficient to enable the shareholders of the offeree to understand the relative importance of those elements; (iv) a base figure for any comparison drawn; and (v) a disclaimer as described in Rule 28.6(h).~~

### 19.4 ADVERTISEMENTS

(a) (i) Except with the consent of the Panel, no person may publish an advertisement in connection with an offer or possible offer during the course of the offer unless the advertisement falls within one of the categories listed in subparagraph (iii).

(ii) Except where the advertisement falls within category (1), (8) or (9) in subparagraph (iii), no person shall publish an advertisement in connection with an offer or possible offer during the course of the offer unless its content, format and publication schedule have been approved by the Panel.

(iii) The categories of advertisement referred to in subparagraph (i) are as follows:

- (1) product advertisements not bearing on an offer or possible offer; (if the person proposing to publish an advertisement has any doubt as to the applicability of this category to it, he or she shall consult the Panel);
- (2) corporate image advertisements not bearing on an offer or possible offer or the financial performance of a party to the offer;
- (3) advertisements confined to factual and non-controversial information about an offer

(including, inter alia, reminders as to closing times or the value of an offer); such advertisements shall not include argument ~~or~~ investive or opinion in relation to the offer;

- (4) advertisements comprising preliminary or interim results and their accompanying statement, provided that such statement ~~is does~~ not ~~used for include~~ argument ~~or~~ investive or opinion concerning an offer;
- (5) advertisements giving information, the publication of which by advertisement is required or specifically permitted by the rules of the Stock Exchange or any equivalent listing authority;
- (6) advertisements communicating information relevant to holders of bearer securities;
- (7) advertisements comprising a tender offer under the Substantial Acquisition Rules;
- (8) advertisements which are notices relating to court schemes, notices of compulsory acquisition or other notices required by applicable law or direction of a court; and
- (9) advertisements published with the specific consent of the Panel.

(b) Each advertisement published in connection with an offer or possible offer shall clearly and prominently identify the person on whose behalf it is published.

(c) For the avoidance of doubt, for the purposes of the Rules:

(i) the word "advertisement" shall include:

- (1) every form of advertisement and accordingly its meaning shall not be restricted to advertisements that promote products, services or property or rights of any kind; and
- (2) not only a press advertisement but also an advertisement in other media, including, inter alia, television, radio, internet, video, audio tape and poster; and

(ii) a publication that would otherwise be treated as an advertisement shall not be treated differently merely because the content, or part of the content, of the publication has been previously published, whether in the same or any different form, context or medium and whether or not in connection with an offer or possible offer.

#### 19.5 TELEPHONE CAMPAIGNS

(a) Except with the consent of the Panel, neither an offeror nor the offeree nor any person acting in concert with either of them shall during the course of an offer conduct any campaign in connection with the offer or contemplated offer in which shareholders of the offeree ~~or other persons interested in offeree securities~~ are contacted by telephone unless such campaign is conducted on its behalf by staff of a financial adviser to the offeror or (as the case may be) to the offeree who are fully conversant with the requirements of, and their responsibilities under, the Rules. The persons who conduct any such campaign may use only previously published information which remains accurate and is not misleading at the time it is quoted; they shall not put any ~~shareholder of the offeree person~~

contacted by them under any pressure and they shall encourage all such ~~shareholders~~ persons to consult their professional advisers.

(b) If, notwithstanding the foregoing paragraph, any new information is given to some shareholders or other persons interested in offeree securities during any such campaign, the offeror or (as appropriate) the offeree shall ensure that such information is immediately made generally available to shareholders in the manner described in Rule ~~20.1(b)(ii)~~ 20.2(a)(ii).

#### 19.6 INTERVIEWS AND DEBATES

(a) An offeror or the offeree or any person acting in concert with either of them who, during the course of the offer, is interviewed in connection with the offer or contemplated offer on radio, television, the internet or any other medium shall use all reasonable endeavours to ensure that the sequence of the interview is not broken by the insertion of comments or observations by others which were not made in the course of the interview.

(b) Neither an offeror nor the offeree nor any representative of either of them shall during the course of an offer release any new information bearing on the offer or contemplated offer in any interview or discussion with the media. If, notwithstanding this, any new information is made public as a result of such an interview or discussion, the relevant party shall ~~send a circular to shareholders and, where appropriate, take paid newspaper space~~ publish such information as required by Rule ~~20.1(b)(ii)~~ 20.2(a)(ii).

(c) Representatives of one or more offerors and of the offeree may, during the course of an offer, participate in a joint interview or debate which involves the engagement with each other (either directly or through a third party) of representatives of an offeror and the offeree or of representatives of two or more competing offerors and which is to be simultaneously or subsequently broadcast on or through radio, television, the internet or any other medium, provided that:

(i) an appropriate representative of the financial adviser to each offeror and the offeree represented at the interview or debate shall himself or herself also be present at and entitled to participate in such interview and debate;

(ii) if any misleading or inaccurate statement is made by the representative of an offeror or of the offeree during the course of the interview or debate, the financial adviser to the party concerned shall, where such adviser is aware or ought reasonably to be aware that the statement is misleading or inaccurate, immediately correct such statement during the course of the interview or debate;

(iii) the representative of each financial adviser present thereat shall, during the course of the interview or debate, use all reasonable endeavours to ensure that no new information bearing on the offer is disclosed by that adviser's client during the course of the interview or debate; and

(iv) the representative of the financial adviser to each participating offeror and offeree shall confirm in writing to the Panel, not later than 12.00 noon on the business day following the date of the interview or debate, that no new information bearing on the offer was disclosed by that adviser's client during the course of such interview or debate.

~~Any person who is in any doubt as to his or her obligations under this paragraph (c) shall consult the Panel.~~

#### ~~19.7 DISTRIBUTION AND AVAILABILITY OF DOCUMENTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS~~

~~(a) Every person, being an offeror or the offeree or any person acting in concert with either of them, who during the course of an offer releases to~~

~~shareholders of the offeree, to a Regulatory Information Service or to the media any offer document, offeree board circular or any other document or announcement of any kind bearing on the offer or contemplated offer (including, without limitation, announcements of annual or interim results of the offeror or offeree) or any advertisement or other material (including any notes to editors) shall, subject to the exception in paragraph (b) below, at the time of release furnish copies of such documents or other material to the Panel and to the advisers to all other principals concerned with the offer or any competing offer. Such material shall not be released to the media under an embargo. If such material is released outside normal business hours, the person making the release shall inform such advisers of the release immediately, if necessary by telephone, and shall, if necessary, make special arrangements to ensure that copies of the material are delivered directly to them and to the Panel.~~

~~(b) An offeror shall deliver a copy of the offer document and any revised offer document to the Panel prior to releasing it pursuant to paragraph (a).~~

~~(c) Where any document is despatched to the shareholders of a relevant company in connection with any waiver or derogation, which the Panel has granted or been requested to grant, of or from an obligation to make an offer under Rule 9 or Rule 37 for any class of shares in the company, the person by whom or on whose behalf the document is despatched shall promptly furnish a copy to the Panel.~~

~~(d) A person who despatches a document bearing on an offer to the shareholders of the offeree shall make an immediate announcement to that effect to a Regulatory Information Service, which announcement, in the case of an offer document, a revised offer document, a first response circular or a response circular in relation to a revised offer, shall state where that document is available for inspection in accordance with Rule 26.~~

~~(e) Where information is incorporated into any of the above documents by reference to another source of information, the party who releases the document shall send a copy of the information so incorporated to the Panel and the advisers referred to in paragraph (a) in electronic form at the same time as it sends a copy of that document to them in accordance with this rule.~~

#### **19.8 ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS**

~~Rule 19 shall apply to electronic communications as it applies to communications in other forms. A person who proposes to issue material by electronic communication and who is in doubt as to the applicability of the Rules to such material shall consult the Panel in advance.~~

#### **19.9 DOCUMENTS, ANNOUNCEMENTS AND INFORMATION REQUIRED TO BE PUBLISHED ON A WEBSITE**

~~(a) Subject to paragraph (b), if, during the offer period, an offeror or the offeree, or any person on its behalf: (i) despatches a document or information in relation to an offer to shareholders in accordance with the Rules; or (ii) publishes an announcement (whether related to the offer or not) by sending it to a Regulatory Information Service, the offeror or the offeree as appropriate shall, as soon as possible and in any event by no later than 12.00 noon on the following business day, ensure that a copy is published on a website.~~

~~(b) Copies of the following announcements in relation to notifications made pursuant to the rules of other regulatory regimes are not required under paragraph (a) to be published on a website:~~

~~(i) transactions by directors, secretaries or other persons discharging managerial responsibility in respect of a company; (ii) the acquisition or disposal of major shareholdings; and (iii) disclosures in respect of increases or decreases in the total number of voting rights and capital in respect of each class of shares in issue (including treasury shares).~~

~~(c) Copies of all documents, announcements and information required to be published on a website under paragraph (a) shall continue to be made available on a website free of charge during the course of the offer.~~

~~(d) All documents, announcements and information published in relation to an offer by an offeror or the offeree in the manner described in paragraph (a) above shall contain a statement providing details of the website on which a copy will be published.~~

~~(e) An offeror and the offeree shall each use its own website when publishing copies of documents, announcements and information in accordance with paragraph (a). If an offeror or the offeree does not have its own website, or proposes to use a website maintained by a third party for that purpose, it shall consult the Panel.~~

~~(f) All documents, announcements and information published on a website in accordance with paragraph (a) shall be published in a "read-only" format so that it may not be amended or altered in any way.~~

~~(g) The publication of offer related documents, announcements and information on a website shall not satisfy the obligation of the party concerned under Rule 20.1 to make information about companies involved in an offer equally available to all offeree shareholders as nearly as possible at the same time and in the same manner.~~

Any person who is in any doubt as to his or her obligations under this paragraph (c) shall consult the Panel.

## RULE 20. EQUALITY OF INFORMATION

### 20.1 EQUALITY OF INFORMATION TO SHAREHOLDERS

~~(a)~~ Information and opinions about companies involved in an offer or contemplated offer and which is tendered by or on behalf of an offeror or the offeree during the course of an offer shall be made equally available by it to all the holders of shares in the offeree of the class or classes the subject of the offer as nearly as possible at the same time and in the same manner.

### 20.2 MEETINGS AND TELEPHONE CALLS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHERS

~~(b)(a)~~ (i) Representatives of the offeror or the offeree or their respective advisers may hold meetings during the offer period with shareholders, or other persons interested in relevant securities, of either the offeror or the offeree, or with analysts, stockbrokers or others engaged in investment management or advice, provided that such representatives do not disclose any material new information or express any significant new opinion and the following provisions are observed. Such representatives shall not put any shareholder, or any other person interested in relevant securities, of the offeree present at any such meeting under any pressure and they shall encourage all such persons to consult their professional advisers. Except with the consent of the Panel, an appropriate representative of the financial adviser or corporate broker to the offeror or (as the case may be) the offeree shall be present at any such meeting. It shall be the duty of that representative to confirm in writing to the Panel, not later than 12.00 noon on the business day following the date of the meeting, that no such material new information was disclosed and no significant new opinion was expressed at such meeting. The written confirmation shall also include the names of the individuals who attended the meeting and their organisations. Any such representative who is in doubt as to the status, for the purposes of Rule ~~20.1~~20.2, of any information or opinion shall consult the Panel.

(ii) If, notwithstanding subparagraph (i), any material new information or significant new opinion is disclosed or expressed at any such meeting, the offeror or (as the case may be) the offeree shall ~~send to shareholders of the offeree~~ as soon as possible thereafter ~~a circular setting out~~ publish such information or opinion and, ~~if the offer is in its final stages, shall publish an appropriate newspaper advertisement as well as a circular. Every such circular and advertisement in an announcement in accordance with Rule 30.1. Every such announcement~~ shall include the directors' responsibility statement in accordance with Rule 19.2. If such new information or opinion is not capable of being substantiated as required by these Rules (including, inter alia, a profit forecast), the ~~circular and (where applicable) the advertisement~~ announcement shall make this clear and shall contain a formal withdrawal of the information or opinion. If there is any dispute as to whether the requirements of this paragraph ~~(b)(a)~~ have been complied with, it will be the duty of the financial adviser or corporate broker to the offeror or (as the case may be) the offeree to satisfy the Panel that those requirements have been complied with. Every financial adviser shall ensure that no such meeting is arranged on behalf of its client without its knowledge.

(iii) The above provisions of this paragraph ~~(b)(a)~~ shall apply to all such meetings held during an offer period wherever they take place and whether the meeting is with one or more persons or firms. A communication of information or opinion by telephone or electronic means (other than a communication to which Rule 19.5 applies) shall be deemed to be a meeting for the purposes of Rule ~~20.1~~20.2. ~~This paragraph (b)(a)~~ shall not apply to a meeting with employees in their capacity as such (rather than in their capacity as shareholders), but the offeror or (as the case may

be) the offeree shall consult the Panel in advance of such a meeting if any such employees are interested in a significant number of relevant securities of the offeree.

~~(c)(b)~~ (i) Rule 20.1 shall not prevent the issue of ~~circulares~~ investment research during the course of an offer ~~to their own investment clients~~ by brokers or advisers to, or by other persons remunerated by or acting in concert with, an offeror or the offeree provided that such issue has previously been approved by the Panel.

(ii) When ~~giving to its own clients~~ issuing investment research during the course of the ~~offer information on the companies involved in an~~ offer, a person acting in concert with an offeror or the offeree shall ensure that such investment research, if including information on a party to the offer, does not include any statement of fact or opinion derived from information which is not generally available; and, without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, that such information does not include any profit forecast, quantified financial benefits statement, asset valuation or estimate of other data material to the offer (unless, and then only to the extent that, the offer documents or, as the case may be, offeree board circulars contain such forecast, statement, valuation or estimate prepared in accordance with Rule 28). The status of the person acting in concert shall be clearly disclosed to its clients at the time.

(iii) Where a person acting in concert with an offeror or the offeree issues ~~a circular to clients~~ investment research during the course of an offer, that person shall send a copy of the final version of the circular research to the Panel at the time of its release. ~~Where relevant, the requirements of this paragraph (c) shall apply to screen displays.~~

### 20.220.3 EQUALITY OF INFORMATION TO ~~OFFERORS~~<sup>4</sup>OFFERORS<sup>9</sup>

(a) Irrespective of any preference that the offeree board may have for one offeror over another, the offeree shall promptly provide any information, including particulars of shareholders, specifically requested by an offeror if, and to the extent that, the same or substantially the same information has previously been made available by the offeree to another offeror, provided that:

(i) unless the Panel directs otherwise in the circumstances of a particular case, this requirement shall apply only if the existence of that other offeror (but not necessarily its identity) has been the subject of an announcement under Rule 2.4(a) or Rule 2.5 2.7 and the offer period relative to the offer or possible offer by that other offeror has not ended; and

(ii) where the offeree board is not satisfied that the offeror concerned has available to it resources sufficient to implement an offer, the offeree may apply to the Panel to direct that compliance with Rule 20.2-20.3 by it may be deferred pending the satisfaction by that offeror of such conditions as the Panel may specify in the circumstances of the particular case.

(b) (i) Except as provided in subparagraph (ii) below, the provision of information by the offeree board pursuant to this rule shall not be made by it subject to any condition other than those relating to: the confidentiality of the information provided; reasonable restrictions prohibiting the use of the information provided to solicit customers or employees; and the use of the information solely in connection with an offer in respect of the offeree. No such condition shall be any more onerous than those imposed by the offeree board upon any other offeror.

---

<sup>9</sup> See Rule 2.1(c) of Part A.

(ii) The provision of information pursuant to this rule may be made subject to a requirement that the offeror sign a hold harmless letter in favour of a firm of accountants or other third party, provided that every other offeror to which the offeree board has provided such information has been required to sign a letter in the same or substantially similar form

(c) Where an offer or possible offer (the “first offer”) would or might oblige the offeror to increase by 100% or more its existing issued share capital that confers voting rights, a person who subsequently makes an offer (the “second offer”) in respect of either the offeror or the offeree in the first offer (the “target”) shall (if the target is a relevant company and paragraph (a) is not otherwise applicable) in connection with the second offer have the same right under paragraph (a) to receive information made available by the target to the other party to the first offer in connection with that offer as if the target were an offeree that had previously made the information available to another offeror in connection with an offer in respect of the target.

(d) If the offer is a management buy-out or similar transaction, the information which, if specifically requested by a competing offeror, Rule [20.2-20.3](#) requires the offeree to provide to that competing offeror shall be that information generated by the offeree (including the management of the offeree acting in their capacity as such) which is passed to external providers or potential providers of finance (whether equity or debt) to the offeror. The directors of the offeree who are involved in making such offer shall co-operate with the independent directors of the offeree and its advisers in the assembly of this information.

(e) If the Panel so directs or if the offeree makes a public announcement that it has commenced discussions with one or more persons in relation to the sale of all or substantially all of its assets (excluding cash and cash equivalents) during an offer period or following the date on which the board of the offeree has reason to believe that a bona fide offer might be imminent, information given by the offeree to the potential asset purchaser(s) must, on request, be given to an offeror or bona fide potential offeror.

#### [20.320.4](#) INFORMATION TO INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS IN MANAGEMENT BUY-OUTS

If the offer is a management buy-out or similar transaction, the offeror shall, on request, promptly furnish the independent directors of the offeree or their advisers with all information that has been furnished by the offeror to external providers or potential providers of finance (whether equity or debt) for the buy-out.

[Rules](#)

## 20.5 VIDEOS

(a) A video published by or on behalf of an offeror or the offeree which includes any information or opinions relating to an offer or to the financial performance of a party to an offer must comprise only a director or senior executive reading from a script or participating in a scripted interview. Any such video may be published only with the prior consent of the Panel.

(b) A video to which paragraph (a) applies must be published on a website of the offeror or (as the case may be) the offeree in accordance with Rule 26.

## 20.6 SOCIAL MEDIA

Social media must not be used by or on behalf of an offeror or the offeree to publish information relating to an offer, other than for the publication of:

(a) the full text of an announcement which has been published in accordance with Rule 30.1;

(b) the full text of a document which has been published on a website in accordance with the Rules;

(c) a video which has been published with the prior consent of the Panel in accordance with Rule 20.5; or

(d) a notification of a link to the webpage on which such an announcement, document or video has been published, which notification must comply with the requirements of Rule 30.6.

## RULE 21. FRUSTRATING ACTION

### 21.1 RESTRICTIONS

(a) Except:

- (i) with the approval of the offeree in general meeting;
- (ii) with the consent of the Panel in the case of a proposed action of the type described in any of subparagraphs (1) to (5) where the Panel is satisfied that such action would not constitute frustrating action;
- (iii) with the consent of the Panel where the holders of securities carrying more than 50% of the voting rights in the offeree state in writing that they approve the action proposed and would vote in favour of any resolution to that effect proposed at a general meeting of the offeree;
- (iv) with the consent of the Panel in pursuance of a contract entered into prior to the announcement of the offer or (as the case may be) to any such earlier time as is referred to below; or
- (v) with the consent of the Panel where a decision to take the proposed action was made prior to the announcement of the offer or (as the case may be) to any such earlier time as is referred to below and such decision: (1) has been partly or fully implemented before that time; or (2) has not been partly or fully implemented before that time but is in the ordinary course of business,

during the course of an offer or at any earlier time at which the offeree board has reason to believe that the making of an offer in respect of the offeree is or may be imminent the offeree shall not, and shall procure that no subsidiary of the offeree shall:

- (1) allot or issue any authorised but unissued shares (including treasury shares) or redeem or purchase any of its own securities;
- (2) issue or grant an option in respect of any unissued shares (including treasury shares);
- (3) create or issue, or permit the creation or issue of, any security conferring rights of conversion into or subscription for shares;
- (4) sell, dispose of or acquire, or agree to sell, dispose of or acquire, any assets of a material amount ~~or any operations yielding profits of a material amount;~~
- (5) enter into any contract otherwise than in the ordinary course of business; or
- (6) take any action, other than seeking alternative offers, which may result in frustration of an offer or possible offer or in offeree shareholders being denied the opportunity to decide on the merits of such an offer or possible offer.

(b) Where shareholder approval is to be sought in general meeting for a proposed action in accordance with Rule 21.1(a)(i):

(i) the board of the offeree must obtain competent independent advice as to whether the financial terms of the proposed action are fair and reasonable;

(ii) the Panel must be consulted regarding the date of the general meeting;

(iii) the board of the offeree must send a circular to shareholders as soon as practicable after the announcement of the proposed action setting out the following details:

(1) full details of the proposed action;

(2) the opinion of the board of the offeree on the proposed action and the board's reasons for forming its opinion;

(3) the substance of the advice given to the board of the offeree as to whether the financial terms of the proposed action are fair and reasonable;

~~(b) notice convening any such general meeting of the offeree as is referred to in paragraph (a) shall include appropriate (4)~~ information about the current status of the offer or possible offer; and

(5) any other information necessary to enable shareholders to make an informed decision; and

(iv) the offeree must publish the circular and any contracts entered into in connection with the proposed action on a website.

(c) The Panel must be consulted in advance if there is any doubt as to whether any proposed action may fall within Rule 21.1(a)(1) to (6).

## 21.2 INDUCEMENT FEES

Except with the consent of the Panel, no offeree nor any person acting in concert with an offeree shall enter into any contract or arrangement to pay any compensation in monetary or other form to, or to provide any indemnity in respect of the costs of, an offeror or any person acting in concert with an offeror, where the relevant obligation would be contingent in any respect upon the relevant offer or proposed offer lapsing or not being made.

**RULE 22. RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE OFFEREE REGARDING  
REGISTRATION PROCEDURES**

The offeree and its registrar shall comply with the procedures set out in Appendix 1. The offeree shall also ensure that transfers of securities of the offeree are registered promptly during the course of an offer.

## RULE 23. THE GENERAL OBLIGATION AS TO INFORMATION

### 23.1 SUFFICIENT INFORMATION

(a) The offeror and the offeree board shall, as appropriate, give sufficient information, and the offeree board shall also give sufficient advice, to shareholders of the offeree to enable them to reach a properly informed decision as to the merits or demerits of an offer. Such information and advice shall be ~~despatched~~ sent by the offeror or (as the case may be) the offeree board to shareholders early enough to enable them to make a decision in good time. In the context of provision of information, the obligation of the offeror towards the shareholders of the offeree shall be no less than the obligation of the board of a company towards its own shareholders.

~~(b) Any document despatched by or on behalf of the offeror or the offeree to shareholders of the offeree shall include information about any material change in any information previously published by it or on its behalf during the offer period; if there have been no such changes, this shall be stated.~~

~~(c)~~ (b) If an offeror has announced a possible offer pursuant to Rule 2.4(a), the making of which is subject to a pre-condition relating to action by shareholders of the offeree (including, inter alia, the rejection of a proposed acquisition or disposal by the offeree), the first major circular sent by the offeror to the shareholders of the offeree shall include the information that would be required by Rule 24 to be included in that circular if it were an offer document.

### 23.2 CONSENT TO INCLUSION OF ADVICE, OPINIONS AND REPORTS

If any document or announcement published in connection with an offer by or on behalf of the offeree or offeror includes:

(a) the substance of the advice given to the offeree board or to the offeror by the adviser pursuant to Rule 3.1(a) or Rule 3.2(a);

(b) reports on a profit forecast or a quantified financial benefits statement given by reporting accountants and any financial adviser in accordance with Rule 28;

(c) a valuation report given by a valuer in accordance with Rule 29; or

(d) any other recommendation, opinion or report of an adviser, including a financial adviser or a consultant.

the document or announcement shall, unless issued by the adviser concerned, include a statement that each of the adviser(s), the reporting accountants and/or the valuer (as appropriate) has given and not withdrawn their consent to the issue of the document or announcement with the inclusion of their advice, recommendation, opinion or report (as appropriate) in the form and context in which it is included.

## RULE 24. OFFEROR DOCUMENTS

### 24.1 THE OFFER DOCUMENT

(a) No person shall send an offer document to the shareholders of the offeree unless it has previously announced, in accordance with Rule 2.7, its firm intention to make that offer.

(b) Except with the consent of the Panel and subject to Rule 2.11, the offeror shall send the offer document to the shareholders of the offeree within 28 days after the date of the announcement of a firm intention to make an offer.

(c) Simultaneously with the sending of the offer document under paragraph (b), both the offeror and the offeree shall make the offer document readily available to the representatives of their respective employees or, where there are no such representatives, to the employees themselves.

### ~~24.1~~ 24.2 INTENTIONS REGARDING THE OFFEREE, THE OFFEROR AND THEIR EMPLOYEES

(a) An offeror shall inform the shareholders of the offeree of the following matters in the offer document:

~~(a)(i)~~ its intentions regarding the future business of the offeree and its subsidiaries;

~~(b)(ii)~~ its strategic plans for the offeree and their likely repercussions on employment and on the locations of the offeree's places of business, including on the location of the offeree's headquarters and headquarters' functions;

~~(c)(iii)~~ its intentions regarding any redeployment of the fixed assets of the offeree and its subsidiaries;

~~(d)(iv)~~ the long-term commercial justification for the offer; and

~~(e)(v)~~ its intentions with regard to ~~safeguarding~~ the continued employment of the employees and management of the offeree and of its subsidiaries, including any material change in the conditions of employment; and

(vi) its intentions with regard to the maintenance of any existing trading facilities for the relevant securities of the offeree.

(b) If the offeror has no intention to make any changes in relation to the matters described under (a) above, or if it considers that its strategic plans for the offeree will have no repercussions on employment or the location of the offeree's places of business, it must make a statement to that effect.

(c) Where the offeror is a company and insofar as it is affected by the offer the offeror shall also disclose in the offer document the information set out in paragraphs (a), ~~(b)(i), (ii)~~ and ~~(e)(v)~~ in relation to itself.

### ~~24.2~~ 24.3 FINANCIAL AND OTHER INFORMATION ON THE OFFEROR, THE OFFEREE AND THE OFFER

Except with the consent of the Panel:

(a) the offer document (including, where relevant, any revised offer document) shall contain the following information about the offeror:

~~(i) if the offer is a securities exchange offer:~~

~~(1) for the last financial years for which the information has been published, turnover, net profit or loss before and after taxation, the charge~~

~~for tax, extraordinary items, minority interests, the amount absorbed by dividends, and earnings and dividends per share;~~

~~(i) its audited consolidated accounts for the last two financial years or details of the website address where its audited consolidated accounts for the last two financial years have been published and a statement that the accounts have been incorporated into the offer document by reference to that website in accordance with Rule 24.15;~~

~~(2) a statement of the assets and liabilities shown in the last published audited accounts;~~

~~(3) a cash flow statement if provided in the last published audited accounts;~~

~~(4)(ii) in the case of a securities exchange offer, all known material changes in the its financial or trading position of the offeror subsequent to which has occurred since the end of the last published financial period for which audited accounts, a preliminary statement of annual results, a half-yearly financial report or interim financial information has been published or a statement that there are no known material changes;~~

~~(5) details relating to items referred to in sub-paragraph (1) in respect of any interim statement or preliminary announcement made since the last published audited accounts;~~

~~(6) significant accounting policies together with any points from the notes to the accounts which are of major relevance to an appreciation of the figures;~~

~~(7) where, because of a change in accounting policy, figures are not comparable to a material extent, this shall be disclosed and the approximate amount of the resultant variation should be stated;~~

~~(iii) any preliminary statement of annual results, half-yearly financial report or interim financial information published since the date of its last published audited accounts or details of the website address where any such statement, report or information has been published and a statement that any such statement, report or information has been incorporated into the offer document by reference to that website in accordance with Rule 24.15;~~

~~(8)(iv) the names of the offeror's directors;~~

~~(9)(v) the nature of its business and its financial and trading prospects; and~~

~~(10)(vi) a summary of the principal contents of each material contract (not being a contract entered into in the ordinary course of business) entered into by the offeror or any of its subsidiaries during the period beginning two years before the commencement of the offer period, including particulars of dates, parties, terms and conditions and any consideration passing to or from the offeror or any of its subsidiaries; or and~~

~~(ii) if the offer is not a securities exchange offer:~~

~~(1) for the last two financial years for which information has been published, turnover and profit or loss before taxation;~~

~~(2) a statement of the net assets of the offeror shown in the latest published audited accounts;~~

~~(3) the names of the offeror's directors; and~~

~~(4) the nature of the business and its financial and trading prospects;~~  
and

~~(iii)(vii) if the offeror is not a relevant company, the information described in subparagraph (i) or (ii), as appropriate, and a statement listing the identity and address of each person with an interest, direct or indirect, of 5% or more in any class of relevant securities of the offeror, or who would upon completion of the acquisition of the offeree have an interest, direct or indirect, of 5% or more in any class of relevant securities of the offeree, and such further information as the Panel may require in the circumstances of the particular case;~~

(b) the offer document (including, where relevant, any revised offer document) shall include:

(i) a heading stating "If you are in doubt about this offer, you should consult an independent financial adviser who, if you are taking advice in Ireland, is authorised or exempted under the ~~the~~ European Communities (Markets in Financial Instruments) Regulations ~~2007-2017~~ (S.I. No. ~~60 of 2007~~) 375 of 2017 as amended;

(ii) the date when the document is ~~despatched~~ sent, the name and address of the offeror, including where the offeror is a company, its type and the address of its registered office, ~~and, if appropriate, of the person making the offer on behalf of the offeror;~~

(iii) the identity of every person acting in concert with the offeror or, to the extent that this is known to the offeror, with the offeree, including, in the case of a company, its type, the address of its registered office and its relationship with the offeror or, to the extent that this is known to the offeror, with the offeree, as applicable;

(iv) details of each class of securities for which the offer is made, including ~~whether those securities will be transferred "cum" or "ex" any dividend and~~ the maximum and minimum percentages of those securities which the offeror undertakes to acquire;

(v) the terms of the offer, the total consideration offered including the consideration offered for each class of security and particulars of the way in which the consideration is to be paid in accordance with Rule 31.8;

(vi) in the case of an offer under Rule 9, the information required under subparagraph (b)(v) shall include the method employed under Rule 9.4 in calculating the consideration offered;

(vii) all conditions to which the offer is subject ~~(including any termination events prescribed by any implementation agreement between the offeror and offeree if it is a condition to the offer that the implementation agreement not have been terminated);~~

(viii) particulars of all documents required, and procedures to be followed, for acceptance of the offer;

(ix) details of every agreement or arrangement to which the offeror is party and which relates to the circumstances in which the offeror may or may not invoke or seek to invoke a condition to its offer and to the consequences of its doing so, including details of any break fees payable as a result;

(x) if the Panel has given consent to the offeree board to enter into a contract or arrangement of the kind described in Rule 21.2, details of that contract or arrangement;

(xi) the market price quotations for the securities the subject of the offer, and (in the case of a securities exchange offer) for the

securities offered, for the first business day in each of the six months immediately before the date of the offer document, for the last business day before the commencement of the offer period and for the latest practicable date before the ~~despatch of the offer document~~ is sent. Price quotations stated in respect of securities quoted on a recognised market shall be the closing dealt price on the relevant day as published by that market. Where securities the subject of the offer or securities offered as consideration under the offer are quoted on more than one recognised market, the relevant quotations on each such market shall be included. If there have been no dealings in the securities on any relevant day, the price to be quoted shall be the midpoint between the high and low market guide prices, or the market guide price if only one is quoted. If any of the securities are not quoted on a recognised market, any information available as to the number and price of transactions which have taken place during the preceding six months shall be stated together with the source, or an appropriate negative statement;

(xii) in the case of a securities exchange offer, full particulars of the securities being offered, including the rights attaching to them, the first dividend or interest payment in which the new securities to be issued as consideration under the offer will participate and how the securities will rank for dividends or interest, capital and redemption; a statement indicating the effect of acceptance on the capital and income position of the offeree's shareholders; and a statement specifying whether an application for quotation for the securities has been or will be made to a recognised market and whether a quotation on any other stock exchange or market has been or will be sought;

(xiii) in the case of a securities exchange offer, the effect of full acceptance of the offer upon the offeror's earnings and assets, profits and business liabilities which may be significant for a proper appraisal of the offer;

(xiv) in the case of a takeover bid, the compensation offered for any removal of rights pursuant to Regulation 18, together with particulars of the way in which the compensation is to be paid and the method employed in determining it; ~~and~~

(xv) the national law which will govern contracts concluded between the offeror and the holders of securities of the offeree as a result of the offer, and the competent courts;

(xvi) summary details of any current ratings and outlooks publicly accorded to the offeror and the offeree by credit rating agencies, any changes made to previous ratings or outlooks during the offer period, and a summary of the reasons given, if any, for any such changes;

(xvii) the information required under Rule 2.9(a) in respect of any irrevocable commitment or letter of intent which the offeror or any person acting in concert with it has procured in relation to relevant securities of the offeree or, if appropriate, the offeror;

(xviii) a list of the documents which the offeror has published on a website in accordance with Rules 26.2 and 26.3 and the address of the website on which the documents are published; and

(xix) any profit forecast or quantified financial benefits statement, and any related reports or confirmations, required by Rule 28.

(c) subject to Rule ~~25.8(b)~~ 25.6(b), the offer document shall contain information on the offeree on the same basis as set out in sub- paragraphs (a)(i) ~~(4)~~ to ~~(8iv)~~;

(d) the offer document shall contain a description of how the offer is to be financed and the source of the finance. ~~The principal lenders or arrangers of such finance shall be named. If the offeror intends that the payment of interest on, repayment of or security for, any liability (contingent or otherwise) will depend to any significant extent on the business of the offeree, the arrangements contemplated shall be described in the offer document. If this is not the case, a negative statement to this effect shall be made;~~ (s) of the finance. Details shall be provided of the debt facilities or other instruments entered into in order to finance the offer and to refinance the existing debt or working capital facilities of the offeree and, in particular:

(i) the amount of each facility or instrument;

(ii) the repayment terms;

(iii) interest rates, including any "step up" or other variation provided for;

(iv) any security provided;

(v) a summary of the key covenants;

(vi) the names of the principal providers of finance; and

(vii) if applicable, details of the time by which the offeror will be required to refinance the acquisition facilities and of the consequences of its not doing so by that time;

(e) if any document issued by an offeror contains a comparison of the value of the offer with previous prices of the offeree's shares (and irrespective of what other comparisons are included):

(i) a comparison between the current value of the offer and the price of the offeree's shares on the last business day prior to the commencement of the offer period; and

(ii) if the consideration includes quoted securities, a comparison between the value of the offer, based on the price of such securities on the last day prior to the commencement of the offer period, and the price of the offeree's shares on that day,

shall be prominently included in that document;

~~(f) if any document despatched to shareholders of the offeree in connection with an offer includes a recommendation, opinion or report of an adviser, including a financial adviser or a consultant, the document shall, unless issued by the adviser concerned, include a statement that the adviser has given and not withdrawn his or her consent to the issue of the document with the inclusion of his or her recommendation, opinion or report in the form and context in which it is included;~~

~~(g)(f)~~ if the offeror is a subsidiary of another company, the offer document shall also contain in respect of the offeror's ultimate holding company the information specified in paragraph (a), by reference to consolidated accounts where applicable, and the information specified in subparagraph (b)(xiii), unless the Panel agrees that the subsidiary concerned is of sufficient substance in relation to the offeror's group and to the offeree to render such additional information unnecessary;

~~(h)(g)~~ in the case of a securities exchange offer, if the consideration includes securities of a company other than the offeror, the offer document shall also contain in respect of that company the information specified in paragraph (a); and

~~(i)(h)~~ the offeror shall consult the Panel in advance in any case to which subparagraph ~~(a)(iii)(a)(vii)~~ applies, or may apply, regarding the application of its provisions to that particular case.

24.324.4 INTERESTS AND DEALINGS IN RELEVANT SECURITIES

- (a) The offer document shall state:
- (i) details of all relevant securities of the offeree in which the offeror is interested, in each case specifying the nature of the interests concerned in accordance with the applicable provisions of Rule 8.6(a); and details of all short positions of the offeror in any class of relevant securities of the offeree in accordance with the applicable provisions of that Rule;
- (ii) the same details as in (i) above in relation to each of:
- (1) the directors of the offeror;
- (2) any other person acting in concert with the offeror;
- ~~(3) any person who, prior to the despatch of the offer document, has provided the offeror or any person acting in concert with it with an irrevocable commitment or letter of intent, together with the names of such persons and details of any such commitments or letters;~~
- ~~(4)(3)~~ any person with whom the offeror, or any person acting in concert with the offeror, has any arrangement to which Rule 8.7 applies;
- (iii) in the case of a securities exchange offer, the same details as in subparagraph (i) in respect of any relevant securities of the offeror in relation to each of the persons listed in subparagraph (ii);
- (iv) in the case of a securities exchange offer, the amount of relevant securities of the offeror which the offeror has redeemed or purchased during the period beginning 12 months prior to the commencement of the offer period and ending on the latest practicable date prior to the ~~despatch of~~ date on which the offer document is sent, together with details of each such redemption and purchase, including dates and prices.
- (b) If in the case of any of the persons referred to in paragraph (a)(i), (ii) or (where applicable) (iii) there are no interests in relevant securities or short positions to be disclosed, that fact shall be stated in the offer document. This shall not apply in the case of paragraph ~~(a)(ii)(4)(a)(ii)(3)~~ if no arrangements of the kind referred to in that sub-paragraph exist.
- (c) If any person referred to in Rule ~~24.3(a)(i)~~ 24.4(a)(i) to (iii) has dealt in any of the relevant securities of the offeree (or, in the case of a securities exchange offer only, of the offeror) during the period beginning 12 months prior to the commencement of the offer period and ending with the latest practicable date prior to the ~~despatch of~~ date on which the offer document is sent, the details, including numbers of securities, dates and prices of such dealings shall be stated in the offer document in accordance with the applicable provisions of Rule 8.6(a). If no such dealings have taken place, that fact shall be stated.
- ~~(d) References to irrevocable commitments shall include the circumstances, if any, in which they will cease to be binding.~~
- ~~(e)(d)~~ In the case of a director of the offeror, the disclosure shall include all interests and short positions of any other person whose interests in the shares of the offeror would be treated as interests of that director under Chapter ~~4-5~~ of Part ~~IV-V~~ of the Companies Act ~~1990~~ 2014.

#### 24.424.5 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS

The offer document shall state (in the case of a securities exchange offer only) whether and in what manner the emoluments of the directors of the offeror and of any holding company of the offeror will be affected by the

acquisition of the offeree or by any other associated transaction. If there will be no effect, this shall be stated.

#### **24.524.6 SPECIAL ARRANGEMENTS**

Except with the consent of the Panel, the offer document shall contain a statement as to whether or not any agreement, arrangement or understanding (including any compensation arrangement) having any connection with or dependence upon the offer exists between the offeror or any person acting in concert with it and any of the directors or recent directors of the offeree or any of the holders or recent holders of, or any persons interested or recently interested in, relevant securities of the offeree, and shall contain full particulars of any such agreement, arrangement or understanding. For the purposes of Rule 24.524.6, “recent” and “recently” refer to the period since the date 12 months prior to the commencement of the offer period.

#### **24.624.7 INCORPORATION OF OBLIGATIONS AND RIGHTS**

The offer document shall state the time allowed for acceptance of the offer and any alternative offer and shall incorporate language that appropriately reflects Rules 10.3 to 10.6 and those parts of Rules 13.3(a), 13.3(c) (if applicable), 17 and 31 to 34 (excluding Rule 31.6(b)) that impose timing obligations or confer rights or impose restrictions on offerors, offerees or shareholders of offerees.

#### **24.724.8 CASH CONFIRMATION**

If the consideration under the offer is cash or includes an element of cash, the offer document shall include confirmation by an appropriate third party (including, inter alia, the offeror’s bank or financial adviser) that resources are available to the offeror sufficient to satisfy full acceptance of the offer. If such confirmation proves to be inaccurate, the Panel may direct the person who gave such confirmation to provide the necessary resources unless the Panel is satisfied that, in giving the confirmation, that person acted responsibly and took all reasonable steps to assure itself that the cash was available and would continue to be available at all relevant times.

#### **24.824.9 ULTIMATE OWNER OF SECURITIES ACQUIRED**

Unless otherwise agreed by the Panel, the offer document shall contain a statement as to whether or not any securities acquired in pursuance of the offer will be transferred to any other person in accordance with any agreement, arrangement or understanding, together with the names of the parties to any such agreement, arrangement or understanding and particulars of all interests in the relevant securities of the offeree held by such persons, or a statement that no such interests are held.

#### **24.924.10 LISTING CONDITIONS**

If securities are included in the consideration under an offer and the offeror intends to obtain a quotation for them on a recognised market, the relevant quotation condition of the offer shall, except with the consent of the Panel, be in terms which ensure that it is capable of being satisfied only when all steps required for the granting of the quotation have been taken, subject only to announcement by the appropriate authority in that recognised market has announced of its decision to grant the that quotation in respect of the securities or (as appropriate) to official notice of issuance by that appropriate authority.

#### **24.1024.11 ESTIMATED VALUE OF UNQUOTED PAPER CONSIDERATION**

If the consideration under an offer includes the issue of unquoted securities, the offer document and any subsequent circular from the offeror shall contain an estimate of the value of such securities by an appropriate adviser.

#### **24.1124.12 NO SET-OFF OF CONSIDERATION**

The offer document shall contain a statement to the effect that, except with the consent of the Panel, settlement of the consideration to which any shareholder is entitled under the offer will be implemented in full in accordance with the terms of the offer without regard to any lien, right of set-off, counterclaim or other analogous right to which the offeror may be, or claim to be, entitled against such shareholder.

~~24.12~~24.13 ARRANGEMENTS IN RELATION TO DEALINGS

The offer document shall disclose any arrangement to which Rule 8.7 applies which exists between the offeror, or any person acting in concert with the offeror, and any other person; if there are no such arrangements, this shall be stated.

~~24.13~~24.14 CASH UNDERWRITTEN ALTERNATIVE OFFERS

The procedure for acceptance of a cash underwritten alternative offer which is capable of being shut off in accordance with Rule 33.2 shall be prominently stated in the relevant documents and acceptance forms. The offer document, the acceptance form and any subsequent documents shall make clear whether shareholders must lodge their certificates or other documents of title (if any) by the closing date of the cash underwritten alternative offer, in addition to their completed acceptance forms, in order to receive cash.

~~24.14~~ MATERIAL CHANGES IN INFORMATION

~~An offeror shall announce without delay details of any material change which occurs during the offer period in any information previously published by it or on its behalf and shall, if required by the Panel, issue a circular to the shareholders of the offeree containing details of any such material change.~~

24.15 INCORPORATION OF INFORMATION BY REFERENCE

(a) Except with the consent of the Panel, only the information required to be included in documents under the following rules may be incorporated into the relevant document by reference to another source:

- ~~(i) Rules 24.2 (a)(i)(1) to (3) and (5) to (7);~~
- ~~(ii) Rules 24.2(a)(ii)(1) and (2); and~~
- ~~(iii) Rules 24.2(a)(iii) and Rule 24.2(c), in so far as they refer to Rules 24.2(a)(i)(1) to (3) and (5) to (7).~~

(i) Rules 24.3(a)(i) and (iii); and

(ii) Rule 24.3(c), in so far as it refers to Rule 24.3(a)(i) and (iii)

(b) Information that is incorporated into a document by reference to another source shall be published on a website by no later than the date on which the document is published. The information published on a website shall be published:

- (i) in a form that may be printed, read and retained by the person to whom the document is required to be sent; and
- (ii) in a “read-only” format so that it may not be amended or altered in any way.

(c) Every document that incorporates information by reference to another source shall contain a prominent statement that a shareholder or other person to whom it is sent may request a copy of any such information in hard copy form. Every such document shall also state that a hard copy of the information will not be sent to that person unless requested and details shall be provided of how a hard copy may be obtained (including an address in the Republic of Ireland and a telephone number to which requests may be submitted). Any such request shall be made in accordance with the procedure specified in the document, announcement or information and shall provide an address to which the hard copy document, announcement or other information may be sent.

(d) If a person is sent a document which incorporates information by reference to another source and that person requests a copy of the information so incorporated in hard copy form, the party that published the document shall ensure that a copy of the requested information is sent to the relevant person in hard copy form as soon as possible and in any event within two business days of the request being received by that party.

(e) Where a document incorporates information by reference to other sources, a consolidated list, which shall be prominently displayed, of all such information and sources shall be provided in each such document, giving full details of where the information may be located, including details of the address of the website on which the information is published and details of the relevant document, page and, where relevant, paragraph numbers. A general reference to where information may be found shall not be sufficient.

#### 24.16 DIVIDENDS

(a) It must be a term of the offer that the offeror has the right to reduce the offer consideration by the amount of any dividend (or other distribution) which is paid or becomes payable by the offeree to offeree shareholders, unless, and to the extent that, offeree shareholders are entitled under the terms of the offer to receive and retain all or part of a specified dividend (or other distribution) in addition to the offer consideration.

(b) It must also be a term of the offer that, if the offeror exercises the right to reduce the offer consideration by all or part of the amount of a dividend (or other distribution) that has not been paid, offeree shareholders will be entitled to receive and retain that dividend (or other distribution).

## RULE 25. OFFEREE BOARD CIRCULARS

### 25.1 THE FIRST RESPONSE CIRCULAR

(a) Except with the consent of the Panel, the offeree board shall advise the shareholders of the offeree of its opinion on the offer in a circular (the "first response circular") which it shall send to those shareholders within 14 days after the date on which the offer document is sent.

(b) The offeree board shall append to the first response circular a separate opinion from the representatives of its employees on the effects of the offer on employment, provided such opinion is received in good time before the sending of that circular. Where any such opinion is received during the course of the offer but not in good time before the sending of the response circular, the offeree shall promptly publish the opinion on a website and announce to a Regulatory Information Service that it has been so published.

(c) Simultaneously with the sending of the first response circular under paragraph (a), the offeree shall make the circular readily available to the offeree's employee representatives or, where there are no such representatives, to the employees themselves.

### 25.125.2 OPINION OF THE OFFEREE BOARD

- (a) The offeree board shall include in the first response circular;
- (i) its opinion on the offer (including any alternative offers);
  - (ii) the substance and source of the advice given to it by the independent adviser appointed pursuant to Rule 3.1; and
  - (iii) the other information specified in Rule 25.

~~(b) If any document despatched by or on behalf of the offeree board to shareholders of the offeree in connection with an offer includes a recommendation, opinion or report of an adviser, including a financial adviser or a consultant, the document shall, unless issued by the adviser concerned, include a statement that the adviser has given and not withdrawn his or her consent to the issue of the document with the inclusion of his or her recommendation, opinion or report in the form and context in which it is included.~~

~~(c)(b)~~ If the offeree board is split in its opinion on an offer, the directors who are in a minority shall also publish their opinion. Except with the consent of the Panel, the offeree shall be obliged to ~~despatch~~ send the opinion of such directors to shareholders of the offeree.

~~(d)(c)~~ If a director of the offeree has a conflict of interest, he or she shall not be joined with the remainder of the offeree board in the expression of its opinion on the offer, and the nature of the conflict shall be clearly explained in any document ~~despatched~~ sent by the offeree board to shareholders.

### 25.225.3 VIEWS OF THE OFFEREE BOARD ON THE OFFEROR'S PLANS FOR THE OFFEREE AND ITS EMPLOYEES

The opinion referred to in Rule ~~25.1(a)(i)~~ 25.2(a)(i) shall include the views of the offeree board on:

- (a) the effects of implementation of the offer on all the offeree's interests including, specifically, employment; and
- (b) the offeror's strategic plans for the offeree and their likely repercussions on employment and on the locations of the offeree's places of business, as set out in the offer document pursuant to Rule ~~24.4~~ 24.2; and shall state the offeree board's reasons for forming its opinion.

**25.325.4 INTERESTS AND DEALINGS IN RELEVANT SECURITIES**

(a) The first response circular (whether recommending acceptance or rejection of the offer) shall state:

(i) details of all relevant securities of the offeror in which the offeree or any of the directors of the offeree is interested, in each case specifying the nature of the interests concerned in accordance with the applicable provisions of Rule 8.6(a); and details of all short positions of each such interested person in any class of relevant securities of the offeror in accordance with the applicable provisions of that Rule;

(ii) the same details as in subparagraph (i) above, in respect of relevant securities of the offeree, in relation to each of:

(1) the directors of the offeree;

(2) any other person who is acting in concert with the offeree; and

~~(3) any person who, prior to the despatch of the first response circular, has provided the offeree or any person acting in concert with it with an irrevocable commitment or letter of intent, together with the names of such persons and details of any such commitment or letter, including, in the case of a commitment, the circumstances in which it will cease to be binding; and~~

~~(4)(3)~~ any person who has an arrangement to which Rule 8.7 applies with the offeree or with any person who is acting in concert with the offeree;

(iii) in the case of a securities exchange offer, the same details as in subparagraph (i) above in respect of any relevant securities of the offeror in relation to each of the persons listed in subparagraph ~~(ii)(2) to (4)(ii)(2) and (3)~~;

(iv) the amount of relevant securities of the offeree which the offeree has redeemed or purchased during the period beginning 12 months prior to the commencement of the offer period and ending on the latest practicable date prior to the despatch of date on which the circular is sent, together with details of any such redemption or purchase, including dates and prices; and

(v) whether the directors of the offeree intend, in respect of their own beneficial holdings of securities, to accept or reject the offer.

(b) If in the case of any of the persons referred to in paragraph (a)(i) or (ii) there are no interests in relevant securities or short positions to be disclosed, that fact shall be stated in the circular. This shall not apply in the case of paragraph ~~(a)(ii)(3)~~ if no arrangements of the kind referred to in that paragraph exist.

(c) (i) If any person referred to in paragraph (a)(i) has dealt in any relevant securities of the offeree or the offeror ~~during the period beginning 12 months prior to~~ between the commencement of the offer period and ~~ending with~~ the latest practicable date prior to the despatch of date on which the circular is sent, the details, including numbers of securities, dates and prices, shall be stated in the circular in accordance with the applicable provisions of Rule 8.6(a).

(ii) If any person referred to in paragraph (a)(ii)(2) ~~to (4) and (3)~~ has dealt in any relevant securities of the offeree or (in the case of a securities exchange offer only) of the offeror during the period beginning with the commencement of the offer period and ending

with the latest practicable date prior to the ~~despatch~~ sending of the circular, similar details shall be stated in the circular.

(iii) In all cases, if no such dealings have taken place, that fact shall be stated in the circular.

(d) If, as part of the arrangements leading to an offer being made, some or all of the directors of the offeree resign, Rule ~~25.3-25.4~~ shall apply to them, and their interests in relevant securities and dealings shall be disclosed, in the circular as if they had remained directors.

(e) In the case of a director of the offeree, the disclosure shall include all interests and short positions of any other person whose interests in the shares of the offeree would be treated as interests of that director under Chapter ~~4-5~~ of Part ~~IV-V~~ of the Companies Act ~~1990~~ 2014.

#### 25.425.5 DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

(a) The first response circular (whether recommending acceptance or rejection of the offer) shall contain particulars of all service contracts of any director or proposed director of the offeree with the offeree or any of its subsidiaries or associated companies ~~where such contracts have more than 12 months to run~~. If there are none, this shall be stated in the circular.

(b) If any such contract has been entered into or amended within 6 months prior to the date of the circular, particulars shall be given in the circular in respect of the earlier contracts (if any) which have been replaced or amended as well as in respect of the current contract. If there has been no such earlier contract, this shall be stated in the circular.

(c) The particulars required to be disclosed in the circular in respect of existing service contracts and, where appropriate under paragraph (b), earlier contracts shall be:

(i) the name of the director under contract;

(ii) the ~~expiry~~ date of the contract, the unexpired term and details of any notice periods;

(iii) the amount of fixed remuneration payable under the contract (irrespective of whether received as a director or for management);

(iv) the amount of any variable remuneration payable under the contract (including, inter alia, commission on profits) with details of the basis for calculating such remuneration;

(v) arrangements for company payments in respect of a pension or similar scheme: and

(vi) any provision for compensation upon early termination of the contract.

(d) An increase in the remuneration of a director of an offeree, ~~who has a service contract having more than 12 months to run,~~ made within 6 months prior to the date of the circular shall be treated as an amendment of a service contract for the purposes of Rule ~~25.4~~ 25.5.

#### 25.5 ~~ARRANGEMENTS IN RELATION TO DEALINGS~~

#### 25.6 FINANCIAL INFORMATION ON THE OFFEREE

(a) The offeree board shall include in the first response circular a statement of all known material changes in its financial or trading position which have occurred since the end of the last financial period for which audited accounts, a preliminary statement of annual results, a half-yearly financial report or interim financial information has been published or a statement that there are no known material changes.

(b) Where the first response circular is combined with the offer document, the offeror shall not be required to comply with Rule 24.3(c) insofar as it relates to Rule 24.3(a)(ii).

#### 25.7 OTHER INFORMATION

The first response circular ~~(whether recommending acceptance or rejection of the offer)~~ shall disclose shall set out:

(a) any arrangement to which Rule 8.7 applies which exists between the offeree, or any person who is acting in concert with the offeree, and any other person; if there is no such arrangement, this shall be stated in the circular.

#### 25.6 MATERIAL CONTRACTS

~~The first response circular shall contain~~ (b) a summary of the principal contents of each material contract (not being a contract entered into in the ordinary course of business) entered into by the offeree or any of its subsidiaries since the date two years before the commencement of the offer period, including particulars of dates, parties, terms and conditions and any consideration passing to or from the offeree or any of its subsidiaries.

(c) the information required under Rule 2.9(a) in respect of any irrevocable commitment or letter of intent which the offeree or any person acting in concert with it has procured in relation to relevant securities of the offeree or, if appropriate, the offeror;

(d) a list of the documents which the offeree has published on a website in accordance with Rules 26.2 and 26.3 and the address of the website on which the documents are published; and

(e) any profit forecast or quantified financial benefits statement, and any related reports or confirmations, required by Rule 28.

## RULE 26. DOCUMENTS TO BE PUBLISHED ON A WEBSITE

### 25.7 MATERIAL CHANGES IN INFORMATION

~~The offeree shall announce without delay details of any material change which occurs during the offer period in any information previously published by it or on its behalf and shall, if required by the Panel, despatch to the shareholders of the offeree a circular containing details of any such material change.~~

### RULE 26. DOCUMENTS TO BE ON DISPLAY

~~(a) (i) Except with the consent of the Panel, the offeror and the offeree shall each make available for inspection and publish on a website copies of the documents specified in paragraph (b) from the time at which the offer document or (as the case may be) the first response circular is published until the end of the course of the offer. The offer document and the first response circular shall each state which documents are so available and the address (being a place in the City of Dublin and/or such other place as the Panel may agree or direct) where inspection can be made and the address of the website on which the documents are published. Access to the hard copy form of documents on display shall be given during normal business hours on each business day during the inspection period specified above to any person who requests it.~~

~~(ii) An offeror and the offeree shall each use its own website when publishing copies of the documents specified in paragraph (b). If an offeror or the offeree does not have its own website, or proposes to use a website maintained by a third party for that purpose, it shall consult the Panel.~~

## DOCUMENTS, ANNOUNCEMENTS AND INFORMATION TO BE PUBLISHED ON A WEBSITE DURING THE COURSE OF AN OFFER

The following documents, announcements and information must be published on a website by the offeror or offeree, as relevant, promptly following the publication of the relevant document, announcement or information and in any event by no later than 12 noon on the following business day:

(i) any document or information in relation to an offer sent to offeree shareholders in accordance with Rule 30.2;

(ii) any offer or proposal sent to holders of convertible securities of the offeree in accordance with Rule 15;

(iii) any announcement (other than an announcement referred to in Rule 26.4(a) below) published via a RIS (whether related to the offer or not);

~~(b) The following documents shall be made available for inspection and (iii) any document or information required to be published on a website in accordance with paragraph under any provision of the Rules (a); other than Rules 26.2 or 26.3);~~

(iv) any presentation or other document relating to an offer or a party to an offer provided to, or used in any meeting referred to in Rule 20.2 including any telephone call or meeting held by electronic means ( if there are different versions of a presentation or other document, only the latest version provided that it does not omit any relevant information or opinion which was included in a previous version);

(v) any article, letter or other written communication relating to an offer or the financial performance of a party to an offer provided to the media by or on behalf of an offeror or the offeree and published by the media;

(vi) any presentation or other document relating to an offer or a party to an offer provided to, or used in any meeting including any telephone call or meeting held by electronic means with any holder of publicly-traded debt securities of an offeror or offeree acting in its capacity as such; and

(vii) such other documents as the Panel may require to be published on a website in the circumstances of a particular case.

#### 26.2 DOCUMENTS TO BE PUBLISHED ON A WEBSITE FOLLOWING AN ANNOUNCEMENT OF "A FIRM ANNOUNCEMENT"

The following documents shall be published on a website promptly following the publication of the announcement of a firm intention to make an offer (or, if later, the date of the relevant document) and in any event by no later than 12 noon on the following business day:

(a) any document evidencing an irrevocable commitment or letter of intent procured by the offeror or offeree (as appropriate) or any person acting in concert with it;

(b) any agreements or arrangements, or, if not reduced to writing, a memorandum of the terms of such agreements or arrangements, of the kind referred to in Rule 8.7(a);

(c) if the Panel has given consent to the offeree board to enter into a contract or arrangement of the kind described in Rule 21.2, a copy of the contract or arrangement; and

(d) any agreements or arrangements, or, if not reduced to writing, a memorandum of all the terms of such agreements or arrangements, which relate to the circumstances in which the offeror may or may not invoke or seek to invoke a pre-condition or a condition to its offer pursuant to Rule 2.7(b)(vi).

#### 26.3 DOCUMENTS TO BE PUBLISHED ON A WEBSITE FOLLOWING THE MAKING OF AN OFFER

The following documents shall be published on a website from the time the offer document or first response circular, as appropriate, is published (or, if later, the date of the relevant document)

(i) the memorandum and articles of association of the offeror or the offeree, as appropriate, or equivalent documents;

(ii) audited consolidated accounts of the offeror or the offeree, as appropriate, for the last two financial years for which these have been published;

(iii)(ii) every report, letter, valuation or other document, any part of which is exhibited or referred to in any document issued by or on behalf of the offeror or the offeree, as appropriate, other than the service contracts of the offeree directors and any material contracts that are not entered into in connection with the offer;

(iv)(iii) written consents of advisers and consultants (as required by Rules 24.2(f) and 25.1(b) Rule 23.2(a));

(v) all material contracts entered into by the offeror or the offeree, or any of their respective subsidiaries, in connection with the offer (as required by Rules 24.2(a)(i)(10) and 25.6); 24.3(a)(vi) and 25.7(b);

(v) any documents relating to the financing of the offer referred to in Rule 24.3(d);

(vi) if where a profit forecast or quantified financial benefits statement has been made published;

- (1) the reports of the ~~auditors or consultant reporting~~ accountants and of the financial advisers (as required by Rule 28.3);
  - (2) the letters giving the consent of the ~~auditors or consultant reporting~~ accountants and of the financial advisers to the issue of the relevant document with the report in the form and context in which it is included (as required by Rule 23.2(b)) or, if appropriate, ~~to the continued use of the report in a subsequent document~~ the confirmations that their reports continue to apply (as required by ~~Rules 28.4 and 28.5~~ Rule 27.2);
- (vii) if an asset valuation has been made:
- (1) the valuation ~~certificate and associated report or schedule containing details of the aggregate valuation report~~ (as required by Rule ~~29.5~~ 29.3);
  - (2) a letter stating that the valuer has given and not withdrawn ~~his or her~~ its consent to the publication of ~~his or her~~ the valuation ~~certificate report~~ in the relevant document (as required by Rule ~~29.5~~; 23.2(c));
  - (3) if appropriate, the confirmation by the valuer that an updated valuation would not be materially different (as required by Rules 29.5 and 27.2);

~~(viii) any document evidencing an irrevocable commitment or a letter of intent;~~

~~(ix(viii))~~ if the Panel has given consent to aggregation of dealings, a full list of all dealings; and

~~(x) in the case of the offeror, documents relating to the financing arrangements for the offer if such arrangements are described in the offer document in compliance with the third sentence of Rule 24.2(d);~~

~~(xi) every agreement or arrangement, or, if it is not in writing, a memorandum of the terms of such agreement or arrangement, as disclosed in the offer document pursuant to Rule 24.2(b)(ix);~~

~~(xii(ix))~~ all derivative contracts which in whole or in part have been disclosed under Rule ~~24.3(a)~~ 24.4(a) or (c) or Rule ~~25.3(a)~~ 25.4(a) or (c) or in accordance with Rule 8.1. Documents in respect of the last mentioned shall be ~~made available for inspection and~~ published on a website from the time the offer document or, as appropriate, the first response circular is published or from the time of disclosure, whichever is the later; ~~(xiii)~~

## 26.4 WEB SITES

(a)  
~~(xiv) in the case of the offeror, the offer document and every revised offer document;~~ if the Panel has given consent to the offeree board to enter into a contract or arrangement of the kind described in Rule 21.2, a copy of the contract or arrangement;

~~(xv) in the case of the offeree, the offeree board circular and the response circular of the offeree board concerning every revised offer;~~

~~(xvi) in the case of the offeror, each (if any) offer or proposal made by it pursuant to Rule 15; and~~

~~(xvii) such other documents as the Panel may require to be displayed and published on a website in the circumstances of a particular case.~~

RULE 27. DOCUMENTS SUBSEQUENTLY DESPATCHED TO SHAREHOLDERS

24.14 MATERIAL CHANGES An offeror shall announce without delay details of any material change which occurs during the offer period in any information previously published by it or on its behalf and shall, if required by the Panel, issue a circular to the shareholders of the offeree containing details of any such material change.

) Copies of the following announcements in relation to notifications made pursuant to the rules of other regulatory regimes are not required to be published on a website:

(i) transactions by directors, secretaries or other persons discharging managerial responsibility in respect of a company;

(ii) the acquisition or disposal of major shareholdings;

(iii) disclosures in respect of increases or decreases in the total number of voting rights and capital in respect of each class of shares in issue (including treasury shares); and

(iv) announcements of the number of relevant securities in issue under Rule 2.12.

(b) Copies of all documents, announcements and information required to be published on a website under Rule 26 shall continue to be made available on a website free of charge during the course of the offer.

(c) All documents, announcements and information published in relation to an offer by an offeror or the offeree in the manner described in Rule 26.1 above shall contain a statement providing details of the website on which a copy will be published and a clear link to the relevant webpage.

(d) An offeror and the offeree shall each use its own website when publishing copies of documents, announcements and information in accordance with Rule 26. If an offeror or the offeree does not have its own website, or proposes to use a website maintained by a third party for that purpose, it shall consult the Panel.

(e) All documents, announcements and information published on a website in accordance with Rule 26 shall be published in a "read-only" format so that they may not be amended or altered in any way.

(f) Except as provided in Rule 26.1(iv), if a document is amended, varied, updated or replaced during the period in which it is required to be published on a website under Rule 26, the amended, varied or updated document, or the replacement document, must also be published on a website and an announcement made explaining that this has been done. Similarly, where a new document is entered into which is required to be published on a website under Rule 26, an announcement must be made explaining that the document has been entered into and that it has been so published.

## RULE 27. MATERIAL CHANGES AND SUBSEQUENT DOCUMENTS

### 27.1 MATERIAL CHANGES

(a) Except with the consent of the Panel, following the publication of the initial offer document or offeree response circular (as appropriate) and until the end of the offer period, the offeror or the offeree (as appropriate) must promptly announce:

(i) any changes in information disclosed in any document or announcement published by it in connection with the offer which are material in the context of that document or announcement; and

(ii) any material new information which would have been required to have been disclosed in any previous document or announcement published during the offer period, had it been known at the time.

(b) Where an announcement is required to be made under Rule 27.1(a), the Panel may, in addition, require a document setting out the relevant information to be sent to the shareholders of the offeree.

~~Each document despatched to shareholders of the offeree by either (c) If, following the publication of the initial offer document or offeree response circular (as appropriate) and before the end of the offer period, an offeror or the offeree publishes any subsequent document in connection with the offer, that document shall contain details of any material change changes in information previously disclosed in any previous document published by it or on its behalf; if there has been no such change, this shall be stated in the document in connection with the offer which are material in the context of that document (or a statement that there have been no such material changes).~~ Without prejudice to the generality of that requirement, information previously published in relation to the following matters shall be updated in any document published by the offeror or (as the case may be) the offeree:~~(a~~

(i) the offeree board's opinion on the offer and the other matters as referred to in 25.2;

(ii) intentions with regard to the matters referred to in Rule 24.2;

(iii) the terms of the offer;

(iv) changes or additions to material contracts (as referred to in Rules ~~24.2(a)(i)~~(10~~24.3(a)(vi)~~ and ~~25.6~~;25.7(b));

(~~b~~v) all known material changes in the financial or trading position (as referred to in Rules ~~24.2(a)(i)~~4~~24.3(a)(ii)~~ and ~~25.6(a)~~);

(vi) irrevocable commitments and letters of intent (as referred to in Rule 24.3(b)(xvii) and Rule 25.7(c));

(vii) any inducement fees permitted under Rule 21;

(viii) profit forecasts and quantified financial benefits statements ((as referred to in Rules 24.3(b)(xix) and 25.7(e));

(ix) financing arrangements (as referred to in Rule 24.3(d));

~~25.8(a));(c(x)~~ interests in relevant securities and dealings (as referred to in Rules ~~24.3~~24.4 and ~~25.3~~25.4);

(~~d~~x) directors' emoluments (as referred to in Rule ~~24.4~~24.5);

(~~e~~xii) special arrangements (as referred to in Rule ~~24.5~~24.6);

(~~f~~xiii) ultimate owner of shares acquired under the offer (as referred to in Rule ~~24.8~~24.9);

~~(g)(xiv)~~ arrangements in relation to dealings (as referred to in Rules ~~24.12-24.13~~ and ~~25.5-25.7(a)~~); and

~~(h)(xy)~~ changes to directors' service contracts (as referred to in Rules ~~25.4-25.5~~ and 40.2(c)).

27.2 CONTINUING VALIDITY OF PROFIT FORECASTS, QUANTIFIED FINANCIAL BENEFITS STATEMENTS AND ASSET VALUATIONS

If any document or announcement published by the offeror or the offeree included a profit forecast, a quantified financial benefits statement or an asset valuation, any document subsequently published by that party in connection with the offer must, unless superseded by information included in the new document, include a statement by the directors of that party confirming:

(i) \_\_\_\_\_ that the profit forecast, quantified financial benefits statement or asset valuation (as appropriate) remains valid;

(ii) \_\_\_\_\_ where reports were obtained on a profit forecast or quantified financial benefits statement, that the reporting accountants and financial adviser(s) have confirmed that their reports continue to apply; and

(iii) \_\_\_\_\_ where a valuation report was obtained on an asset valuation, that the valuer has confirmed that an updated valuation would not be materially different.

~~If a profit forecast has been made, documents subsequently sent to shareholders of the offeree by the party making the forecast shall comply with the requirements of Rule 28.5.~~

RULE 28. PROFIT FORECASTS AND QUANTIFIED FINANCIAL BENEFITS STATEMENTS

RULE 28.28.1 REQUIREMENTS FOR PROFIT FORECASTS AND QUANTIFIED FINANCIAL BENEFITS STATEMENTS

(a) Except with the consent of the Panel, if during an offer period (or in an announcement which commences an offer period) the offeree or a securities exchange offeror publishes a profit forecast for a financial period ending 15 months or less from the date on which it is, or was, first published or publishes a quantified financial benefits statement, the document or announcement in which the forecast or statement is first published shall include:

(i) a report from its reporting accountants stating that, in their opinion, the forecast or statement has been properly compiled on the basis stated and (in the case of a profit forecast only) that the basis of accounting used is consistent with the company's accounting policies; and

(ii) a report from its financial adviser(s) stating that, in its (or their) opinion, the forecast or statement has been prepared with due care and diligence.

(b) Except with the consent of the Panel and subject to Rule 28.1(d), if the offeree or a securities exchange offeror published a profit forecast for a financial period ending 15 months or less from the date on which it is, or was, first published before the offer period commenced but after it received or made an approach with regard to a possible offer, the profit forecast shall be repeated in the offer document or first response circular (as appropriate) and that document (or, where any earlier document or announcement published during the offer period refers to that profit forecast, that document or announcement) shall also include the reports from its reporting accountants and financial adviser(s) specified in Rule 28.1(a)(i) and (ii).

(c) Except with the consent of the Panel and subject to Rule 28.1(e), if the offeree or a securities exchange offeror published a profit forecast of relevance to the offer for a financial period ending 15 months or less from the date on which it is, or was, first published before it received or made an approach with regard to a possible offer, the offer document or first response circular (as appropriate), or any earlier document or announcement published during the offer period in which the profit forecast is referred to, shall:

(i) repeat the profit forecast and include a statement by the directors that it remains valid and confirmations by the directors that the profit forecast has been properly compiled on the basis of the assumptions stated and that the basis of accounting used is consistent with the company's accounting policies (the "directors' confirmations"); or

(ii) include a statement by the directors that the profit forecast is no longer valid and an explanation of why that is the case; or

(iii) include a new profit forecast for the relevant period and the reports from its reporting accountants and financial adviser(s) specified in Rule 28.1(a)(i) and (ii).

(d) Subject to Rule 28.1(e), if the offeree or a securities exchange offeror published an ordinary course profit forecast for a financial period ending 15 months or less from the date on which it is, or was, first published before the offer period commenced but after it received or made an approach with regard to a possible offer, the requirements in Rule 28.1(b) shall not apply and the offer document or first response circular (as appropriate), or any earlier document or announcement published during the offer period in which the profit forecast is referred to, shall satisfy the requirements of Rule 28.1(c)(i), (ii) or (iii) (as appropriate).

(e) Rule 28.1(d) does not apply to an ordinary course profit forecast published by an offeree in the case of a management buy-out or an offer being made by the existing controller or group of controllers. In the case of a management buy-out or an offer being made by a person who controls, or who, together with persons acting in concert, controls, the offeree, where a profit forecast for a financial period ending 15 months or less from the date on which it is, or was, first published is published by the offeree before it received an approach with regard to a possible offer, the offer document, or any earlier document or announcement published during the offer period in which the profit forecast is referred to, shall repeat the profit forecast and include the reports specified in Rule 28.1(a)(i) and (ii).

(f) A profit forecast or a quantified financial benefits statement published on behalf of an offeror or offeree shall be deemed to be a profit forecast or a quantified financial benefits statement to which Rule 28 applies.

(g) With the consent of the Panel, Rule 28 shall not apply to a profit forecast or a quantified financial benefits statement published by or on behalf of an offeror where the consideration under the offer consists entirely of either a non-convertible debt instrument or a combination of cash and a non-convertible debt instrument.

(h) Subject to Rules 28.7 and 28.8, the repetition in any document, interview or statement (whether oral or written) during an offer period by or on behalf of an offeror or the offeree, or by a person acting in concert with an offeror or with the offeree, of a profit forecast or profit estimate relative to the offeree or a securities exchange offeror made by a third party (whether before or during the offer period) shall be deemed to be a profit forecast or profit estimate to which Rule 28 applies.

(i) Rule 28 shall apply to any profit forecast in respect of a company which controls an offeror, as if such company were the offeror.

## 28.2 LONG TERM PROFIT FORECASTS

(a) Except with the consent of the Panel, if, during an offer period (or in an announcement which commences an offer period), the offeree or a securities exchange offeror publishes a profit forecast for a financial period ending more than 15 months from the date on which it is, or was, first published, the document or announcement in which the profit forecast is first published shall include a statement by the directors that it remains valid and confirmations by the directors that the profit forecast has been properly compiled on the basis of the assumptions stated and that the basis of accounting used is consistent with the company's accounting policies.

(b) Except with the consent of the Panel, if the offeree or a securities exchange offeror published a profit forecast for a financial period ending more than 15 months from the date on which it is, or was, first published before the offer period commenced but after it received or made an approach with regard to a possible offer, the profit forecast shall be repeated in the offer document or first response circular (as appropriate) and that document (or, where any earlier document or announcement published during the offer period refers to that profit forecast, that document or announcement) shall also include a statement by the directors that it remains valid and confirmations by the directors that the profit forecast has been properly compiled on the basis of the assumptions stated and that the basis of accounting used is consistent with the company's accounting policies.

(c) Except with the consent of the Panel, if, before it received or made an approach with regard to a possible offer, the offeree or a securities exchange offeror published a profit forecast of relevance to the offer for a financial period ending more than 15 months from the date on which it is, or was, first published, the offer document or first response circular (as appropriate), or any earlier document or announcement published during the offer period in which the profit forecast is referred to, shall:

(i) repeat the profit forecast and include a statement by the directors that it remains valid and confirmations by the directors that the profit forecast has been properly compiled on the basis of the assumptions stated and that the basis of accounting used is consistent with the company's accounting policies (the "directors' confirmations"); or

(ii) include a statement by the directors that the profit forecast is no longer valid and an explanation of why that is the case; or

(iii) include a new profit forecast for the relevant period and include the directors' confirmations referred to in paragraph (i) above.

(d) Except with the consent of the Panel, if, during the offer period (or in an announcement which commences an offer period), the offeree or a securities exchange offeror either publishes for the first time or repeats a profit forecast for a future financial year, the document or announcement shall include a corresponding profit forecast for the current financial year and for each intervening financial year.

### 28.3 COMPILATION OF PROFIT FORECASTS AND QUANTIFIED FINANCIAL BENEFITS STATEMENTS

(a) Any profit forecast or quantified financial benefits statement shall be properly compiled and shall be prepared with due care and diligence. The profit forecast or quantified financial benefits statement, and the principal assumptions on which it is based, are the responsibility of the relevant party to the offer and its directors.

(b) A profit forecast (and the assumptions stated) or a quantified financial benefits statement (and the details included in accordance with Rule 28.6) shall be:

(i) understandable: it shall not be so complex or include such extensive disclosure that it cannot be readily understood;

(ii) reliable: it shall be supported by a thorough analysis of the offeree's and/or the offeror's business and shall represent factual and not hypothetical strategies, plans and risk analysis; and

(iii) comparable (in the case of a profit forecast only): it should be capable of justification by comparison with outcomes in the form of historical financial information.

(c) A forecast of profit before tax should disclose separately any non-recurrent items and tax charges if they are expected to be abnormally high or low.

### 28.4 ASSUMPTIONS AND BASES OF BELIEF

(a) When a profit forecast is included in any document or announcement published during an offer period (or in an announcement which commences an offer period), the document or announcement shall include the principal assumptions on which the profit forecast is based.

(b) The assumptions included for a profit forecast or bases of belief included for a quantified financial benefits statement should provide useful information as to its reasonableness and reliability. They shall:

(i) be readily understandable;

(ii) be specific and precise; and

(iii) not relate to the general accuracy of the estimates underlying the profit forecast or the quantified financial benefits statement.

(c) There shall be a clear distinction between assumptions or bases of belief about factors which the directors (or other members of the company's management) can influence and those which they cannot influence.

#### 28.5 PROFIT ESTIMATES

Rule 28.1 does not apply to a profit estimate included in:

(a) a preliminary statement of annual results which complies with the requirements in respect of preliminary profits statements of each recognised market on which securities of the company concerned are quoted;

(b) a statement of interim results which complies with the requirements in respect of interim reports of each recognised market on which securities of the company concerned are quoted; or

(c) an interim management statement which has been prepared in accordance with the reporting framework set out in International Accounting Standard 34.

#### 28.6 DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS FOR QUANTIFIED FINANCIAL BENEFITS STATEMENTS

When a quantified financial benefits statement is included in any document or announcement published during an offer period (or in an announcement which commences an offer period), the document or announcement shall include:

(a) the bases of belief supporting the statement (identifying the principal assumptions and sources of information);

(b) an analysis, explanation and quantification of the constituent elements sufficient to enable the context and **relative importance of those elements** to be understood;

(c) a base figure where any comparison is made with historical financial performance or with existing cost bases and structures;

(d) details of any disbenefits expected to arise;

(e) in the case of a statement falling under paragraph (a) of the definition of a "quantified financial benefits statement", a statement that the expected financial benefits will accrue as a direct result of the success of the offer and could not be achieved independently of the offer;

(f) an indication of when the financial benefits are expected to be realised;

(g) an indication of whether the expected financial benefits will be recurring, clearly identifying any non-recurring benefit(s); and

(h) the recurring and non-recurring costs of realising the expected financial benefits.

#### 28.7 PUBLICATION OF INVESTMENT ANALYSTS' FORECASTS ON WEBSITES

(a) Except with the consent of the Panel, where, during the offer period, the offeree or a securities exchange offeror publishes on its website profit forecasts relating to it that are derived from investment analysts' forecasts, the forecasts on the website shall be based on all forecasts provided by investment analysts who have published such forecasts, excluding:

(i) any forecasts which pre-date the publication of the company's latest preliminary statement of annual results or half-yearly financial report (as appropriate); and

(ii) any forecasts by investment analysts whose employer is controlled by, controls or is under the same control as any party to the offer or a connected adviser to any party to the offer.

(b) Except with the consent of the Panel, the following requirements shall be complied with (failing which, all investment analysts' forecasts shall be removed from the website upon the commencement of the offer period):

(i) for each line in respect of which forecasts are published on the website, the highest and lowest figures forecast by any investment analyst shall be stated, together with the arithmetic mean of all investment analysts' forecasts (a "consensus forecast");

(ii) the name of each organisation whose forecasts have been included in the calculation of the consensus forecast, and the dates of the forecasts, shall be stated;

(iii) if any analyst's forecast has been excluded from the calculation of the consensus forecast, the name of the organisation, the date of the forecast and the reason for its exclusion, shall be stated;

(iv) during the offer period, the relevant section of the website shall be kept up-to-date by including any new forecasts promptly after their publication and promptly excluding any forecasts which pre-date the publication of the latest preliminary statement of annual results or half-yearly financial report; and

(v) it shall be prominently stated that the investment analysts' forecasts are not endorsed by the company and that they have not been reviewed or reported on in accordance with the requirements of Rule 28.1(a) or Rule 28.2(a) as appropriate.

#### 28.8 REFERENCES TO CONSENSUS FORECASTS RELATING TO ANOTHER PARTY TO THE OFFER

(a) Except with the consent of the Panel, if, during the offer period (or in an announcement which commences an offer period), a party to the offer ("party A") wishes to refer to investment analysts' forecasts relating to any other party to the offer ("party B"), party A shall refer to either:

(i) a consensus forecast (see Rule 28.7(b)) published on party B's website in accordance with the requirements of Rule 28.7; or

(ii) if no such consensus forecast has been published on party B's website, a consensus forecast compiled by party A in accordance with the requirements of Rule 28.7.

(b) Where party A has referred to a consensus forecast relating to party B, any subsequent reference to that consensus forecast by party B will not be subject to Rule 28.1(a) or Rule 28.2(a) as appropriate, provided that party B does not endorse the consensus forecast.

(c) Any document or announcement which includes a reference by party A to a consensus forecast relating to party B shall make clear whether or not the reference is being made with the agreement or approval of party B. Where the consensus forecast is referred to in any document or announcement which is published by party A with the agreement or approval of party B, or at a time when the offer is a recommended offer, the consensus forecast will be treated as having been endorsed and published by party B and Rule 28.1(a) or Rule 28.2(a) as appropriate will therefore apply.

(d) Where party B has published consensus forecasts on its website in accordance with Rule 28.7, and party A wishes to refer to those consensus forecasts in accordance with Rule 28.8, the source data used by party B to

compile the consensus forecasts shall, on request, promptly be made available to party A.

## RULE 29. ASSET VALUATIONS

### 29.1 VALUATIONS TO BE REPORTED ON IF GIVEN IN CONNECTION WITH AN OFFER

(a) ~~Except~~ Subject to paragraph (b) or except with the consent of the Panel, no valuation of any assets shall be given by or on behalf of an offeror or an offeree during the offer period in connection with an offer or contemplated offer unless it is ~~supported by the opinion in the form of, or accompanied by, a valuation report~~ of a named independent valuer. The following provisions of Rule 29 shall apply to any such valuation and valuer.

(b) Rule 29 shall not apply to a valuation of its own assets given by or on behalf of an offeror whose offer is not a securities exchange offer.

~~(b)(i)(c)~~ Rule 29 applies not only to valuations of land, buildings, plant and machinery but also to valuations of any other assets. Where a valuation of any such other assets is to be given, the offeror or (as the case may be) the offeree shall consult the Panel in advance. ~~(ii) In the case of a valuation of land, buildings or plant and machinery, the independent valuer shall be a corporate member of The Society of Chartered Surveyors, a member of the Irish Auctioneers and Valuers Institute or any other person approved by the Panel for the purpose. Such independent valuer shall also have appropriate post-qualification experience in and knowledge of valuing land and buildings or plant and machinery of the type concerned and in the locality concerned; or, if he or she does not have such experience and knowledge, he or she shall be assisted formally by a valuer who has such experience and knowledge. In the case of a valuation of land, buildings or plant and machinery situated outside the State, the independent valuer shall have the appropriate qualifications, experience and knowledge in the relevant jurisdiction and shall prepare the valuation in accordance with the established principles and professional practices of that jurisdiction. In the case of a valuation of any assets other than land, buildings and plant and machinery, the independent valuer shall have the appropriate qualifications, experience and knowledge.~~

~~(iii)(d)~~ If an offer document or offeree board circular includes a statement of assets which reproduces a directors' estimate of asset values published with the accounts of the company concerned, such estimate shall not be deemed to be given in connection with an offer unless asset values are a significant factor in the assessment of the offer or the estimate is given more prominence in the offer document or offeree board circular than merely being referred to in a note to a statement of assets in an appendix.

### 29.2 THE VALUER

A valuer shall:

(i) be independent of the parties to the offer;

(ii) be appropriately qualified to give a valuation report on the valuation; and

(iii) have sufficient current knowledge of each relevant market and the necessary skills and understanding to prepare the valuation report.

The Panel shall be consulted in advance if there is any doubt as to whether a valuer satisfies the requirements of this Rule 29.2.

### BASIS OF 29.3 THE VALUATION REPORT

(a) A valuation report shall include:

(i) the name, address and professional qualifications of the valuer;

(ii) the date as at which the assets were valued;

(iii) details of the assets which are the subject of the valuation report;

(iv) separate valuations of each category of assets, and/or individual significant assets, consistent with any previously published valuations of those assets or with normal valuation reporting practice for such assets;

(v) details of the valuation standards to which the valuation report has been prepared;

(vi) the basis of valuation; and

(vii) all assumptions to which the valuation is subject which assumptions shall be fully explained.

(b) Except where the Panel consents otherwise, the valuation report shall not be:

(i) qualified; or

(ii) subject to any special assumptions or assumptions which might be inconsistent with the established and professional valuation practices in the relevant jurisdiction.

(c) A valuation report shall be prepared in accordance with:

(a) ~~(i) in~~ the case of valuations of land, buildings or plant and machinery, the valuation practices and standards prescribed ~~n the Manual shall be adhered to by~~ The Society of Chartered Surveyors where applicable; ~~or~~

(ii) other appropriate professional standards approved by the Panel,

and on a basis which is consistent with past practice in relation to the assets concerned.

(d) The basis of valuation shall be clearly stated in the valuation and should normally be market value or (in the case of land or properties) open market value.

~~(b) The basis of valuation shall be clearly stated in the valuation. For non-specialised properties, this shall normally be open market value. Property which is occupied for the purposes of the business of the offeror or (as the case may be) the offeree shall be valued at open market value for the existing use. If a property has been adapted or fitted out to meet the requirements of a particular business, the open market value shall relate to the property after the works have been completed; alternatively, the open market value may relate to the state of the property before the works had been commenced and the works of adaptation may be valued separately on a depreciated replacement cost basis, subject to adequate potential profitability. Specialised properties occupied by the business shall be valued on a depreciated replacement cost basis, subject to adequate potential profitability. Properties held as investments or which are surplus to requirements and are held pending disposal shall be valued at open market value. Only in exceptional circumstances may the basis of valuation be qualified (including, inter alia, as between a willing seller and a willing purchaser) and in that event the independent valuer shall explain the meaning of the words used. Similarly, assumptions shall not be made in a valuation without the consent of the Panel and, if assumptions are permitted by the Panel, they shall be fully explained. In this connection, attention is drawn to the definitions of "open market value" and "estimated restricted realisation price" in the Manual.~~

~~(e)~~ (e) In the case of land or properties currently being developed or with immediate development potential, in addition to giving the open market

value in the state existing at the date of valuation, the valuation shall include:

- (i) the value after the development has been completed;
- (ii) the value after the development has been completed and let;
- (iii) the estimated total cost, including carrying charges, of completing the development and the anticipated dates of completion and of letting or occupation; and
- (iv) a statement whether all necessary planning and other regulatory consents have been obtained and, if so, the dates thereof and the nature of any conditions attaching to such consents which may affect the value.

~~(d)(f)~~ If a property which is occupied for the purposes of the business of the offeror or (as the case may be) the offeree is valued at open market value for an alternative use, the directors of the company concerned shall estimate the costs of cessation and removal and show them in the document sent to shareholders.

~~(g) Any valuation report shall be published on a website in accordance with Rule 26.3.~~

#### ~~29.329.4~~ POTENTIAL TAX LIABILITY

If a valuation is given in connection with an offer, the document ~~despatched~~ ~~sent~~ to shareholders of the offeree shall include a statement regarding any potential tax liability (including an estimate of its amount) that would arise if the assets were to be sold at the amount of the valuation, accompanied by an appropriate comment as to the likelihood of any such liability crystallising.

#### ~~29.429.5~~ CURRENT VALUATION

~~A valuation shall state the effective date as at which the assets were valued and the professional qualifications and address of the independent valuer.~~  
A valuation which is not current shall be updated unless the independent valuer states that a current valuation would not be materially different.

## ~~29.5 OPINION AND CONSENT LETTERS~~

~~(a) The opinion of value shall be contained in the document containing the asset valuation.~~

~~(b) The document containing the asset valuation shall also state that the valuer has given and not withdrawn his or her consent to the publication of his or her valuation certificate.~~

~~(c) If a valuation of assets is given in any document despatched to shareholders of the offeree, the valuation certificate shall be made available for inspection, as required by Rule 26, together with an associated report or schedule containing details of the aggregate valuation. If the Panel is satisfied that such disclosure may be commercially disadvantageous to the company concerned, it may allow the report or schedule to appear in a summarised form approved by it. In appropriate cases, the Panel may require that all or any of such documents be reproduced in full in a document sent to shareholders.~~

**RULE 30. MAKING OF ANNOUNCEMENTS AND DISTRIBUTION OF DOCUMENTATION**

**30.1 ANNOUNCEMENTS TO BE PUBLISHED VIA A RIS**

(a) Except as otherwise provided by the Rules, every announcement made pursuant to the Rules shall be made to a Regulatory Information Service and the Panel by means of a notification delivered by electronic mail.

(b) Except with the consent of the Panel, the time at which an announcement shall for the purposes of the Rules be made shall be deemed to be the time of publication of such announcement by the Regulatory Information Service concerned.

(c) If the announcement is published at a time when the relevant Regulatory information Service is not open for business, it shall be distributed to not less than two newswire services operating in Ireland and submitted, as required by the Rules, to a Regulatory Information Service for release as soon as that service next reopens.

**30.2 METHOD OF PUBLICATION OF DOCUMENTS, ANNOUNCEMENTS AND INFORMATION**

(a) If a document, an announcement or any information is required to be sent to any person, it will be treated as having been sent for the purposes of the Rules if it is:

(i) sent to the relevant person in hard copy form;

(ii) sent to the relevant person in electronic form; or

(iii) published on a website provided that the relevant person is sent a website notification no later than the date on which it is published on the website.

(b) Acceptance forms, withdrawal forms, proxy cards and other forms connected with an offer must be published in hard copy form only and must not be published in newspapers.

**30.3 RIGHT TO RECEIVE COPIES OF DOCUMENTS, ANNOUNCEMENTS AND INFORMATION IN HARD COPY FORM**

(a) If a document, an announcement or any information is required to be sent to any person and it is:

(i) sent to a person in electronic form; or

(ii) published on a website and the person entitled to receive it is sent a website notification,

that person may request a copy in hard copy form from the party which publishes it. Any such request must be made in accordance with the procedure specified in the document, announcement or information for the making of such requests and must provide an address to which the hard copy document, announcement or other information may be sent.

(b) A person entitled to receive a document, an announcement or any information may request that all future documents, announcements and information sent to that person in relation to an offer should be sent by the party which publishes it in hard copy form.

(c) If an offeror receives a request for copies of future documents, announcements and information sent to a person in connection with the offer to be sent in hard copy form, it must notify the offeree as soon as possible and provide details of the address to which hard copy documents, announcements and information should be sent. If the offeree receives a request for copies of future documents, announcements and information

sent to a person in connection with the offer to be sent in hard copy form (either from the person concerned or from an offeror), it must provide the other parties to the offer with details of such requests at the same time as it provides them with updates to the company's register.

(d) If a request is made under (a) above for a hard copy of a document, an announcement or any information, the party which published it must ensure that it is sent to the relevant person as soon as possible and in any event within two business days of the request being received by that party.

(e) Any document, announcement or information that is sent to a person in electronic form or by means of being published on a website, and any related website notification, must contain a statement that the person to whom it is sent may request a copy of the document, announcement or information (and any information incorporated into it by reference to another source) in hard copy form and may also request that all future documents, announcements and information sent to that person in relation to the offer should be in hard copy form. Attention should be drawn to the fact that a hard copy of the document, announcement or information will not be sent to that person unless so requested and details must be provided of how a hard copy may be obtained (including an address in Ireland and a telephone number to which requests may be submitted).

(f) If a shareholder or other person is entitled to be sent a document, an announcement or any information and has elected in accordance with any applicable legal or regulatory provisions to receive communications from the offeree in hard copy form (and such election has been made in respect of information generally and not only in respect of certain specific types of information), that election must be treated by each party to an offer as also applying to the form in which any document, announcement or information must be sent to that person in relation to the offer (see also Section 4 of Appendix 1). If a request is made under (b) above for copies of future documents, announcements and information to be sent in hard copy form, that request must be treated by each party to an offer as an election made in accordance with applicable legal or regulatory provisions to receive communications from the offeree in hard copy form.

**RULE 30. ~~DESPATCHING AND~~ 30.4 SENDING OR MAKING AVAILABLE THE OFFER DOCUMENT AND THE FIRST RESPONSE CIRCULAR DOCUMENTS OR INFORMATION**

(a) Where the Rules, or the Panel in the exercise of its functions, require the sending, publishing or the making available on a website of documents or information to holders of securities of a relevant company, the requirement shall not be deemed unfulfilled by reason only of the non-receipt by or the non-accessibility to any holder of such material due to:

(i) the registered address of such holder being in a country or territory outside the EEA to which the transmission or delivery of the material is precluded by the laws of a Member State or of such country or territory;

(ii) sent to only one of registered joint holders;

(iii) a bona fide error in the registered address of such holder; or

(iv) failure by postal or other carriers to effect delivery due to circumstances outside the control of the party obliged to send the relevant material;

provided that where the person responsible for sending, publishing or making available the relevant material knows that it has not been or will not be sent, published or made available to 3% or more in number of the addressees or to addressees representing in aggregate 3% or more in value of any class of security the subject of an offer, that person shall consult the Panel, which may specify further action to be taken.

(b) For the purposes of the Rules, the date of sending documents, announcements or information shall be construed to mean the time when the relevant material is passed by the sender into the control of the service provider concerned.

### 30.5 DISTRIBUTION AND AVAILABILITY OF DOCUMENTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS

(a) Every person, being an offeror or the offeree or any person acting in concert with either of them, who during the course of an offer releases to shareholders of the offeree, to a Regulatory Information Service or to the media any offer document, offeree response circular or any other document or announcement of any kind bearing on the offer or contemplated offer (including, without limitation, announcements of annual or interim results of the offeror or offeree) or any advertisement or other material (including any notes to editors) shall, subject to the exception in paragraph (b) below, at the time of release furnish copies of such documents or other material in electronic form to the Panel and to the advisers to all other principals concerned with the offer or any competing offer. Such material shall not be released to the media under an embargo. If such material is released outside normal business hours, the person making the release shall inform such advisers of the release immediately, if necessary by telephone, and shall, if necessary, make special arrangements to ensure that copies of the material are sent directly to them and to the Panel.

(b) An offeror shall send in hard copy form and electronic form a copy of the offer document and any revised offer document to the Panel prior to releasing it pursuant to paragraph (a).

(c) Where any document is sent to the shareholders of a relevant company in connection with any waiver or derogation, which the Panel has granted or been requested to grant, of or from an obligation to make an offer under Rule 9 or Rule 37 for any class of shares in the company, the person by whom or on whose behalf the document is sent shall promptly send an electronic copy to the Panel.

(d) A person who sends a document bearing on an offer to the shareholders of the offeree shall make an immediate announcement to that effect to a Regulatory Information Service, which announcement, in the case of an offer document, a revised offer document, a first response circular or a response circular in relation to a revised offer, shall include the address of the website on which it will be published in accordance with Rule 26.

(e) Where information is incorporated into any of the above documents by reference to another source of information, the party who releases the document shall send a copy of the information so incorporated to the Panel and the advisers referred to in paragraph (a) in electronic form at the same time as it sends a copy of that document to them in accordance with this rule.

### 30.6 WEBSITE NOTIFICATIONS

(a) A website notification must be prepared with the highest standards of care and accuracy in accordance with Rule 19.1 and must contain a directors' responsibility statement in accordance with Rule 19.2.

(b) A website notification must contain a summary of the provisions of Rule 8.

(c) The information in a website notification must be confined to factual and non- controversial information about an offer or a party to an offer and should not include any argument or opinion. A website notification should not include a recommendation to take or not to take any action in relation to, or contain any view on the merits of, an offer except for a factual statement as to whether or not the offer is proceeding with the recommendation of the offeree board.

(d) A party to an offer should not include anything other than acceptance forms, withdrawal forms, proxy cards and other forms connected with an offer in the same envelope as a website notification without the consent of the Panel.

(e) A website notification must include the following information in relation to the document, announcement or information to which it relates:

(i) details of the website on which the document, announcement or information is published;

(ii) a statement setting out the right of persons to whom the document, announcement or information is sent to receive a copy of the document, announcement or information (and any information incorporated into it by reference to another source) in hard copy form and drawing attention to the fact that such persons will not receive a hard copy unless they so request;

(iii) details of how a hard copy may be obtained (including an address in Ireland and a telephone number to which requests for hard copies may be made); and

(iv) a statement that the website notification is not a summary of the document, announcement or other information to which it relates and should not be regarded as a substitute for reading the document, announcement or information in full.

## RULE 31. TIMEFRAME OF THE OFFER

### 31.1 FIRST CLOSING DATE

An offer shall initially be open for acceptance until not earlier than 1.00 p.m. on the 21st day following the date on which the offer document is ~~despatched~~sent.

### 31.2 EXTENSIONS AND FURTHER CLOSING DATES

(a) An announcement by an offeror of an extension of an offer (namely, an extension of the period during which the offer will remain open for acceptance) shall state the next closing date for acceptance or, if the offer is unconditional as to acceptances, either:

- (i) the date beyond which the offer will not be open for acceptance, in accordance with paragraph (b) or (c); or
- (ii) that the offer will remain open for acceptance until further notice.

(b) Where an offer has become unconditional as to acceptances, the date beyond which the offer will not be open for acceptance shall (subject to paragraph (c)) not be earlier than 3.00 p.m. on the 14th day following the latest of:

- (i) the date on which the offer would otherwise have expired;
- (ii) the date on which the offer becomes unconditional as to acceptances; and
- (iii) the date on which the offeror ~~announces~~sends the notice prescribed by paragraph (d) specifying the date beyond which the offer will not be open for acceptance.

(c) Where an offer is stated to be unconditional as to acceptances in the offer document, paragraph (b) shall not apply, but the position shall be set out clearly and prominently in the offer document.

~~(d) Where an offer remains open for acceptance beyond the 70th day following the despatch of the offer document, the offeror shall despatch to offeree shareholders who have not accepted the offer a notice specifying the date beyond which the offer will not be open for acceptance, such date not being less than 14 days after the despatch of such notice.~~

(d) Where:

~~(e) Where (i)~~ an announcement is made under subparagraph (a)(i) ~~or where, ; or~~

(ii) following an announcement under subparagraph (a)(ii), the offeror announces a date beyond which the offer will not be open for acceptance, ~~; or~~

(iii) an offer will remain open for acceptance beyond the 70th day following the sending of the offer document.

the offeror shall ~~despatch~~send promptly ~~to (and, in the case of paragraph (iii), before closing the offer) to offeree~~ shareholders who at that time have not accepted the offer ~~at that time~~ a notice specifying the date beyond which the offer will not be open for acceptance, such date not being less than 14 days after the date of sending of such notice.

### 31.3 ~~OBLIGATORY EXTENSION~~NO OBLIGATION TO EXTEND

An offeror shall not be obliged to extend an offer the acceptance condition of which has not been satisfied by the first or any subsequent closing date for acceptance except where the Panel, being of the opinion that, having regard to the General Principles, it is just and proper so to direct, directs the offeror to extend by a period specified by the Panel such closing date or any closing date previously so extended.

#### 31.4 COMPETITIVE SITUATION

(a) In a competitive situation, an offeror whose offer document has been ~~despatched-sent~~ earlier may, with the consent of the Panel, extend the timetable for its offer so that the 39th day (as defined in Rule 31.9), the last day on which the offer may be revised for the purposes of Rule 32.1-~~2~~, the 53<sup>rd</sup> day (as referred to in Rules 2.6(d) and (e)) and, subject to any relevant extension pursuant to Rule 31.3, the 60th day (as referred to in the definition of “final closing date”) in respect of that offer shall coincide with the corresponding dates of a later offer.

(b) Where:

(i) during the offer period relative to an offer which has been the subject of an announcement pursuant to Rule ~~2-52.7~~, an announcement of a firm intention to propose a competing takeover scheme in respect of the same relevant company is made pursuant to that rule; or

(ii) during the offer period relative to a takeover scheme which has been the subject of an announcement pursuant to Rule ~~2-52.7~~, an announcement of a firm intention to make a competing offer, or to propose a competing takeover scheme, in respect of the same relevant company is made pursuant to that rule,

the board of the relevant company concerned, the offeror and the acquirer or acquirers (as the case may be) shall forthwith consult the Panel which may make such rulings and give such directions in relation to the timetables applicable to the offer and the scheme or schemes (as the case may be) as it considers appropriate, having regard to the General Principles, for the purpose of ensuring that the shareholders of the relevant company shall be afforded an opportunity to consider the respective merits of the offer and the takeover scheme or schemes (as the case may be).

#### 31.5 NO EXTENSION STATEMENTS

(a) Subject to paragraphs (b), (c) and (d), if an offeror includes in a document ~~despatched-sent~~ to shareholders of the offeree a statement in relation to the duration of the offer such as that the offer will not be extended beyond a specified date unless it is unconditional as to acceptances by such date (a “no extension statement”), or if a no extension statement is otherwise made by or on behalf of an offeror or any of its directors, officers or advisers, and not withdrawn immediately if incorrect, the offeror may not subsequently, except with the consent of the Panel, extend its offer beyond the specified date if it has not specifically reserved the right to do so in the no extension statement.

(b) Subject to paragraph (d), if a competitive situation arises after a no extension statement has been made, the offeror may choose not to be bound by such statement and shall be free to extend its offer, provided that:

(i) the offeror makes an announcement to that effect as soon as possible (and in any event within 4 business days after the day of the announcement of the relevant competing offer) and ~~notifies-sends a notice to~~ shareholders of the offeree ~~in-writing~~ at the earliest opportunity; and

(ii) any shareholders of the offeree who accepted the offer on or after the date of the no extension statement are given a right to withdraw their acceptances during the period of 8 days following the date on which the notice is ~~despatched-sent~~ to shareholders and such right is included appropriately and prominently in the notice.

(c) Subject to paragraph (d), the offeror may choose not to be bound by a no extension statement which would otherwise prevent it from making an increased or improved offer which is recommended for acceptance by the offeree board.

(d) An offeror may choose not to be bound by a no extension statement in any given circumstances only if it has with the consent of the Panel, specifically reserved the right to do so in such circumstances at the time at which the statement was made and such circumstances subsequently arise; this shall apply whether or not the offer was recommended for acceptance by the offeree board at the outset. If the offeror makes such a reservation, the first document despatched sent to shareholders of the offeree in which reference is made to the no extension statement shall contain prominent reference to such reservation and precise details of it; and any subsequent reference made by the offeror to the no extension statement shall be accompanied by a reference to the reservation or, at the least, to the relevant sections in the previous document which contained the details of the reservation.

(e) A no extension statement shall not be made subject to a reservation to set the statement aside which depends solely on subjective judgements by the offeror or its directors or is within their control.

~~(e)~~(f) If, after the offeror has made a no extension statement, the offeree makes an announcement of the kind referred to in Rule 31.9 after the 39th day, the offeror may (subject to the foregoing paragraphs and to any applicable consent of the Panel under Rule 31.6(a)(i)) choose not to be bound by its no extension statement and to be free to extend its offer, provided that, if it determines to make such an extension, it makes an announcement to that effect as soon as possible, and in any event within 4 business days after the offeree's announcement, and notifies shareholders of the offeree in writing at the earliest opportunity.

#### 31.6 FINAL CLOSING DATE RULE (SATISFACTION OF ACCEPTANCE CONDITION, TIMING AND ANNOUNCEMENT)

(a) (i) Except with the consent of the Panel, an offer (whether revised or not) shall lapse unless it has become unconditional as to acceptances by 5.00 p.m. on the final closing date.

(ii) Except with the consent of the Panel, for the purposes of the acceptance condition the offeror shall take into account only acceptances or other acquisitions of shares in respect of which all relevant electronic messages and documents (as required by Rules 10.3 and 10.4) have been received by its receiving agent before the last time for acceptance set out in the offeror's relevant document or announcement, which time shall be no later than 1.00 p.m. on the final closing date.

(b) Except with the consent of the Panel, on the final closing date the offeror shall make an announcement by 5.00 p.m. as to whether the offer is unconditional as to acceptances or has lapsed. Such announcement shall include, so far as is practicable, the details required by Rule 17.1 but in any event shall include a statement as to the current position in the count of acceptances.

#### 31.7 TIME FOR SATISFACTION OF ALL OTHER CONDITIONS

(a) Subject to paragraph (b), except with the consent of the Panel an offer shall lapse unless all conditions of the offer are satisfied by the 21st day after the first closing date for acceptance or after the date on which the offer becomes unconditional as to acceptances, whichever is the later.

(b) If an offer under Rule 9 or Rule 37 has become unconditional as to acceptances but remains subject to a condition under Rule 12(a) or any other condition permitted by the Panel under Rule 9.2 or Rule 37(d) which will be satisfied by the issue in the State or any other jurisdiction of any governmental or regulatory authorisation, consent, approval or clearance and if the Panel is of opinion that, having regard to the General Principles, it is just and proper so to direct, the Panel may, on any one or more occasions whilst that condition remains unsatisfied, direct the offeror to extend by a period specified by the Panel the period within which the offer shall become unconditional in all respects or lapse.

#### 31.8 SETTLEMENT OF CONSIDERATION

Except with the consent of the Panel, if an offer becomes unconditional in all respects the consideration relative to an acceptance shall be posted within 14 days after the later of:

- (a) the first closing date for acceptance of the offer;
- (b) the date on which the offer becomes unconditional in all respects; and
- (c) the date of receipt of that acceptance complete in all respects.

#### 31.9 OFFEREE ANNOUNCEMENTS AFTER THE 39TH DAY

The offeree board shall not, except with the consent of the Panel, announce any material new information, including trading results, a profit ~~or forecast~~ (including an ordinary course profit forecast), a dividend forecast, an asset valuation, a quantified financial benefits statement ~~as described in Rule 19.3(b) or~~ a proposal for a dividend payment or for any material acquisition or disposal, during the period commencing on the day after the 39th day (the "39th day") following the date of ~~despatch~~ sending of the offer document and ending with the end of the offer period.

#### 31.10 RETURN OF DOCUMENTS OF TITLE

If an offer lapses, the offeror shall ensure that all documents of title and other documents lodged with forms of acceptance are returned as soon as practicable (and in any event within 14 days after the lapsing of the offer), and the offeror's receiving agent shall immediately give instructions for the release of securities held in escrow.

## RULE 32. REVISION OF AN OFFER

### 32.1 OFFER OPEN FOR 14 DAYS AFTER REVISION

(a) If an offer is revised, the offeror shall ~~despatch-send~~ to the shareholders of the offeree a revised offer document, drawn up in accordance with Rules 24 and 27. The offeror shall keep the offer open for acceptance for a period of at least 14 days following the date on which the revised offer document is ~~despatched-sent~~. Accordingly, an offeror shall not ~~despatch-send~~ a revised offer document during the 14 days ending on the final closing date, nor shall an offeror place itself in a position in which it would be required to revise its offer during that period.

(b) Except with the consent of the Panel, in the case of a securities exchange offer, the offeror, after the date from which it is precluded from revising its offer and before the end of the offer period, shall not announce any material new information, including trading results, a profit ~~or forecast~~ (including an ordinary course profit forecast), a dividend forecast, an asset valuation, a ~~statement as described in Rule 19.3(b)~~ quantified financial benefits statement, or a proposal for a dividend payment or for any material acquisition or disposal, which will or might have the effect of increasing the value of the offer.

(c) In a competitive situation, each offeror shall consult the Panel before the last day on which its offer may be revised in accordance with paragraph (a) above or paragraph (b) of Rule 31.4, and the Panel, if it considers it just and proper to do so, shall prescribe a procedure for the announcement of any final revisions of the relevant offers, following which no party to any of the takeovers shall release or permit the release of any information relating to such revision other than in accordance with the procedure so prescribed by the Panel.

### 32.2 NO INCREASE STATEMENTS

(a) Subject to paragraphs (b), (c), ~~and~~ (d), if an offeror includes in a document ~~despatched-sent~~ to shareholders of the offeree a statement in relation to the value or type of consideration under the offer such as “the offer will not be further increased” or “our offer remains at xp per share and it will not be raised” (a “no increase statement”), or if a no increase statement is made by or on behalf of an offeror or its directors, officers or advisers and not withdrawn immediately if incorrect, the offeror shall not subsequently, except with the consent of the Panel, amend the terms of its offer in any way notwithstanding that the amendment would not result in an increase in the value of the offer (including, inter alia, the introduction of a securities exchange alternative offer with a lower value) if it has not specifically reserved the right to do so in the no increase statement. Except with the consent of the Panel, an offeror which has made a no increase statement shall not place itself in a position in which it would be required to revise its offer.

(b) Subject to paragraph (d), if a competitive situation arises after a no increase statement has been made, the offeror may choose not to be bound by such statement and shall be free to revise its offer, provided that:

(i) the offeror makes an announcement to that effect as soon as possible (and in any event within 4 business days after the day of the announcement of the relevant competing offer) and notifies shareholders of the offeree in writing at the earliest opportunity; and

(ii) any shareholders who accepted the offer on or after the date of the no increase statement are given a right to withdraw their acceptances during the period of 8 days following the date on which the notice is ~~despatched-sent~~ to shareholders and such right is included appropriately and prominently in the notice.

(c) Subject to paragraph (d), the offeror may choose not to be bound by a no increase statement which would otherwise prevent it from making

an increased or improved offer which is recommended for acceptance by the offeree board.

(d) An offeror may choose not to bound by a no increase statement in any given circumstances only if it has with the consent of the Panel, specifically reserved the right to do so in such circumstances at the time at which the statement was made and such circumstances subsequently arise; this shall apply whether or not the offer was recommended for acceptance by the offeree board at the outset. If the offeror makes such a reservation, the first document ~~despatched~~ sent by the offeror to shareholders of the offeree in which reference is made of the no increase statement shall contain prominent reference to such reservation and precise details of it; and any subsequent reference made by the offeror to the no increase statement shall be accompanied by a reference to the reservation or, at the least, to the relevant sections in the previous document which contained the details of the reservation.

(e) A no increase statement shall not be subject to a reservation to set the statement aside which depends solely on subjective judgements by the offeror or its directors or the fulfilment of which is in their control.

~~(e)~~ (f) If, after the offeror has made a no increase statement, the offeree makes an announcement of the kind referred to in Rule 31.9 after the 39th day, the offeror may (subject to the foregoing paragraphs and to any applicable consent of the Panel under Rule 31.6(a)(i)) choose not to be bound by its no increase statement and to be free to revise its offer, provided that, if it determines to make such an increase, it makes an announcement to that effect as soon as possible, and in any event within 4 business days after the offeree's announcement, and notifies shareholders of the offeree in writing at the earliest opportunity.

### 32.3 ENTITLEMENT TO REVISED CONSIDERATION

If an offer is revised, all shareholders who accepted the original offer shall be entitled to the revised consideration.

### 32.4 NEW CONDITIONS FOR INCREASED OR IMPROVED CONSIDERATION OR FOLLOWING SWITCHES

Subject to the prior consent of the Panel, and only to the extent necessary to implement an increase or improvement in the consideration under an offer or takeover scheme, or a switch from an offer to a takeover scheme or from a takeover scheme to an offer, the offeree or acquirer may introduce new conditions of the offer or scheme, as the case may be (including, inter alia, obtaining shareholders' approval or a quotation for new shares).

### 32.5 THE OFFEREE BOARD'S OPINION

(a) The offeree board shall ~~despatch~~ send to the shareholders of the offeree a response circular containing its opinion under Rule ~~25.1(a)(i)~~ 25.2(a)(i) on a revised offer, drawn up in accordance with Rules 25 and 27.

(b) The offeree board shall append to the response circular containing its opinion on a revised offer a separate opinion from the representatives of its employees on the effects of the revised offer on employment, provided such opinion is received in good time before ~~despatch~~ the sending of that response circular. Where any such opinion is received during the course of the offer but not in good time before the sending of the response circular, the offeree shall promptly publish the opinion on a website and announce to a Regulatory Information Service that it has been so published.

### 32.6 INFORMING EMPLOYEES

(a) When any revised offer document is ~~despatched~~ sent to shareholders of the offeree, both the offeror and the offeree shall make that document readily and promptly available to the representatives of their respective employees or, where there are no such representatives, to the employees themselves.

(b) When the offeree board ~~despatches~~ sends to its shareholders a response circular containing its opinion under Rule ~~25.4(a)~~ (25.2(a)(i)) on a revised offer, it shall make that circular readily and promptly available to its employee representatives or, where there are no such representatives, to the employees themselves.

(c) The offeree shall inform its employee representatives or, where there are no such representatives, the employees themselves of their right under Rule 32.5(b) to have a separate opinion on the revised offer appended to any offeree board circular published in relation to the revised offer.

## RULE 33 ALTERNATIVE OFFERS

### 33.1 TIMING AND REVISION

(a) Subject to Rule 33, the provisions of Rule 31 (other than Rules 31.6, 31.7 and 31.9) and Rule 32 shall apply mutatis mutandis to alternative offers, including cash alternative offers.

(b) For the purposes of Rule 33.1, an arrangement under which the consideration for an offer comprises a fixed combination of cash and securities, or of different classes of securities, but under which shareholders of the offeree may elect, subject to the election of other shareholders of the offeree, to vary the proportion in which they are to receive the different forms of consideration under the offer shall not be treated as an alternative offer and the offeror may close the arrangement without notice on any closing date, provided that its entitlement to do so has been stated clearly in the offer document.

(c) Subject to Rule 33.2, if an offer becomes unconditional as to acceptances, all subsisting alternative offers shall remain open for acceptance in accordance with Rule 31.2.

(d) Subject to paragraph (e), if by a closing date an offer has not become unconditional as to acceptances, the offeror may close an alternative offer (except a cash alternative offer provided to satisfy the requirements of Rule 9 or Rule 37) without prior notice. However if, on the first closing date on which an offer is capable of becoming unconditional as to acceptances, the offer does not become unconditional as to acceptances and is extended, the offeror shall, except as permitted by Rule 33.2, keep all alternative offers open for acceptance for 14 days thereafter but may then close them without prior notice.

(e) Subject to Rule 11.1(e), an offeror which provides a cash alternative offer to satisfy the provisions of Rule 11.1(a) shall keep that alternative offer open for acceptance for not less than 14 days after the date on which the document containing the cash alternative offer is ~~despatched~~ sent to shareholders of the offeree.

### 33.2 SHUTTING OFF CASH UNDERWRITTEN ALTERNATIVE OFFERS

(a) Subject to paragraph (b), if the value of a cash underwritten alternative offer provided by a third party in connection with an offer is, at the time of the announcement of that alternative offer, more than half the maximum value of the offer, the offeror shall not be obliged to keep that alternative offer open in accordance with Rule 31.2 or 33.1 if it has given notice in writing to shareholders of the offeree that it reserves the right to close it on a stated date (being not less than 14 days after the date on which the written notice is ~~despatched~~ sent) or to extend it on that stated date. An offeror may not give notice under this paragraph (a) during the period between the time at which a competing offer is announced and the end of the resulting competitive situation.

If an offeror gives notice pursuant to this paragraph (a) and does not close the cash underwritten alternative offer on the stated date but extends it, the offeror shall not have the right to close the alternative offer as described above unless it gives a further notice in writing (which shall comply with the foregoing requirements as to notice) to the shareholders of the offeree.

(b) Paragraph (a) shall not apply to a cash alternative offer provided to satisfy the requirements of Rule 9, Rule 11 or Rule 37.

### 33.3 REINTRODUCTION OF ALTERNATIVE OFFERS

If an offeror has made a firm statement that an alternative offer will not be extended or reintroduced and such alternative offer has ceased to be open for acceptance, the offeror may not reintroduce that or any substantially similar alternative offer. Accordingly, such an offeror shall not take any action which might result in an obligation to make a cash offer or a cash alternative offer under Rule 9, Rule 11 or Rule 37. If the offeror has not

**made such a statement and has closed an alternative offer, the offeror shall not be precluded from reintroducing that alternative offer at a later date.**

#### RULE 34. RIGHT OF WITHDRAWAL

(a) An acceptor of an offer shall be entitled to withdraw his or her acceptance from the date which is 21 days after the first closing date of the initial offer, if the offer has not by such date become unconditional as to acceptances. Such entitlement to withdraw acceptances shall be exercisable until the earlier of (i) the time at which the offer becomes unconditional as to acceptances and (ii) the final time for lodgement of acceptances of the offer which can be taken into account in accordance with Rule 31.6.

(b) If under any rule a shareholder withdraws his or her acceptance, the offeror shall ensure that all documents of title and other documents lodged with the form of acceptance are returned as soon as practicable (and in any event within 14 days after the receipt of the notice of withdrawal), and the offeror's receiving agent shall immediately give instructions for the release of securities held in escrow, or blocked in accordance with the rules of any settlement system.

## RULE 35. RESTRICTIONS FOLLOWING OFFERS

### 35.1 DELAY OF 12 MONTHS

Except with the consent of the Panel or as provided in Rule 9.3 or in this Rule, if an offeror has announced a firm intention to make or has ~~despatched~~ made an offer (not being a partial offer) and that offer has been withdrawn or has lapsed, neither the offeror, nor any other person who acted in concert with the offeror, nor any person who following the expiry of the offer period is acting in concert with the offeror or with any such other person (all such persons being collectively referred to in this rule as the "persons affected"), may, within the 12 months after the date on which such offer is withdrawn or lapses, either:

- (a) announce an offer or possible offer or make an offer in respect of the offeree; or
- (b) acquire any securities of the offeree if any of the persons affected would thereby become obliged under Rule 9 to make an offer in respect of the offeree; or
- (c) acquire any securities of the offeree if the persons affected or any of them hold securities conferring in the aggregate more than 49.95% but not more than 50% of the voting rights in the offeree; or
- (d) acquire any securities of the offeree, or rights over securities of the offeree, if, following that acquisition, the securities of the offeree which the persons affected or any of them would hold and the securities of the offeree over which the persons affected or any of them would hold rights would in aggregate confer 30% or more of the voting rights in the offeree; or
- (e) make any statement that raises or confirms the possibility that an offer might be made in respect of the offeree; or
- (f) take any steps in connection with a possible offer in respect of the offeree where knowledge of the possible offer might be extended beyond a very restricted number of people in the offeror and its immediate legal, financial, tax and accounting advisers; or
- (g) purchase, agree to purchase, or make any statement which raises or confirms the possibility that it is interested in purchasing assets which are significant in relation to the offeree;

provided that:

- (i) the restrictions in Rule 35.1(a) (to the extent only that such restriction would otherwise apply to an announcement made by the offeror in accordance with Rule 12(b)(iii)) and in Rule 35.1(e) and (f) shall not apply in circumstances where the offer has lapsed pursuant to Rule 12(b)(i) and the offeror is continuing to seek clearance from the authority concerned with a view subsequently to making a new offer; and
- (ii) the restrictions in Rule 35.1 shall not apply to an offeror following its making a Rule ~~2.5-2.7~~ announcement pursuant to Rule 12(b)(iv)(1) nor to a person who becomes subject to the restrictions in Rule 2.8(c)(i) pursuant to Rule 12(b)(iii) or (iv).

### 35.2 DELAY OF 6 MONTHS BEFORE ACQUISITIONS ABOVE THE OFFER VALUE

Except with the consent of the Panel, if an offer (in Rule 35.2 referred to as the "original offer") (not being a partial offer) becomes unconditional as to acceptances, neither the offeror nor any person acting in concert with it as respects the original offer, nor any person who following the expiry of the offer period is acting in concert with the offeror or any such person, shall, during the period commencing with the time at which the original offer becomes unconditional as to acceptances and ending, if it subsequently lapses, on the date on which it lapses or, if it becomes unconditional in all respects, on the date which is 6 months after the date on which it becomes

unconditional in all respects, acquire or make an offer to acquire any securities of that company on terms more favourable than those made available to holders of securities of the same class under the original offer. For this purpose, the value of an original offer which is a securities exchange offer shall be calculated as at the day on which such offer becomes unconditional as to acceptances. In addition, neither the offeror nor any person acting in concert with it as respects the original offer, nor any person who following the offer period is acting in concert with the offeror or any such person, shall during the above-mentioned period make any arrangement with any shareholder of the company relating to securities of the company if there would be attached to such arrangement a term favourable to that shareholder which was not available to all shareholders of the company under the original offer. If any of the requirements of Rule 35.2 is not observed, the Panel may, if it is of opinion that, having regard to the General Principles, it is appropriate so to direct, direct the offeror or any person acting in concert with it to pay to the acceptors of the original offer such additional consideration as the Panel may determine to be fair.

**35.3 RESTRICTIONS ON DEALINGS BY A COMPETING OFFEROR WHOSE OFFER HAS LAPSED**

Except with the consent of the Panel, where an offer has been one of two or more competing offers and has lapsed, neither the offeror whose offer has lapsed, nor any person acting in concert with that offeror, may acquire any securities of the offeree on terms more favourable than those made available under the lapsed offer until the other competing offer or, as the case may be, each of the other competing offers has either become unconditional in all respects or has itself lapsed. For that purpose, the value of the lapsed offer shall be calculated as at the day on which it lapsed.

RULE 36. PARTIAL ~~OFFERS~~<sup>10</sup>OFFERS

36.1 PANEL'S CONSENT REQUIRED

Except with the consent of the Panel, a person shall not make a partial offer to acquire voting securities of a relevant company.

36.2 ACQUIRING DURING AND AFTER A PARTIAL OFFER

Except with the consent of the Panel:

(a) in the case of a partial offer neither the offeror nor any person acting in concert with it shall acquire any securities of the offeree during the offer period;

(b) if a partial offer (the "original offer") becomes unconditional as to acceptances, neither the offeror, nor any person who acted in concert with the offeror as respects the original offer, nor any person who following the expiry of the offer period is acting in concert with the offeror or any such person, shall, during the period commencing at the time at which the original offer becomes unconditional as to acceptances and ending, if it subsequently lapses, on the date on which it lapses or, if it becomes unconditional in all respects, on the date which is 12 months after the date on which it becomes unconditional in all respects, either:

(i) ~~announce or make any offer in respect of the offeree, or~~  
~~(ii) (i) acquire any securities of the offeree, other than~~  
~~acquisitions pursuant to valid acceptances of the original offer; or~~

(ii) take any of the actions prohibited in Rules 35.1(a) and (e) to (g).

(c) if a person has announced a firm intention to make or has ~~despatched~~ made a partial offer which, if accepted in full, might result in the offeror and any persons acting in concert with it holding securities conferring in the aggregate not less than 30% of the voting rights in the offeree and that offer has been withdrawn or lapsed, the restrictions in Rule 35.1 shall, during the 12 months after the date of such withdrawal or lapse, apply to the offeror, to any person who acted in concert with the offeror as respects the offer and to any person who following the expiry of the offer period is acting in concert with the offeror or with any such person;

~~(d) if a person (in this paragraph (d) referred to as the "offeror") makes an announcement or statement concerning a relevant company (in this paragraph (d) referred to as the "offeree") which, although not amounting to an announcement of a firm intention to make such an offer, raises or confirms the possibility that the offeror may make a partial offer which, if accepted in full, might result in the offeror and any persons acting in concert with it holding securities conferring in aggregate not less than 30% of the voting rights in the offeree, and the offeror does not, within a period which the Panel deems to be a reasonable period thereafter, announce a firm intention either to make, or not to make, such an offer, the restrictions in Rule 35.1 shall, during the 12 months commencing from the expiry of that reasonable period, apply to the offeror, to any person who was acting in concert with the offeror at the time of the announcement and to any person who is subsequently acting in concert with the offeror or with any such person.~~

36.3 PARTIAL OFFER FOR BETWEEN 30% AND 50%

If a partial offer is made which, if accepted in full, might result in the offeror and any persons acting in concert with it holding securities conferring in the aggregate not less than 30% and not more than 50% of the voting rights in the offeree, the offeror shall state in the offer document the precise number of shares the subject of the offer and the offer shall not become

<sup>10</sup> Rule 36 is applicable to Shared Jurisdiction Companies only to the extent that it relates to partial offers that constitute takeover bids.

unconditional as to acceptances unless acceptances are received in respect of not less than that number of shares.

#### **36.4 PARTIAL OFFER FOR 30% OR MORE REQUIRES MAJORITY APPROVAL**

If a partial offer is made which, if accepted in full, might result in the offeror and any persons acting in concert with it holding securities conferring in the aggregate 30% or more of the voting rights in the offeree, the offer shall be conditional not only on the specified level of acceptances being received but also on the offer being approved by shareholders holding securities conferring in the aggregate more than 50% of the voting rights in the offeree, excluding voting rights conferred by securities held by the offeror and any persons acting in concert with it.

#### **36.5 WARNING ABOUT CONTROL POSITION**

In the case of a partial offer which, if accepted in full, might result in the offeror and any persons acting in concert with it holding securities conferring in the aggregate more than 49.95% of the voting rights in the offeree, the offer document shall contain specific and prominent reference to that possibility and to the fact that, if the offer is accepted in full, the offeror will be free in accordance with the proviso to Rule 9.1 or, as the case may be, may be permitted by the Panel, subject to Rule 36.2, to acquire further securities without incurring any obligation to make an offer under Rule 9.

#### **36.6 SCALING DOWN**

Every partial offer shall be made to all shareholders of the offeree of the relevant class, and the offeror shall make arrangements for those shareholders who wish to do so to accept in full for the relevant percentage of their holdings. Shares tendered by shareholders in excess of such percentage shall be accepted by the offeror in respect of the same proportion of the excess shares tendered by each such shareholder, so as to achieve total acceptances equal to the number of shares for which the offer was made.

#### **36.7 COMPARABLE PARTIAL OFFER**

(a) If an offeror makes a partial offer for shares in a relevant company with more than one class of equity share capital which, if accepted in full, might result in the offeror and any persons acting in concert with it holding securities conferring in the aggregate 30% or more of the voting rights in the offeree, the offeror shall make a comparable partial offer for each class of equity share capital in the offeree, whether or not such class confers voting rights.

(b) If an offeror makes a partial offer for equity share capital of a relevant company which, if accepted in full, might result in the offeror and any persons acting in concert with it holding securities conferring in the aggregate 30% or more of the voting rights in the offeree and the offeree has outstanding securities convertible into, or rights or options to subscribe for, shares of the class which is the subject of the offer, the offeror shall consult the Panel as to the terms of an appropriate offer or proposal to be made by the offeror to the holders of such securities.

#### **36.8 DUAL CONSIDERATION OFFERS FOR 100%**

The Panel may, if it deems it appropriate to do so, treat an offer made for all the equity share capital conferring voting rights in an offeree not already held by an offeror as a partial offer for the purposes of Rule 36 and as one to which Rule 36.4 applies if under the offer a certain consideration is offered for part of each shareholder's holding and a lower consideration is offered for the balance. Such an offer shall not be made without the consent of the Panel.

#### **36.9 ALLOTTED BUT UNISSUED SHARES**

For the purpose of calculating percentages of voting rights under Rule 36, the offeror shall take account of all shares conferring voting rights (or

which, in the case of shares allotted but not yet issued, will upon issue confer voting rights) that are unconditionally allotted or issued, whether pursuant to the exercise of conversion or subscription rights or otherwise, before the offer becomes unconditional as to acceptances. If in any case (including, inter alia, as a result of a rights issue) shares have been allotted in renounceable form (even if provisionally), the offeree shall consult the Panel.

**RULE 37. OFFER REQUIRED FOLLOWING THE REDEMPTION OR  
PURCHASE BY A COMPANY OF ITS OWN  
SECURITIES<sup>46</sup>SECURITIES<sup>11</sup>**

- (a) Except with the consent of the Panel, if:
- (i) any person, or any persons acting in concert, acquire control of a relevant company wholly or partly by reason of the redemption or purchase by that company of any of its own securities; or
  - (ii) any person, or any persons acting in concert, control a relevant company and, by reason of the redemption or purchase by that company of any of its own securities, the percentage of the voting rights in the company conferred by the securities held by that person or any one or more of those persons is increased by more than 0.05% within any period of 12 months,

such person or, in the case of persons acting in concert, such one or more of those persons as the Panel shall direct shall extend offers, in accordance with the requirements of Rules 9.3 and 9.4 (as modified by paragraph (b)), to the holders of each class of equity share capital in the relevant company, whether or not such class confers voting rights, and also to the holders of each other class of transferable voting securities of the company, provided that, where the aggregate of the voting rights in a relevant company held by a single holder of securities (including persons regarded as such for the purposes of Rule 5.1(a)(ii)) amounts to more than 50% of the voting rights in that company, that person shall not incur an obligation under Rule 37 by reason of any increase in that percentage. The person who is, or in the case of persons acting in concert the persons who are or may become, obliged to make an offer under Rule 37 shall consult the Panel in all cases in which offers are to be made for more than one class of share capital of the offeree. Offers for different classes of equity share capital shall be comparable.

- (b) Rules 9.3, 9.4 and 9.6 shall apply to offers made pursuant to paragraph (a), subject to the following modifications:

- (i) references in those Rules to Rule 9, Rule 9.1 and Rule 9.4 shall be deemed to be references to Rule 37;
- (ii) paragraphs (a) and (f) of Rule 9.4 shall be replaced by the following paragraphs:

“(a) Except with the consent of the Panel and subject as otherwise provided by these paragraphs (a) to (f), an offer made under Rule 37 shall in respect of each class of shares the subject of the offer be in cash, or be accompanied by a cash alternative offer, at a price per share which shall not be less than either (i) the highest price per share at which the offeree redeemed or purchased shares in the offeree of that class during the period beginning 12 months prior to the announcement by the offeror of a firm intention to make the offer and ending on the date of the redemption or (as the case may be) purchase by the offeree of its own securities as a result of which the obligation to make the offer arose or (ii) the highest price per share paid by the offeror or any person acting in concert with it for shares in the offeree of that class during the period (in these paragraphs (a) to (f) referred to as the “relevant period”) beginning 12 months prior to the announcement by the offeror of a firm intention to make the offer and ending on the date on which the offer closes for acceptance. Accordingly, if, after the time of the announcement of the offeror’s firm intention to make the offer and before the offer closes for acceptance, the offeror or any person acting in concert with it acquires shares in the offeree of the class the subject of the offer at a price per share higher than the offer price, the offeror shall

---

<sup>11</sup> Rule 37 is not applicable to Shared Jurisdiction Companies

increase the offer price in respect of that class of shares to not less than the highest price per share paid for any of the shares so acquired. Immediately after any such acquisition, the offeror shall announce that a revised offer will be made in accordance with this paragraph (a). Such announcement shall also state the number of shares so acquired and the price per share paid for them and shall include the details prescribed by Rule ~~2.5(2.7)~~**2.7(b)**. After the offer has become unconditional as to acceptances, the cash offer or (as the case may be) the cash alternative offer shall remain open for not less than 14 days after the date on which it would otherwise have expired. The offeror shall consult the Panel if it is making offers for more than one class of shares of the offeree.”

“(f) If in any circumstances the Panel is of opinion that, having regard to the General Principles, it is just and proper so to direct in respect of an offer under Rule 37, then the Panel may, notwithstanding any other provision of this Rule 37, direct that such offer be made at such price as the Panel shall determine to be a fair price.”

and paragraph (g) of Rule 9.4 shall be deleted.

(c) Where the board of a relevant company is aware that a redemption or purchase by the company of its own securities would give rise to an obligation for any person, or any persons acting in concert, to make an offer under Rule 37, then (except where the Panel is satisfied that the redemption or purchase is to be made pursuant to a contract entered into by the company at a time at which its board had no such awareness concerning the redemption or purchase) the company shall not make such redemption or purchase unless:

(i) either the person or persons concerned have confirmed to the company and to the Panel that an offer will be made under Rule 37 or the Panel has granted a waiver of the obligation to make that offer and any conditions to the grant of the waiver have been satisfied; and

(ii) where an offer under Rule 37 is intended to be made, the Panel is satisfied that the resources required to implement the offer are available to the offeror and that the making or implementation of the offer is not dependent upon the passing of a resolution at any meeting of shareholders of the offeror or upon any other condition, consent or arrangement (other than the acceptance condition specified in paragraph (d) and the condition required by Rule 12(a)(i)(1)).

(d) Except with the consent of the Panel, an offer made under Rule 37 shall, subject to Rule 12, be conditional only upon the offeror having received acceptances in respect of shares which, together with securities acquired or agreed to be acquired before or during the offer period, will result in the offeror and any persons acting in concert with it holding in the aggregate securities conferring more than 50% of the voting rights in the offeree.

(e) If an offer under Rule 37 lapses because a purchase of securities of the offeree may not be counted by reason of Rule 10.4 and subsequently the purchase is completed, the offeror shall consult the Panel. In such circumstances the Panel may direct the offeror to make a new offer, to reduce its holding of securities of the offeree or to take such other action as the Panel may consider appropriate.

## RULE 38. DEALINGS BY CONNECTED EXEMPT PRINCIPAL TRADERS

### 38.1 PROHIBITED DEALINGS

An exempt principal trader connected with an offeror or the offeree shall not carry out any dealings with the purpose of assisting the offeror or the offeree (as the case may be) in connection with the offer.

### 38.2 DEALINGS BETWEEN OFFERORS AND CONNECTED EXEMPT PRINCIPAL TRADERS

No offeror or person acting in concert with it shall during the offer period deal as principal with an exempt principal trader connected with the offeror in relevant securities of the offeree.

### 38.3 ASSENTING SECURITIES

An exempt principal trader connected with the offeror shall not assent any securities owned by it to the offer or purchase any securities of the offeree in assented form until the offer has become unconditional as to acceptances.

### 38.4 VOTING

An exempt principal trader connected with an offeror or the offeree shall not, during the offer period or at any earlier time at which it has reason to believe that an offer is likely to be made, exercise the voting rights conferred by any securities of the offeror or offeree owned by it in respect of any resolution which bears on the offer.

### 38.5 DISCLOSURE OF DEALINGS

Dealings in relevant securities during the offer period by an exempt principal trader connected with an offeror or the offeree shall be aggregated and disclosed publicly by the principal trader in accordance with ~~Rules 8.4(a)~~ Rule 8.4(b) and ~~8.5(a)~~, ~~provided that where an offeror has announced that an offer or possible offer is, or is likely to be, wholly in cash, this rule shall not require the disclosure of dealings in relevant securities of the offeror.~~ Rule 8.5(a):

~~(a) Such disclosure shall follow the format of the specimen disclosure form (Form 38.5(a)), as set out in Appendix 3, if the relevant trading desk has recognised intermediary status and is dealing in a client-serving capacity.~~ If, following the format of the specimen disclosure form (Form 38.5(a)), as set out in Appendix 3; and

~~(b) if the relevant trading desk does not have recognised intermediary status, or if it does have that status but it is not dealing in a client-serving capacity, disclosure shall follow~~ following ~~the format of the specimen disclosure form (Form 38.5(b))~~ 38.6, as set out in Appendix 3.

~~provided that where an offeror has announced that an offer or possible offer is, or is likely to be, wholly in cash, this Rule shall not require the disclosure of dealings in relevant securities of the offeror.~~

In the case of a dealing in options or derivatives, full details shall be given so that the nature of the dealing can be fully understood.

### 38.6 OPENING POSITION DISCLOSURE

(a) An exempt principal trader connected with an offeror which does not have recognised intermediary status or which does have recognised intermediary status but which holds any interest or short position in any relevant securities of the offeror or of the offeree in a proprietary capacity must make an opening position disclosure in accordance with Rule 8.4(a) and Rule 8.5(a):

(i) after the announcement that first identifies the offeror with which it is connected as an offeror; and

(ii) \_\_\_\_\_ after the announcement that first identifies a competing securities exchange offeror.

(b) \_\_\_\_\_ An exempt principal trader connected with the offeree which does not have recognised intermediary status or which does have recognised intermediary status but which holds any interest or short position in any relevant securities of the offeror or of the offeree in a proprietary capacity must make an opening position disclosure in accordance with Rule 8.4(a) and Rule 8.5(a):

(i) \_\_\_\_\_ after the commencement of the offer period; and

(ii) \_\_\_\_\_ if later, after the announcement that first identifies any securities exchange offeror.

Where an offeror has announced that an offer or possible offer is, or is likely to be, wholly in cash, this Rule shall not require the disclosure of positions in relevant securities of the offeror.

Disclosures under Rule 38.6 (a) and (b) shall follow the format of the specimen disclosure form (Form 38.5(b)/38.6), as set out in Appendix 3.

**RULE 39. "DUAL-COMPANY" TRANSACTIONS<sup>12</sup>**

Except with the consent of the Panel, a relevant company shall not enter into any agreement or transaction of the kind described in Rule 3.1(d) of Part A nor any agreement or transaction which, but for the fact that it constitutes a takeover, would be an agreement or transaction of the kind described in that Rule. In considering what conditions, if any, to attach to its consent in any such case, the Panel shall have regard to the General Principles.

---

<sup>12</sup> Rule 39 is not applicable to Shared Jurisdiction Companies.

## RULE 40 REVERSE TAKEOVER TRANSACTIONS<sup>13</sup>

### 40.1 NOTIFICATION, CONDITIONS AND OTHER REQUIREMENTS OF THE PANEL

A relevant company (in Rule 40 referred to as the “acquirer”) which proposes to enter into a reverse takeover transaction (in Rule 40 referred to as the “transaction”) shall notify the Panel promptly, following which notification the Panel may:

- (a) (where the transaction constitutes a takeover of the acquirer) if so requested, specify the conditions subject to which the Panel may grant a waiver of the obligation, arising in consequence of the transaction, to make an offer under Rule 9 in respect of the acquirer; and
- (b) specify such other requirements in respect of the transaction as the Panel, having regard to the General Principles and the Rules, may deem appropriate.

### 40.2 CIRCULAR TO SHAREHOLDERS OF THE ACQUIRER

On or before the date ~~of despatch by~~ on which the acquirer ~~sends~~ to its shareholders ~~of~~ notice of a general meeting to approve the transaction or such other date as the Panel may specify, the acquirer shall ~~despatch~~ send a circular to each of its shareholders containing the following information:

- (a) the views of its directors on the effects of implementation of the transaction on the business and future prospects of the acquirer, with the substance and source of the advice given to them by the independent adviser appointed pursuant to Rule 3.2;
- (b) information on shareholdings and dealings as specified in Rule

~~25.3~~25.4 (other than subparagraph (a) (v) of that Rule), on arrangements in relation to dealings as specified in Rule ~~25.5~~ 25.7(a) and on material contracts as specified in Rule ~~25.6~~ 25.7(b), as if references in those Rules to:

- (i) the first response circular were references to the circular required by Rule 40.2 to be ~~despatched~~ sent;
- (ii) the offeree and the offeror were respectively references to the acquirer and the company or other person whose securities, business or assets the acquirer proposes to acquire in the transaction; and
- (iii) the commencement of the offer period were references to:
  - (1) the time at which an announcement or statement concerning the transaction or the discussions leading to the transaction was first made by one of the parties involved; or
  - (2) such other time as the Panel may specify as appropriate in the circumstances of a particular case;

(c) information on the service contracts of its directors, as specified in Rule ~~25.4~~ 25.5, as if the directors or proposed directors of the acquirer were directors or proposed directors of an offeree;

(d) if the board of the acquirer is split in its views on the transaction, the views of those directors who oppose the transaction, unless the Panel consents otherwise; and

---

<sup>13</sup> Rule 40 is not applicable to Shared Jurisdiction Companies.

(e) if a director of the acquirer has a conflict of interest in relation to the transaction, the nature of the conflict and a statement confirming that such director has not been joined with the remainder of the board in the expression of its views on the proposal.

## **RULE 41. TAKEOVERS BY SCHEME OF ARRANGEMENT<sup>14</sup>**

### **41.1 PROCEDURES IN RELATION TO TAKEOVER SCHEMES**

(a) Where, in connection with a takeover scheme of arrangement, the relevant company concerned or any other person initiates or takes any other step in any proceedings in the Court under section ~~201-450~~ of the Companies Act, ~~1963~~**2014**, or otherwise, the company or (as the case may be) such other person shall on each such occasion notify the Panel in writing of that fact and provide the Panel with copies of all documents furnished or to be furnished by that person to the Court.

(b) Unless otherwise agreed by the Panel, such notification of and provision of documents to the Panel as is referred to in paragraph (a) shall be made at the same time as or immediately following the initiation of the relevant proceedings or (as the case may be) the notification of any such other step in such proceedings to the Court or to the offices of the Court but so that in any event copies of the takeover scheme, of the notice of the scheme meeting and of every explanatory statement proposed to be sent to any of its shareholders or creditors by the relevant company concerned in accordance with section ~~202(1)(a)~~**452(1)(a)** of the Companies Act, ~~1963~~**2014**, shall be received by the Panel not later than the tenth business day before the date on which it is proposed that they be considered by the Court and copies of any such other documents as are referred to in paragraph (a) shall be received by the Panel not later than the fourth business day before the date on which it is proposed that they be considered by the Court.

(c) The Panel may seek leave of the Court to appear and be heard by the Court in the course of any such proceedings as are referred to in paragraph (a).

(d) The Panel may make such rulings and give such directions in relation to a takeover scheme as it thinks fit, having regard to the General Principles. Where any such ruling or direction is made or given by the Panel at any time prior to the scheme taking effect, the relevant company or such other person as the Panel may specify shall, if and to the extent so directed by the Panel, notify the Court of the ruling or direction promptly following the making or giving of the ruling or direction or the initiation of the relevant proceedings (whichever is the later). The Panel shall provide the Court with such information as the Court may request concerning any ruling or direction made or given by the Panel.

~~[19 Rule 41 is not applicable to Shared Jurisdiction Companies.]~~

### **41.2 APPLICATION OF THE RULES TO TAKEOVER SCHEMES**

Subject to and in accordance with the provisions of Appendix 4 and unless the context requires otherwise, the Rules (other than Rule 41 and Appendix 4) shall apply mutatis mutandis to takeover schemes of arrangement as they apply to offers constituting takeovers but so that for that purpose in the case of a takeover scheme the acquirer shall be treated as if it were making an offer to the holders of voting securities of the acquiree at the time at which the acquiree summons the scheme meeting, and references in the Rules (other than Rule 41 and Appendix 4) to an "offer" shall be construed accordingly.

### **41.3 SWITCHING**

(a) (i) An offeror that is proposing to switch from an offer to a takeover scheme may not for that purpose withdraw its offer without the consent of the Panel.

(ii) An acquirer that is proposing to switch from a takeover scheme to an offer may not for that purpose announce an offer without the consent of the Panel.

---

<sup>14</sup> [Rule 41 is not applicable to Shared Jurisdiction Companies](#)

(b) An offeror or acquirer shall not be prevented from making such a switch by reason only of its not having reserved the right to change the structure of its offer or scheme (as the case may be).

(c) The Panel will determine the offer or scheme timetable that will apply following any switch in relation to which it has consented in accordance with paragraph (a).

(d) The offeror or acquirer shall announce a switch in accordance with Rule ~~2.930.1~~. The announcement shall include:

(i) details of all changes to the terms and conditions of the offer or scheme as a result of the switch;

(ii) details of any material changes to the other details originally announced pursuant to Rule ~~2.5(b2.7(b))~~;

(iii) an explanation of the scheme or offer timetable applicable following the switch (as determined by the Panel); and

(iv) an explanation of whether or not any irrevocable commitments or letters of intent procured by the offeror or acquirer or persons acting in concert with it will remain valid following the switch.

#### 41.4 INTERPRETATION

In Rule 41 and in Appendix 4:

(a) references to “acquiree” and “acquirer” shall be construed in accordance with paragraphs (1) and (2) respectively of Section 2 in Appendix 4;

(b) the “Application” means the application of the Rules (other than Rule 41 and Appendix 4) to takeover schemes, as prescribed by Rule 41.2;

(c) “court sanction hearing” means the hearing of the Court at which a petition to sanction a takeover scheme is presented;

(d) “related general meeting” means, in relation to a takeover scheme, a general meeting of the acquiree convened to consider a resolution to approve or to give effect to, or which is otherwise connected with, the scheme;

(e) “partial takeover scheme” means a takeover scheme of arrangement under which, if it takes effect, the acquirer and any other persons acting in concert with the acquirer will hold securities conferring in aggregate less than 100% of the voting rights in the acquiree;

(f) “scheme circular” means, in relation to a takeover scheme, the notice of the scheme meeting and the explanatory statement sent or to be sent by the acquiree to the shareholders or class of shareholders of the acquiree in accordance with section ~~202(1)(a)452(1)(a)~~ of the Companies Act, ~~19632014~~, together with any accompanying material directed or permitted by the Court to be sent to such shareholders;

(g) “scheme meeting” means, in relation to a takeover scheme, the meeting of the shareholders or class of shareholders of the acquiree ~~convened or~~ summoned or to be ~~convened or~~ summoned under section ~~201 450~~ of the Companies Act, ~~19632014~~, to vote in respect of the scheme; and where, in relation to a takeover scheme, more than one such meeting is ~~convened or~~ summoned or is to be ~~convened or~~ summoned, “scheme meeting” shall, where appropriate, be construed to refer to each such meeting;

(h) “scheme resolution” means, in relation to a takeover scheme, the resolution to approve the scheme, proposed or to be proposed at the scheme meeting;

(i) a takeover scheme shall be deemed to take effect at the time at which a copy of the order of the Court sanctioning the scheme is delivered to the registrar of companies for registration in accordance with section ~~204(5454(1))~~ of the Companies Act, ~~1963~~2014, or, if the scheme or that order specifies a later time at which the scheme shall take effect, at that later time; and

(j) references to a takeover scheme shall include references to that scheme in any amended form.